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Contents  Chairman’s Letter

The past 50 years’ warmest weather allowed consumers  
to enjoy electricity prices which were lower than ever. The 
average electricity price in the Estonian price area of the 
Nord Pool power exchange plunged to 31.1 €/MWh, 17% 
down from the average for 2014. At the same time, elect-
ricity sales accounted for roughly a half, i.e. 46%, of Eesti 
Energia’s turnover. 

The curve of the global oil price also moved at a low level; at 
the end of December, the oil price was EUR 35 per barrel. 
The average oil price for the year was EUR 46.9 per barrel, 
37% weaker than a year earlier. Hence, energy producers 
were truly tested by last year’s market conditions. 

To meet the challenges of a competitive market, we have to 
be able to adapt and respond swiftly. In 2015, we worked 
hard to achieve higher operating efficiency and cost savings.  

Eesti Energia ended the year 2015 with sales revenues 
of EUR 777 million, a 12% decline compared with the 
prior year. EBITDA decreased by 15%, amounting to EUR  
266 million. Despite difficult market conditions and the 
impairment of assets at the year-end, we earned a net 
profit of EUR 40 million. We paid the owner a dividend of 
EUR 62 million. Our results reflect that in spite of a difficult 
market situation we did well.

Electricity sales volume decreased by 21% compared with 
2014. This is attributable to the historically low market 
price on the Nord Pool power exchange. In addition, prices 
on the power exchange were highly volatile, sometimes 
oscillating more than ten-fold during a day. Thanks to the 
smart work of Eesti Energia’s engineers, we have been 
able to adjust the plants designed for stable operation so 
that in those hours where the market price is higher we 

Dear reader!
Hando Sutter
Chairman of the Management Board
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can maximise production and in hours where the market 
price is low we can reduce the load of the power plants 
as much as possible – this helps us remain competitive. 
Eesti Energia is still the market leader and has the largest 
market share in the Estonian electricity retail market, which 
was opened up to competition three years ago. 

Last year’s favourable wind conditions and smooth ope-
ration of wind turbines allowed us to generate a record 
amount, 223 GWh, of wind energy. The amount of waste 
converted into energy at our Iru waste-to-energy unit was 
also record-large: 245,000 tonnes. Altogether, in 2015 
Eesti Energia generated 7.7 TWh of electricity.  

In shale oil production and sale, we achieved favorable 
results despite the market slump. The Group’s shale oil 
output was record-high: 336,500 tonnes, 27% larger than 
the year before. A strong contributor to output growth was 
the Enefit280 oil plant, which produced 137,100 tonnes 
of shale oil. At the end of last year, the plant was operating 
close to its designed capacity; some work still needs to be 
done to improve its operational reliability. 

Last year, Eesti Energia invested EUR 246 million, 11% less 
than the year before. The largest-ever industrial invest-
ment in Estonia – the Auvere power plant – is substantially 
complete. The plant has been generating electricity, on 
and off, since May 2015, when it was first connected to 
the grid. Investments made in the project to date total 
EUR 566 million.

During the year, Elektrilevi, the Group’s distribution network 
operation subsidiary, invested EUR 93 million in the reliabi-
lity and quality of the electricity distribution network. Most 

of this was spent on the construction of new substations 
and power lines and transition to the remote reading sys-
tem. The latter project has been progressing well – by the 
end of 2015 around half a million smart meters had been 
installed. The new hourly power meters enable consumers 
to make more informed consumption decisions and the 
network operator to better target its investments. We have 
also created a mobile application for the customers of 
Eesti Energia that allows them to monitor and analyse 
their power consumption and pay their bills. All customers 
will be supplied with a smart meter by the end of 2016 
at the latest.

From 2016, environmental requirements for large com-
bustion plants operating in the European Union are much 
more stringent. Over the years, Eesti Energia has put a lot of 
effort into meeting these requirements and implementing 
cleaner energy production solutions. Since 2010, Narva 
power plants have invested EUR 134 million to comply with 
the emission standards. The latest major environmental 
project involved equipping their generating units with NOx 
capture (DeNOx) systems. In 2015, our investments in 
the project totalled EUR 10 million. The cost of the whole 
project, which will be completed at the beginning of 2016, 
is EUR 22 million.  

At the beginning of 2015, we started preparations for imp-
lementing a more efficient technology, longwall mining, at 
our Estonia mine. During the year, we installed the required 
fixtures and fittings and acquired machinery and equipment. 
The first quantities of oil shale using the new technology 
were extracted in the beginning of 2016. The longwall 
technology is more efficient than the conventional room-
and-pillar technology and, thus, helps keep the product 

  Chairman’s Letter
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cost of oil shale more competitive. The total cost of the 
project is EUR 21 million and by the end of 2015 EUR  
17 million of this had been invested. 

In 2015, a major investment cycle was substantially comp-
leted. In the near term, Eesti Energia will focus, first and 
foremost, on investments that deliver rapid returns, increase 
operating efficiency, and improve the competitiveness 
of our existing production assets. The first steps in that 
direction have already been taken. In 2015, we announced 
a tender in order to increase utilisation of oil shale gas in 
generating unit 8 of the Eesti power plant. In addition, we 
have started the procurement of equipment design ser-
vices for a project aimed at extracting gasoline from oil 
shale gas, which would increase our fuel production and 
add greater value to oil shale.    

In 2015, we carried out a refinancing of Eesti Energia’s 
bonds. In the framework of the transaction, we repurcha-
sed bonds with a total nominal value of EUR 442 million 
and issued new bonds with a longer maturity of EUR 500 
million. The transaction extended the average maturity of 
the company’s borrowings and lowered its refinancing risk. 

We have assessed the value of the Group’s assets and 
financial investments as the International Financial Repor-
ting Standard and duty of care of the management board 
requires. Therefore we have adjusted Eesti Energia’s 
financial results. We believe that our assets are recognized 
at fair value as at the end of last year.

We have been turning oil shale into energy for 100 years 
already and in 2016 we are going to celebrate this impor-
tant milestone with an international oil shale conference. 
The fact that our know-how is recognised also outside 
Estonia is reflected in the headway made with the financing 
activities of our electricity project in Jordan. The Jordan 
venture is the first export of Estonia’s and Eesti Energia’s 
oil shale expertise. 

We are facing 2016 in a situation where market conditions 
cannot be expected to improve quickly. We have to cope 
in the current circumstances. We are going to continue to 
prioritise efficiency and identification of new opportunities 
for growth. Eesti Energia has an action plan assuring sustai-
nable operation in volatile market conditions by preserving 
our ceneration capacities in a way that allows fast reaction 
and maximising our energy production at any moment 
when the markets support this.

Hando Sutter
CEO and Chairman of the Management Board  
of Eesti Energia

  Chairman’s Letter
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Eesti Energia at a Glance

NET PROFIT
million euros

INVESTMENTS

-11.0%

-30.2

million euros

245.6

CREDIT RATINGS

BBB/
Baa2

ELECTRICITY SALES VOLUME

-21.1%

-1.9
7.2

TWh
DISTRIBUTION SALES VOLUME

+0.7%

+0.04

TWh

6.3

SHALE OIL SALES VOLUME

+36.6%

+84.4

thousand t

315.0

SALES REVENUES

-11.7%

-103.2

million euros

776.7

EBITDA
million euros

Eesti Energia is an international energy 
company that operates in the unified  
electricity market of the Baltic and  
Nordic countries. Its sole shareholder  
is the Republic of Estonia.

Eesti Energia offers energy solutions ranging from elect-
ricity, heat and fuel production to sales, customer service 
and ancillary energy services. Eesti Energia sells electricity 
to the Baltic retail customers and the wholesale market and 
Group entity Elektrilevi distributes electricity to customers 
in Estonia. Outside Estonia, the Group operates under the 
Enefit brand.  

With its approximately 6,300 employees, Eesti Energia is 
one of the largest employers in Estonia.

  Eesti Energia at a Glance

(rating under review  
for downgrade)

-14.9%

-46.5
265.8

-74.6%

-118.8
40.5
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 November

The Paide cogeneration plant began opera-
ting in normal mode. The plant now generates 
electricity and heat in a stable mode. The Paide 
Pogi combined heat and power plant, in which 
Eesti Energia is a majority shareholder, has 
been supplying the residents and companies 
of the city of Paide with heat since 2013 and 
with electricity since the beginning of 2015.

 January

Ees t i  Energ ia  began 
supplying gas from the 
Klaipeda LNG terminal 
in Lithuania. Eesti Energia 
signed a contract with UAB 
LitGas under which 5.8 mil-
lion cubic metres of gas was 
supplied, which the Group 
used for resale to its Esto-
nian gas customers. 

 February

Eesti Energia’s subsidiary 
that operates the Narva 
power plants gained sole 
ownership of the Narva 
district heating network. 
Narva city government sold 
the city’s 34% stake in the 
heating network operator  
AS Narva Soojusvõrk to Eesti 
Energia Narva Elektrijaamad 
AS, the Group entity that 
operates the Narva power 
plants. Narva Soojusvõrk 
operates a roughly 75-km 
district heating network, 
which is among the longest 
in Estonia. Thanks to the 
proximity of the Balti power 
plant, heating prices in Narva 
are considerably lower than 
in other parts of the country. 

 March

Staff who used to work in different 
locations was moved together and 
started working in a new office 
building. 500 people from Eesti 
Energia’s Tallinn offices who used 
to work in different locations moved 
to a single office building at Lelle 
22. The relocation will create cost 
savings of EUR 2.6 million during a 
10-year lease term. 

Eesti Energia became a member of 
the Lithuanian natural gas exchange 
GET Baltic. As a member of the gas 
exchange, Eesti Energia can both buy 
and sell natural gas. The first Bal-
tic gas exchange GET Baltic, which 
began operating in 2013, has almost 
50 traders and is used for trading 
around 10 million cubic metres of 
gas per month on average. 

 May

Ees t i  Ene rg ia ’ s 
Auvere power plant 
generated power for 
the first time. The 
Auvere power plant 
was connected to the 
grid on 2 May and 
made its first power 
delivery.  

 June

Eesti Energia’s credit rating was lowered. Rating agency Stan-
dard & Poor’s (S&P) downgraded the Group’s credit rating from 
BBB+ to BBB, mainly in response to a downtrend in the market 
prices of electricity and liquid fuels.

Eesti Energia decided to close generating units 9 and 10 at 
its Balti power plant. The units built in 1967 were the oldest in 
use. Due to general obsolescence their renovation would have 
been impractical.

Eesti Energia’s subsidiary Eesti Energia Tehnoloogiatööstus AS 
won a tender for building raw material feeding equipment for 
a Finnish bioproduct mill. Cooperating with Andritz Pulp&Paper 
OY, subsidiary Eesti Energia Tehnoloogiatööstus AS, which is 
engaged in the development and supply of technological solutions, 
will design, build and install raw material feeding equipment for 
the Metsä Fibre OY Äänekoski bioproduct mill in Finland. With a 
total cost of EUR 1.2 billion, the mill, which should be completed 
in 2017, is the largest forestry industry investment in Finland. 

 July

Eesti Energia renewed revolving credit 
facilities in the amount of EUR 150 million.  
The Group signed two new bilateral liquidity 
loan agreements with banks Pohjola and SEB 
for a total amount of EUR 150 million. The 
new liquidity loan agreements that have a 
term of five years and mature in July 2020 
were arranged to replace previous liquidity 
loan agreements.

 August

Rating agency Moody’s left Eesti Energia’s 
credit rating unchanged. Moody’s credit rating 
for Eesti Energia remained at Baa2.

 September

Eesti Energia refinanced its bonds. The Group 
repurchased bonds with a total nominal value of 
EUR 441.7 million for a total repurchase price 
of EUR 506 million and issued new longer- 
maturity bonds of EUR 500 million redeemable 
in September 2023. It was the largest bond 
transaction in Eesti Energia’s history. 

Key Events of 2015

  Eesti Energia at a Glance
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  2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Total electricity sales, of which GWh 10,707 10,022 11,368 9,137 7,211

wholesale sales GWh 3,869 2,490 4,271 3,125 1,336

retail sales GWh 6,838 7,532 7,097 6,012 5,875

Electricity distributed GWh 6,170 6,365 6,280 6,294 6,337

Shale oil sales thousand t 164 189 208 231 315

Oil shale sales thousand t 2,120 1,423 889 837 0

Heat sales GWh 1,074 919 1,021 1,063 1,018

Distribution grid losses % 5.8 5.7 5.2 5.5 4.8

Average number of employees No. 7,585 7,573 7,314 6,792 6,289

Sales revenues m€ 831.9 822.1 966.4 880.0 776.7

EBITDA m€ 265.1 278.4 310.5 312.3 265.8

Operating profit m€ 168.0 100.1 175.5 186.1 57.2

Net profit m€ 149.2 76.9 159.5 159.3 40.5

Investments m€ 507.8 513.5 418.9 275.9 245.6

Cash flow from operating activities m€ 161.8 185.2 244.6 228.2 307.7

FFO m€ 200.9 220.6 263.4 203.2 239.6

Non-current assets m€ 1,769.5 2,101.9 2,368.3 2,509.7 2,552.5

Equity m€ 1,236.6 1,409.1 1,547.7 1,619.4 1,571.9

Net debt m€ 380.2 581.0 744.3 834.7 792.0

Net debt / EBITDA times 1.4 2.1 2.4 2.7 3.0

FFO / net debt times 0.53 0.38 0.35 0.24 0.30

FFO / interest cover times 10.5 7.2 7.9 5.5 6.4

EBITDA / interest cover times 13.8 9.1 9.3 8.5 7.1

Leverage % 23.5 29.2 32.5 34.0 33.5

ROIC % 12.6 5.6 8.6 8.1 2.4

EBITDA margin % 31.9 33.9 32.1 35.5 34.2

Operating profit margin % 20.2 12.2 18.2 21.1 7.4

Definitions of ratios and terms are explained in the Glossary section of the report, page 131

Key Figures and Ratios

Ee
st

i E
n
e
rg

ia
 A

n
n
u
al

 R
e
p
o

rt
  

2
0

1
5



9

Ee
st

i E
n
e
rg

ia
 A

n
n
u
al

 R
e
p
o

rt
  
2

0
1

5

Contents

Operating Environment 

In 2015, energy prices continued to slide relative to pre-
vious years. Due to globalization, the Estonian energy 
markets are affected by the same factors that influence 
energy markets across the world. Oil prices remain low 
because the markets are oversupplied. The prices on the 
Nord Pool power exchange declined compared with 2014, 
mainly in connection with strong hydropower output in 
the Nordic countries but also due to above average air 
temperatures.

In 2015, global growth was similar to the two preceding 
years. According to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), 
in 2015 the world economy grew by 3.1%, advanced eco-
nomies by 1.9% and emerging market and developing 
economies by 4.0%.

Liquid Fuels Prices
In 2015, the average Brent crude oil price was 46.9 €/bbl, 
which is 37.0% (-27.6 €/bbl) below the level of 2014.  
In January 2015, the average Brent crude price was  
40.9 €/bbl. In February, it rose above 50.0 €/bbl and remai-
ned there until July but in August it tumbled again and by 
December the average Brent crude price was at 35.0 €/bbl.

Liquid Fuels Prices 

AVERAGE PRICE  2015 2014 CHANGE

Brent crude oil €/bbl 46.9 74.5  -37.0%

Fuel oil (1% sulphur content) €/t 235.5 414.5  -43.2%

Fuel oil 1% crack spread €/bbl -11.3 -9.3  +21.9%

Euro exchange rate EUR/USD 1.1103 1.3286  -16.4%

During the year, the prices of Brent crude were influenced 
by record-high output in an environment of low demand. 
Geopolitical tensions in the Middle East and cutbacks in the 
number of rigs drilling for oil in the US did not curb global 
output. Moreover, Iran increased oil production weakening 
demand. In addition, concerns about economic slowdown 
in China, one of the world’s largest consumers, emerged 
impacting oil prices in 2015.

OPEC to begun new production cuts negotiations with its 
members in August, but in December it was decided not 
to cut production volumes.  

In 2015, the average US dollar/euro exchange rate was 
1.11 US dollars to the euro. Compared with 2014, the 
euro weakened by 16%.

  Operating Environment 
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During the year, the average price of fuel oil (1% sulphur 
content) fell by 43.2% (-178.9 €/t). Similarly to the oil price, 
it hit its recent years’ lowest level in Q4 when it dropped to 
145.5 €/t in December. The crack spread which measures 
the difference between the prices of Brent crude oil and the 
fuel oil extracted from it was 2.0 €/bbl wider than in 2014. 

In Europe, demand for fuel oil was strongly affected by 
the EU Sulphur Directive that lowered the sulphur limit 
for marine fuels from 1% to 0.1% in SOx emission cont-
rol areas which include the Baltic Sea and the North Sea 
from 1 January. In consequence, demand for fuel oil with 
1% sulphur content (used as a blending component for 
bunker fuels) in the Baltic and North Sea areas declined. 
In addition to smaller local demand, fuel oil exports to 
Asia decreased year over year, causing growth in fuel oil 
inventories.

Emission Allowance Prices
The average price of CO2 emission allowance futures matu-
ring in December 2015 was 24.7% higher than in 2014. 
During the year, the average price rose from 7.1 €/t in 
January to 8.4 €/t in December.

CO2 Emission Allowance Prices

AVERAGE PRICE (€/t) 2015    2014 CHANGE

CO2 December 2015 7.7 6.2 +24.7%

CO2 December 2016 7.8 6.4 +22.3%

To counter oversupply, which has been a distinctive feature 
of the carbon allowance market since 2011, the European 
Commission decided to create a market stability reserve 
for increasing and reducing the supply of allowances in 
order to maintain market balance and prevent long-term 
price declines as from 2021.

  Operating Environment 
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From the beginning of 2015, markets began receiving 
signals that the deadline for creating the reserve would 
be brought forward, which sustained a consistently upward 
trend in allowance prices. In July, the European Parliament 
approved the plan for reforming the emissions trading 
market already in 2019. In August, carbon allowance 
prices were further boosted by the Australian government’s 
announcement of its decision to cut CO2 emissions by 
26–28% by 2030. In October, the price of CO2 emission 
allowances surged to a three-year high of 8.7 €/t due 
strong demand that emerged in an auction arranged by 
the German government.  

Electricity Prices
In 2015, the average Nord Pool system price fell by 29.1% 
(-8.6 €/MWh). Electricity prices dropped in both the Nordic 
and the Baltic regions.

Electricity Prices on NPS Electricity Exchange

AVERAGE PRICE (€/MWh) 2015 2014 CHANGE

System price 21.0 29.6  -29.1%

Finland 29.7 36.0  -17.6%

Estonia 31.1 37.6  -17.3%

Latvia 41.8 50.1  -16.5%

Lithuania 41.9 50.1  -16.3%

The decline in the system price resulted from warmer than 
usual air temperature, which reduced electricity consump-
tion, strong wind energy output and the abundance of cheap 
Nordic hydropower. Until the end of July, the level of hydro 
resources remained mostly below the historical median 
because relatively low air temperature delayed snowmelt 
in the Swedish and Norwegian mountains. However, from 
August the output of hydropower grew significantly and 
the level of water reservoirs reached a 20-year peak. In 
2015, the average level of the Nordic hydro resources was 
higher than in 2014 (+1.9 percentage points).

  Operating Environment 
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Nordic and Estonian electricity prices were volatile throug-
hout 2015. In the first half-year, prices declined due to 
warmer air temperature, favourable wind conditions and 
good conditions for the generation of hydropower. From 
Q3 2015, electricity prices in the Nordic countries and 
Estonia began rising because of lower than usual air tem-
perature and a contraction in the supply of hydropower. 
In November, the prices turned downwards mostly due to 
end of maintenance works in Finland-Sweden transmission 
cable, improving access to nuclear- and hydroelectricity 
produced in Sweden and Norway.

In 2015, the Finnish electricity price exceeded the Swe-
dish one by 7.8 €/MWh (2014: 4.4 €/MWh) on average. 
Transmission capacity continued to be insufficient and 
the bottleneck between the countries became more pro-
nounced. As usual, in Q3 Finland’s electricity production fell 
short of its domestic consumption. The deficit was increased 
by the maintenance performed on the transmission cable 
between Sweden and Finland in July and the generating 
units of the Loviisa nuclear power plant in August. In Octo-
ber, the transmission cable between Sweden and Finland 
underwent scheduled maintenance, which reduced Finland’s 
and the Baltic countries’ access to Swedish and Norwegian 
nuclear and hydropower by 1,130 MW. At the same time, 
seasonally lower air temperature increased demand for 
electricity and hourly prices in Finland, Estonia, Latvia and 
Lithuania peaked for the year: in Estonia and Finland for a 
total of 5 hours at around 150 €/MWh and in Latvia and 
Lithuania for 23 hours at above 200 €/MWh.

In 2015, the average Estonian electricity price exceeded 
the Finnish one by 1.4 €/MWh, which is 0.2 €/MWh less 
than in 2014. In Q1, the average electricity price in Esto-
nia was 0.4 €/MWh higher than in Finland. In Q2, when 

Estonia’s access to cheaper Nordic electricity was limited 
due to the prolonged failure of underwater power cable 
Estlink2 which occurred in May, the average electricity 
price in Estonia was 4.2 €/MWh higher than in Finland. 
In Q2, Estonia’s demand for electricity transmitted from 
Finland was also increased by a decline in the output of 
local power plants. Altough the average electricity price in 
Estonia was 0.2 €/MWh higher than in Finland in Q3, the 
average price difference grew to the level of 0.9 €/MWh in 
Q4 mainly due to Estlink2 transmission cable maintenance 
in the beginning of November.  

In 2015, the average price gap between the Estonian and 
Latvian price areas was 10.8 €/MWh, 1.8 €/MWh narrower 
than in 2014. In Latvia the average electricity price was 
higher than in Estonia. In Q1, the price difference between 
the two areas was relatively small (4.6 €/MWh) because 
early spring flooding allowed the Latvian hydropower 
plants to increase production, which brought the electricity 
price down. However, from Q2 until October the average  

  Operating Environment 
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electricity price in the Latvian and Lithuanian price areas 
grew higher. In October, low air temperature pushed the 
average electricity price in both Latvia and Lithuania to 56.5 
€/MWh, the highest level of the year. In Latvia and Lithu-
ania, electricity prices are higher than in Estonia because 
domestic power production covers a part of consumption 
and access to cheap Scandinavian nuclear and hydropower 
is limited. Transmission capacities should improve in 2016 
when transmission cables NordBalt (capacity 700 MW) and 
LitPol Link (capacity 500 MW), which will connect Lithua-
nia with the Swedish and Polish markets respectively, are 
expected to be opened. 

In 2015, Eesti Energia’s Clean Dark Spread (CDS) in the 
average NPS Estonia electricity price was 1.9 €/MWh  
(-8.5 €/MWh, -82.1% year over year)1. NPS Estonia elect-
ricity price declined 6.5 €/MWh year on year, increased 
cost of CO2 and oil shale cost component impacted CDS by 
 -2.0 €/MWh. 

The Estonian and Latvian retail electricity markets have 
been fully open since the beginning of 2013 and 2015 
respectively and free market prices apply. In 2015, the 
Lithuanian electricity market was partly open to competition. 
All companies in Lithuania purchased electricity from the 
open market but household consumers were not obliged 
to do so. According to estimates, in 2015 around 71% of 
the Lithuanian electricity market (in terms of consumption 
volume) was open to competition.

1 Compared to 2014 annual report, CDS methodology has been adjusted to include all operating expenses (excl. change in inventories) of Eesti Energia mining subsidiary.
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Eesti Energia’s strategy was approved by the Supervisory 
Board in December 2013. In spring 2015, strategic action 
plans were reviewed due to significant changes in market 
conditions. According to updated action plans, the Group 
targets higher operating efficiency but also undertakes 
development projects that will contribute to operating 
income within the next five years.

Eesti Energia’s operation is based on effective value adding 
to energy resources which is mainly to be achieved through 
efficient cogeneration of oil and electricity, as well as 
value creation from renewable energy resources, sales 
of energy and services, and provision of the distribution 
service. 

To achieve higher cost efficiency, the Group is seeking to 
halt the rise in the product cost of oil shale by adjusting 
the mines’ extraction volumes to the Group’s competitive 
electricity generation. Mining efficiency has been improved 
by the implementation of dual dragline systems and in 
2016 larger loaders and longwall mining will be implemen-
ted. In connection with changes made to improve mining 
operating efficiency and flexibility, number of miners was 
reduced by around 200 in 2015.

In 2015, the Group’s oil production grew to 336.5 thousand 
tonnes. To sustain gradual output growth, the Group is plan-
ning to reduce down time and increase load of Enefit280 
oil plant. Focus areas include development projects that 

increase oil output such as purification of heavy fuel oil 
and gasoline extraction from oil shale gas. The decision on 
whether the Group will invest in gasoline extraction from 
oil shale gas is expected to be made at the beginning of 
2017. In the event of a positive decision, the equipment 
should start operating in 2018. The first heavy fuel oil 
purification tests will be conducted in 2016. The Group is 
seeking and testing different more competitive fuel mixes 
for producing electricity and oil. In August 2015, a procu-
rement tender was announced for increasing the share of 
oil shale gas in generating unit 8 of the Eesti power plant 
to 50%. The upgrade will allow utilising the gas produced 
by the oil plants more efficiently, reducing emissions to 
the environment and operating the power plants more 
flexibly. Work should be completed by the end of 2018. 

In response to the volatility of prices on the power exchange, 
the Group will continue planning the load of the Narva power 
plants according to the market price of electricity. In the field 
of renewable energy the Group is carrying out a pre-deve-
lopment considering building a wind park in Pärnu County, 
Estonia, investment will be decided in 2017 the earliest.

In 2015, electricity and oil derivatives transactions yielded 
a gain of EUR 72.0 million. In a couple of years previously 
secured higher-price hedges will mature and this will 
impact the Group’s results if electricity prices remain low 
subsequently. 

In the retail sale of electricity, the focus of 2015 was on 
improving business process efficiency. As customers and 
purchasing decisions are increasingly shifting into the 
e-channels, enhancing online and mobile solutions has 
become a priority. In 2015, customer service was adjusted 
so that office-based services are available to the customers 

Strategy

  Strategy
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of only Elektrilevi (the subsidiary that operates the distribution 
network) in major centres of the country.  

For higher cost efficiency, the Group continued streamlining 
its Support Services: different procurement functions were 
integrated into a single Procurement Service, the real estate 
and secretarial functions were merged into the Administ-
rative Service and the Group’s human resource staff was 
brought together into a single HR Service. 

Although by 2015 a period of major environmental 
investments had ended, work aimed at improving the 
efficiency and reducing the environmental impacts of oil 
shale processing continued. The Group is working hard to 
increase the utilisation of energy production by-products 
and has launched numerous research and development 
projects to find ways for expanding the use of waste rock 
and oil shale ash. For example using waste rock in road 
construction or using oil shale ash to improve the soil 
quality in agriculture and reforestation.

The objective of the distribution network operator Elektrilevi 
is to manage the network efficiently and to increase cus-
tomer satisfaction. Elektrilevi has to ensure that all market 
participants have equal access to network service and that 
the quality requirements established by the regulator are met. 

In 2015, Elektrilevi continued to install remote reading 
meters. All of Elektrilevi’s customers will have a remote 
reading meter by the end of 2016. The project involves ins-
talling around 620,000 smart meters that record electricity 
consumption on an hourly basis. The new meters release 
the customers from the obligation to submit the reading 
and allow them to make more informed decisions regarding 
their consumption and selection of the electricity package.

The distribution network operator invests consistently in 
network reliability. Even though the number of service inter-
ruptions is strongly influenced by weather conditions, recent 
years’ decrease in the number and duration of outages reflects 
that the distribution network has become more reliable.

  Strategy

Elektrilevi wishes to continue to ensure the security of supply 
that meets the customer’s expectations by investing in the 
network’s storm resistance and reducing the duration of 
power outages. Efforts are made to develop solutions that 
improve service quality and, at the same time, reduce network 
size i.e. the length of cables and amount of substations and 
increase investment efficiency. In sparsely populated areas 
the distribution network operator plans to develop distributed 
generation solutions, which could prove more cost-effective 
and replace the network at the consumption.
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Financial Results

  Financial Results

Revenues and EBITDA

The Group’s sales revenues for 2015 were EUR 776.7 
million (-11.7%, EUR -103.2 million down from 2014). 
EBITDA amounted to EUR 265.8 million (-14.9%, EUR 
-46.5 million) and net profit to EUR 40.5 million (-74.6%, 
EUR -118.8 million).

The decline in sales revenues is mainly attributable to 
smaller electricity sales revenue, which resulted from low 
market prices that reduced sales volume.

Electricity EBITDA2 decreased (-19.2%, EUR -27.0 mil-
lion), mainly because of lower sales volume (-21.1%, -1.9 
TWh). Distribution EBITDA grew (+8.1%, EUR +7.9 mil-
lion), primarily because of lower variable costs. Shale oil 
EBITDA improved (+2.0%, EUR +0.8 million) as the rise in 
sales volume (36.6% up on 2014) and stronger gain on 
derivative instruments (EUR +27.0 million compared with 
2014) outweighed the decline in the average sales price. 

EBITDA on other products and services decreased (-84.8%, 
EUR -28.2 million). The main contributors were adjustment 
of a loan receivable related to the Group’s oil project in Jor-
dan, shrinkage in revenue from the sale of scrap metal, and 
discontinuance of oil shale supplies to external customers. 

The Group’s net profit for 2015 was strongly influenced by 
non-cash impairment losses of EUR 65.5 million in total, 

recognised for the Auvere power plant and the assets of 
Eesti Energia’s Utah project (EUR 39.6 million and EUR 26.0 
million respectively). The assets were written down due to 
the downtrend in the Nordic power and the global oil market 
prices, whose rapid recovery the Group does not forecast. 

2 Compared to 2014 annual report, segment reporting has been adjusted due to change in accouning principle.
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Share of the 
electricity product 
in Group’s sales 
revenues and 
EBITDA

Electricity

Electricity sales revenue amounted to EUR 355.6 million 
(-21.2%, EUR -95.4 million). In 2015, Eesti Energia sold 
7,211 GWh of electricity (-21.1%, -1,926 GWh), retail 
sales accounting for 5,875 GWh (-2.3%, -137 GWh) and 
wholesale sales for 1,336 GWh (-57.2%, -1,789 GWh) of 
the total. The average sales price of electricity including gain 

on derivative instruments (but excluding renewable energy 
subsidies and municipal waste gate fees) was 46.6 €/MWh 
(-2.1%, -1.0 €/MWh). The average sales price of electricity 
excluding gain on derivative instruments (and subsidies 
and municipal waste gate fees) was 41.9 €/MWh (-1.4%, 
-0.6 €/MWh). Gain on derivative instruments accounted 
for 4.8 €/MWh (-8.0%, -0.4 €/MWh) of the average sales 
price. Total gain on derivative instruments amounted to 
EUR 34.3 million (-27.4%, EUR -12.9 million).

In the wholesale segment, electricity sales volumes cont-
racted due to low market prices (electricity price in the 
Estonian price area of the Nord Pool power exchange wea-
kened by 17.3% compared with a year earlier). In the retail 
segment, the decline in electricity sales volume resulted 
from weaker sales in the Lithuanian market. 

46%
of sales

revenues

43%
of EBITDA 
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In Estonia, retail sales of electricity amounted to 4,266 
GWh (+2.3%, +94.2 GWh). In terms of customers’ electricity 
consumption volume, in 2015 Eesti Energia’s market share 
in Estonia was 61% (+1.2 percentage points on 2014)3. 
The growth in market share is attributable to successful 
sales in the large clients segment. At the beginning of 
2016, customers purchasing electricity from Eesti Energia 
had around 457,000 consumption points in Estonia, a 
decrease of around 1,400 compared with a year earlier, 
mostly due to shrinkage in the number of residential cus-
tomers. Universal service subscribers had around 103,500 
consumption points, 800 less than at the beginning of 
2015. Most electricity contracts come up for renewal at the 
end of the year. In 2015, the three-year contracts concluded 
on the opening of the electricity market could be renewed 
for the first time. Altogether, in December 98% of Eesti 
Energia’s electricity contracts that were going to expire were 
renewed. On signing the contract, customers continue to 
prefer packages that have a partly or fully fixed price.

In Latvia and Lithuania, Eesti Energia operates under the 
Enefit brand. In 2015, the Group’s retail sales of electricity 
in the Latvian and Lithuanian open market totalled 1,609 
GWh (-12.6%, -231 GWh). As the Group does not own subs-
tantial generation capacities in Latvia and Lithuania it has to 
buy electricity from the power exchange in order to meet 
its sales commitments. In 2015, prices in the Estonian and 
the Latvian and Lithuanian price areas remained divergent 
(on average, the Latvian exchange price was 10.8 €/MWh 
higher than the Estonian one). Due to the price difference, 
Eesti Energia incurred border crossing expenses of EUR 14.7 
million (-34.2%, EUR -7.6 million) for the year. In 2014, 
Eesti Energia’s offering in Latvia and Lithuania comprised 
electricity products indexed to the exchange price only.  

In Q1 2015, the Group began offering also fixed-price 
electricity contracts and, at the end of the year, green energy 
contracts. By the end of 2015, Eesti Energia’s customers had 
around 17,100 consumption points in Latvia and Lithuania, 
an increase of around 4,400 (+34%) compared with a year 
earlier. In 2015, Eesti Energia’s market shares in Latvia 
and Lithuania were 15% and 5% respectively (+0.4 and 
-2.2 percentage points year over year respectively). Loss 
of market share in Lithuania is attributable to temporary 
suspension of the offering of fixed-price contracts in 2013, 
which continues to have an impact on the Group’s market 
share. The Group’s total market share in the Baltic countries 
rose to 26%, 0.1 percentage points up on 2014.

In 2015, the Group generated 7,689 GWh of electricity 
(-20.6%, -1,997 GWh). Electricity production decreased 
because market prices declined. However, in 2015, more 
electricity was generated in hours when the market prices 
were higher. 

In 2015, electricity generated from renewable sources 
amounted to 360.8 GWh (+21.3%, +63.4 GWh). Most 
of it was produced at wind farms (223.3 GWh, +14.4%, 
+28.0 GWh). Electricity output eligible to renewable energy 
and efficient cogeneration subsidies totalled 320.5 GWh 
(+18.5%, +50.0 GWh). Renewable energy and efficient 
cogeneration subsidies received by the Group totalled EUR 
16.0 million (+21.0%, EUR +2.8 million).

Key Figures of Electricity Product

2015    2014

Return on fixed assets* % 8.2 14.4

Electricity EBITDA €/MWh 15.8 15.4

* Excluding impairment of generation assets in December 2013 and 2015

3 According to Estonian TSO Elering.

  Financial Results
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Electricity EBITDA for 2015 was EUR 114.1 million 
(-19.2%, EUR -27.0 million). 

Margin change improved EBITDA by EUR 14.2 million  
(+2.0 €/MWh). Average electricity sales revenue grew by  
0.4 €/MWh (impact on EBITDA EUR +2.7 million), supported 
by higher subsidies (+0.8 €/MWh) and municipal waste gate 
fees (+0.2 €/MWh). The average sales price of electricity 
excluding renewable energy subsidies and municipal waste 
gate fees (and gain on derivative instruments) decrea-
sed by 0.6 €/MWh. Lower variable costs improved EBITDA 

by EUR 11.5 million. Variable costs declined the most at 
the Latvian and Lithuanian energy sales units; in addition, 
there was a decrease in CO2 costs related to decrease in 
accounted average CO2 price. 

The decrease in electricity sales volume (-21%) lowered 
EBITDA by EUR 45.6 million. 

The change in fixed costs increased electricity EBITDA by 
EUR 29.9 million. The main contributors were the fixed 
cost component which is linked to inventory change (EUR 
+9.9 million) and capitalisation of fixed costs incurred on 
the construction of the Auvere power plant. 

Realised gain on derivative instruments, which decreased 
year over year, had a EUR -12.9 million impact on elect-
ricity EBITDA. 

Other impacts on electricity EBITDA (EUR -12.7 million 
in total) resulted mainly from the following: value of deri-
vative instruments changed (impact EUR -8.9 million), in 
2015 the reversal of provisions made for the Latvian and 
Lithuanian electricity portfolios was smaller than in 2014 
(impact EUR -6.6 million), the environmental protection 
provisions recognised by the Group were smaller (impact 
EUR +2.7 million). 
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Distribution  

Distribution sales revenue for 2015 was EUR 242.2 million 
(+0.6%, EUR +1.5 million) and distribution sales volume 
amounted to 6,337 GWh (+0.7%, +42.8 GWh). The sli-
ght growth in sales volume resulted from the addition of 
new consumers and consumption in the business client 
segment.

Network losses totalled 326.2 GWh or 4.8% (2014:  
381.0 GWh or 5.5%). Network losses have decreased 

thanks to more accurate measuring of quantities, more 
effective monitoring of consumption and detection of 
illegal and unmetered consumption.

In 2015, the average distribution tariff was 38.2 €/MWh 
(-0.1%, -0.03 €/MWh). 

The average duration of unplanned interruptions was  
187 minutes (2014: 131 minutes), including the impact 
of the December storm, which was 56 minutes. The ave-
rage duration of planned interruptions was 74 minutes  
(2014:  67 minutes). The latter indicator increased because 
a larger than usual share of bare conductors was replaced 
with insulated overhead cables.

To a certain extent, outages of the low-voltage network 
can be reduced by replacing regular overhead lines with 
weather-proof cables. In addition, the number of network 
interruptions is strongly influenced by weather conditions. 

Share of the  
distribution in 
Group’s sales  
revenues and 
EBITDA
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Key Figures of The Distribution Product

2015    2014

Return of fixed assets % 6.7 6.4

Distribution losses GWh 326.2 381.0

SAIFI index 1.9 1.6

SAIDI (unplanned) index 186.6 131.2

SAIDI (planned) index 74.0 66.7

Adjusted RAB m€ 725.4 685.5

Margin improvement increased distribution EBITDA by EUR 
6.8 million (+1.1 €/MWh). The average distribution tariff 
dropped by 0.1%, lowering EBITDA by EUR 0.2 million. 
The impact of a decrease in variable costs was EUR +7.0 
million, the decline resulting mainly from lower costs from 
network losses. 

Distribution sales volume grew by 1%, improving distribu-
tion EBITDA by EUR 1.0 million.

The impact of the change in fixed costs was EUR +0.1 
million.

Distribution EBITDA for 2015 amounted to EUR 105.2 
million (+8.1%, EUR +7.9 million). 
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Shale oil sales revenue was EUR 103.8 million (+21.7%, 
EUR +18.5 million). In 2015, Eesti Energia sold 315.1 
thousand tonnes of shale oil (+36.6%, +84.4 thousand 
tonnes). Sales volume increased mainly through growth 
in the Group’s oil output.

Share of  
the shale oil  
in Group’s sales 
revenues and 
EBITDA

Although the average sales price decreased, shale oil sales 
revenue grew through growth in sales volume. In 2015, 
the average sales price of shale oil was 329.6 €/t (-17.0%, 
-67.7 €/t). Thanks to successful hedging transactions, the 
average sales price of shale oil dropped less than the world 
market price of the reference product, heavy fuel oil (fell 
by 43.2% year over year). The average sales price was 
supported by gain on derivative instruments of 119.8 €/t 
(+73.1 €/t), EUR 37.7 million (+250.2%, EUR +27.0 million) 
in total. Excluding the impact of derivative instruments, 
the average sales price of shale oil declined to 209.8 €/t 
(-40.2%, -140.8 €/t).

The Group’s shale oil output for 2015 was 336.5 thousand 
tonnes (+26.8%, +71.2 thousand tonnes). A strong cont-
ributor to output growth was the new Enefit280 oil plant 

Shale Oil 
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Key Figures of Shale Oil Product

2015    2014

Return on fixed assets* % 6.6 14.6

Shale oil EBITDA €/t 131.6 176.3

* excluding impairment of assets related to Utah project

Shale oil EBITDA for 2015 was EUR 41.5 million 
(+2.0%, EUR +0.8 million). 

Margin decrease had a EUR -38.3 million (-121.7 €/t) 
impact on EBITDA. The average sales price declined  
(-140.8 €/t, impact on EBITDA EUR -44.4 million) while 
lower variable costs increased EBITDA by EUR 6.0 million. 

Growth in sales volume had an impact of EUR +18.0 million; 
sales volume grew by 37%. 

The impact of the change in fixed costs was EUR -5.6 
million, resulting mainly from the fact that in 2015 capi-
talisation of fixed costs decreased. 

Gain on shale oil derivatives grew by EUR 27.0 million 
year over year. 

Other impacts on shale oil EBITDA were EUR -0.2 million, 
most of it resulting from the recognition of larger environ-
mental protection provisions (impact EUR -0.5 million) and 
the change in the value of derivative instruments (impact 
EUR +0.2 million).

whose total output was 137.1 thousand tonnes (+206.8%, 
+92.4 thousand tonnes). The output of the Enefit140 oil 
plant decreased year over year (-9.6%, -21.2 thousand 
tonnes), mostly due to reduced operating time.
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EBITDA on other products and services sold in 2015 was 
EUR 5.0 million (-84.8%, EUR -28.2 million). 

Mining products’ sales revenue decreased by EUR 28.5 
million (-97.8%) and EBITDA declined by EUR 14.0 million 

Other Products and Services

Share of other  
products and  
services in Group’s 
sales revenues  
and EBITDA

In 2015, Eesti Energia’s sales revenues from other pro-
ducts and services totalled EUR 75.1 million (-27.0%, EUR 
-27.8 million).  

10%
of sales

revenues

2%
of EBITDA 

through discontinuance of extra-group oil shale supplies 
due to customer’s sales contract ending.

Heat sales volume decreased by 4.3% (-45.5 GWh) and 
heat sales revenue declined by EUR 2.5 million (-5.8%). 
Heat EBITDA decreased by EUR 0.8 million.

Revenue from sales of natural gas grew by EUR 14.0 million 
(+520.5%). Eesti Energia’s competitiveness in the open gas 
market has increased, underpinned by the decline in oil 
price and new supply opportunities. In 2015, the Group’s 
market share in the Estonian gas market was around 22%.  

Other impacts on EBITDA totalled EUR -13.4 million. The 
adjustment of a loan receivable related to the Group’s oil 
project in Jordan had an impact of EUR  -11.0 million. 
Sales of surplus CO2 emission allowances had an impact of 
EUR +8.3 million. A decrease in the sales volume of scrap 
metal had an impact of EUR -4.1 million. EBITDA for the 
comparative period was also strengthened by a gain of 
EUR 3.4 million earned on the sale of a subsidiary.

  Financial Results
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Cash Flows

The Group’s net operating cash flow for 2015 was 
EUR 307.7 million, 15.8% or EUR 41.9 million larger 
than the Group’s EBITDA (EUR 275.6 million).  

Compared with EBITDA (EUR 275.6 million), operating 
cash flow was increased the most (EUR +83.7 million) by 
the impact of transactions with CO2 emission allowances.

Operating cash flow was improved, relative to EBITDA, by 
non-cash loss of EUR 0.7 million resulting from changes 
in the value of derivative financial instruments. 

Inventory (mostly oil shale inventory) growth and interest 
and loan fees paid had an impact of EUR -31.1 million 
and EUR -43.9 million respectively. 

Operating cash flow increased compared with EBITDA 
because receivables decreased through settlement by 
EUR 15.5 million while current liabilities grew by EUR 6.5 
million. Other impacts totalled EUR +10.6 million, of which 
the impact of a non-cash loss from the adjustment of a 
loan receivable amounted to EUR 11.0 million. 

  Cash Flows
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The impact of inventory change (EUR -29.4 million)  
is attributable to growth in oil shale inventories. 

As the income tax payable for 2015 was paid in January 
2016, the impact of income tax paid proved EUR 29 million 
smaller than in 2014.  

Other impacts on operating cash flow (EUR +14.1 mil-
lion) resulted mostly from the sale of a subsidiary in 2014 
(impact EUR +3.4 million), non-cash loss from the adjust-
ment of a loan receivable (impact EUR +11.0 million) and 
some smaller items (EUR -0.3 million). 

Compared with 2014, net operating cash flow grew by 
34.8% (EUR +79.5 million). 

Compared with 2014, operating cash flow was strengthened 
by the impact of transactions with CO2 emission allowances 
(EUR +93.3 million).

The impact of derivative financial instruments was also 
positive (EUR +19.0 million) due to amount of unrealised 
loss in 2015 (EUR -0.7 million) compared to unrealised 
gain in 2014 (EUR +18.2 million).

  Cash Flows
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Investment

In 2015, the Group’s investments amounted to EUR 245.6 
million (-11.0%, EUR -30.2 million). Investments decreased 
mostly in connection with the Auvere power plant project 
(-59.5%, EUR -50.0 million). In 2015, the largest capital 
investments were made in the distribution network (EUR 
93.3 million, -4.2%, EUR -4.1 million).

Maintenance and repair investments (EUR 41.2 million, 
+29.5%, EUR +9.4 million) grew mostly at Narva power 
plants due to higher amount of planned renovations.

 

  Investment
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Construction of a 300 MW 
Power Plant in Auvere
In summer 2011, Eesti Energia started to build a modern 
circulating fluidised bed (CFB) power plant in Auvere. 
The new plant can use biofuel alongside oil shale (to the 
extent of 50%), which helps reduce its emissions to the 
level of a contemporary gas-fired plant. The maximum 

annual net generation of 
the Auvere power plant is 
2.2 TWh. For financing the 
construction of the power 
plant, the European Com-
mission permitted Estonia 
to allocate to Eesti Energia 

17.7 million tonnes of free CO2 emission allowances for the 
period 2013-2020. Of this amount, 5 million tonnes was 
received in April 2014 and 4.3 million tonnes in April 2015.

In 2015, the commissioning and adjustment of the Auvere 
power plant continued. The generation unit was synchro-
nized to the grid, after which the adjustment and tests 
required by the commissioning programme continued. The 
boiler’s ash handling systems were adjusted. Adjustment 
of the biofuel feeding systems began in August and in 
September wood chips and oil shale were co-fired on a 
50/50 basis. In November, the co-firing of oil shale gas and 
oil shale began. Part of the testing of the generating unit 
will be carried out in January-February 2016. The power 
plant is expected to be taken into commercial use in Q2 
2016, when all tests have been completed. The total cost 
of the project (including the fuel feeding systems) is EUR 
638 million. By the end of 2015, EUR 566 million (89%) 
of this had been invested.

Reduction of NOx Emissions 
at Eesti Power Plant
The EU Industrial Emissions Directive that took effect 
in January 2011 provides that starting from 2016 the 
concentrations of nitrogen oxides (NOx) in the waste gases 
released by large combustion plants may not exceed 200 
mg/Nm3. In 2013, one boiler of the Eesti power plant was 
supplied with a NOx capture (DeNOx) system which reduced 
its NOx emissions almost two-fold, bringing them in comp-
liance with the new limit. In 2014, the Group decided to 
equip another seven boilers of four generating units with 
DeNOx systems. In the same year, work was completed 
on the second boiler of generating unit 3 and both boilers 
of generating unit 6 were supplied with DeNOx systems.

At the beginning of 2015, the systems of generating unit 
6 were adjusted and successfully passed their warranty 
testing. In Q2, the DeNOx systems of both boilers of gene-
rating unit 5 were installed and in Q3 they successfully 
passed their warranty testing. At the same time, installa-
tion of the DeNOx systems of generating unit 4 began. 
At the beginning of Q4, their adjustment was completed 
and preparations began for warranty testing. In Novem-
ber-December, the DeNOx systems of both boilers of 
generating unit 4 successfully passed their warranty testing.  

Installation of the DeNOx systems is expected to be comp-
leted in Q1 2016. Time schedule was changed in relation 
to postponing of repair works. The total cost of the project 
is EUR 22 million. By the end of 2015, EUR 21.2 million 
(96%) of this had been invested. 

The maximum annual 
net generation of the 
Auvere power plant  
is 2.2 TWh. 

  Investment
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Improvement of Network 
Quality
In 2015, investments in maintaining and improving the 
quality of the distribution network amounted to EUR 93.3 
million compared with EUR 97.4 million in 2014. During 
the year, 336 substations and 1,906 kilometres of network 
were built (534 substations, 1,749 kilometres of network 
in 2014). 

In 2013-2016, distribution network operator Elektrilevi will 
install remote reading meters at all points of consumption 
in Estonia. Implementation of the remote reading system, 
which releases the consumer from the obligation to submit 
the reading, is required by law. In the future, the system 
can also be used to determine network quality and profile 
loads more accurately.

In 2015, 163 thousand remote reading meters were ins-
talled and 201 thousand meters were switched over to 
the remote reading system as part of the remote reading 
project. By the year-end, 498 thousand new hourly smart 
meters had been installed and 85% of the meters had 
been switched over to the remote reading system in the 
framework of the remote reading project. Meters with 
remote reading capability accounted for 80% of all of 
Elektrilevi’s power meters (+24 percentage points com-
pared to the end of 2014).

Implementation of Longwall 
Mining
Eesti Energia is going to implement longwall mining at its 
Estonia mine. Under the longwall technology, the costs of 
oil shale mining are lower than under the previously applied 
room-and-pillar technology because road way construction 
volumes are smaller. The method is similar to conventional 
room-and-pillar mining where pillars support the overlying 
strata but mining takes place along a long work face that 
may extend to 700 metres in place of the conventional 
200 metres. Preparations for the project began in 2014.

At the beginning of 2015, belt conveyors were installed, 
assembly work was done and underground ventilation 
barriers were built. Some of the trucks and face drilling 
rigs were delivered. In Q2, installation of belt conveyors, 
construction of underground ventilation barriers and ins-
tallation of control and communication cables continued. In 
Q3, assembly of belt conveyors continued. In Q4, assembly 
of belt conveyors was completed and assembly of work 
face equipment and testing of automated systems began. 
Production started up in January 2016 and full capacity 
should be achieved in the beginning of 2017 when the 
additional oil shale output should amount to approximately 
0.8 million tonnes per year. The total cost of the project 
is EUR 21 million. By the end of 2015, EUR 17.0 million 
(80%) of this had been invested. 

  Investment
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Preliminary Development 
of Electricity and Shale Oil 
Projects in Jordan
Eesti Energia owns 65% of its electricity and shale oil pro-
duction projects in Jordan. Project partners are YTL Power 
International Berhad from Malaysia with a 30% interest 
and Near East Investment from Jordan with a 5% interest. 

In 2015, the main focus of development activities was on 
the electricity project’s financing activities – review of the 
project by creditors and prospective investors, selection 
of an investor, and drafting and negotiation of financing 
agreements. Preparation of the mine’s technical designs 
was completed and additional hydrological studies for 
modelling long-term groundwater recharge (by drilling 
and test pumping two water boreholes) were carried out. 
In addition, in 2015 an independent international expert, 
SRK Consulting (UK) Limited, provided additional assu-
rance on the geological quantity and assurance on the 
mineable quantity of the resource (336 million tonnes). 
The Ministry of the Environment of Jordan approved the 
project’s environmental impact assessment annex.

The planned net capacity of the first Jordanian oil shale power 
plant that is scheduled for completion in 2019 is 470 MW.  

The Group is planning to sell most of it’s stake in the Jordan 
oil project in the future.

Termless loan granted to associate Enefit Jordan B.V in 
relation to Jordan oil project was adjusted by EUR 11.0 
million in 2015 due to low oil prices. The adjustment of 
Jordan oil project loan is not related to construction of oil 
shale power plant or mine’s development.

Preliminary Development of 
the US Shale Oil Production 
Project
In March 2011, Eesti Energia acquired an oil shale resource 
in Uintah County, Utah (USA), which is currently estimated 
to contain 6.0 billion tonnes of oil shale (based on the 
updated “best” in-place estimate)4. In Utah, Eesti Energia 
operates under the name of Enefit American Oil. 

In 2015, the global business environment changed, causing 
Eesti Energia to reassess its capital investments and lower 
its operating costs. During the year, the project’s business 
plan was re-evaluated with a focus on continuing deve-
lopment activities necessary for sustaining the project’s 
long-term value and finding a lower end-product price 
enabling engineering solution by changing aspects of the 
mine plan, process engineering and development plan. 
Project’s development functions were moved to Esto-
nia. In 2015, the Draft Environmental Impact Statement 
was completed and is undergoing final review by the US 
Bureau of Land Management prior to being published in 
the Federal Register.

4 Measured resource 3.5 billion tonnes, indicated resource 2.3 billion tonnes, and inferred resource 0.2 billion tonnes of oil shale.
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Financing

Eesti Energia’s main sources of debt funding are the inter-
national eurobond market and investment loans from the 
European Investment Bank (EIB). In addition, liquidity loan and 
guarantee facilities have been obtained from regional banks.

At the end of 2015, the total nominal value of the Group’s 
borrowings was EUR 1,018.5 million (at the end of 2014: 
EUR 937.1 million). The amortised cost of borrowings 
amounted to EUR 951.8 million (at the end of 2014: EUR 
934.9 million). Long-term borrowings comprised Euro-
bonds listed on the London Stock Exchange with a nominal 
value of EUR 758.3 million and loans from the EIB with a 
nominal value of EUR 260.2 million.

In 2015, Eesti Energia carried out a refinancing of bonds 
due in 2018 and 2020. This was carried out by repur-
chasing bonds with a total nominal value of EUR 441.7 
million from investors and simultaneously issuing new 
longer dated bonds. The repurchase value of the bonds 
was EUR 506.0 million. The new bonds that were issued 
to fund the repurchase had an issue size of EUR 500.0 
million, maturity of 8 years (redemption in September 
2023) and a coupon rate of 2.384%. 

The transaction extended the average maturity of Eesti 
Energia’s borrowings and significantly lowered its refi-
nancing risk. Following the transaction, the Group’s debt 
repayments are more evenly distributed across the years 
until 2023.

During the year, the Group repaid loans to EIB in the amount 
of EUR 6.9 million, based on the repayment schedule. At 
the same time, in October the Group drew from EIB a new 
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loan of EUR 30 million. The term of the loan is 6 years 
(repayable in one instalment in October 2021).

At the end of 2015, the Group’s liquid assets stood at EUR 
159.8 million. In addition, the Group had available undrawn 
loans of EUR 220 million. The figure comprises bilateral 
revolving credit facilities of EUR 150 million in aggregate, 
signed with two regional banks (SEB and Pohjola), which will 
mature in July 2020, and a long-term loan agreement signed 
with EIB in the amount of EUR 70 million. The revolving credit 
facilities with SEB and Pohjola were signed in July 2015 to 
replace the Group’s previous revolving credit facilities that 
had a shorter maturity date. The agreements were renewed 
because of the positive sentiment in the regional banking 
market, which allowed the Group to extend the maturity date 
of the agreements on favourable conditions.

At the end of 2015, the Group’s credit ratings were at 
the level of BBB (Standard & Poor’s) and Baa2 (Moody’s). 
Rating agency Standard & Poor’s lowered Eesti Energia’s 
credit rating in Q2 2015 by one notch to BBB attributing it 
to low prices in electricity and liquid fuels markets as well 
as an increase in the company’s financial risk in a situation 
where the debt level has risen due an extensive investment 
programme. Rating outlook was stable at the end of 2015. 
In August 2015 Moody’s retained Eesti Energia’s rating at 
prior level but in February 2016 reported that it is going 
to review the rating due to low market prices of energy 
and there is a possibility for a downgrade.

At the year-end, the weighted average interest rate of 
Eesti Energia’s borrowings was 2.92% (3.91% at the end 
of 2014). The Group has predominantly locked the risk 
resulting from fluctuations in the base interest rate (for 
82% of borrowings the base interest rate is locked until 
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maturity, for 13% until July 2016 and 5% of borrowings 
have floating base rates). All borrowings are denominated 
in euros.

At the end of 2015, the Group’s equity amounted to EUR 
1,571.9 million. All the shares in Eesti Energia are held by 
the Republic of Estonia. During the year, the shareholder 
was made a dividend payment of EUR 61.9 million. 

The Group’s net debt as at the end of 2015 amounted to 
EUR 792.0 million (EUR -42.7 million compared to the 
end of 2014) and net debt to EBITDA ratio was 3.0 (2.7 at 
the end of 2014). In 2015, Eesti Energia approved a new 
financial policy according to which the target is to main-
tain the net debt to EBITDA ratio below 3.5. Under its loan 
agreements, Eesti Energia has undertaken to comply with 
certain financial covenants. At the end of 2015, the Group’s 
financial indicators complied with all contractual covenants.
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Outlook for FY 2016

  Outlook for FY 2016

According to Eesti Energia’s forecast, in 2016 the Group’s sales 
revenues will decline slightly and EBITDA and investments will 
decline compared with 2015*. The factors which will continue 
to have the strongest impact on the Group’s performance 
include low shale oil and electricity prices, and year-over year 
decline in the volume of derivatives transactions. 

The Group’s sales revenues will be influenced the most by the 
downtrend in the average sales price of electricity, which will 
also have an adverse impact on electricity EBITDA. Electricity 
output is not expected to change substantially in 2016.  

Shale oil sales volume is expected to increase but shale 
oil EBITDA is expected to decline (if market prices remain 
low) because the volume and average price of derivatives 
transactions will decrease. 

2016 investments will decline, mostly in connection with 
the completion of several development projects. Main-
tenance and repair investments will decline mainly at the 
Narva power plants and the mines.

* Välja arvatud deposiitide ja finantsvarade muutused
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Hedging transactions
The Group’s sales revenues from electricity and shale oil 
sales depend on global market prices. The key factors that 
influence the Group’s performance indicators are electricity 
price on the Nord Pool power exchange and the world 
market price of fuel oil with 1% sulphur content, which is 
a reference product for shale oil.  

The Group’s forward sales for delivery in 2016 comprise  
4.2 TWh of electricity (including retail electricity sales) with 

an average price of 37.2 €/MWh and 131.3 thousand ton-
nes of shale oil with an average price of 357.1 €/t. Forward 
sales for delivery in 2017 comprise 1.5 TWh of electricity 
(average price 36.1 €/MWh). 

The Group’s CO2 emission allowance position for 2016 
amounts to 12.0 million tonnes at an average price of  
6.0 €/t (including forward transactions, free emission 
allowances received as investment support and the sur-
plus of previous periods). The position for 2017 amounts 
to 3.1 million tonnes at an average price of 0.1 €/t.
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past five years, the older generating units of the Narva 
power plants where the pulverised combustion technology 
is used have been supplied with desulphurisation and denit-
rification (DeSOx and DeNOx) systems that have reduced 
sulphur oxides emissions three times and nitrogen oxides 
emissions almost two times.

In addition to reducing emissions of sulphur and nitro-
gen compounds, in 2015 Eesti Energia modernised its 
power plants’ electrosta-
tic precipitators, which will 
significantly reduce the 
quantities of fly ash emit-
ted into the environment. 
Last year, in connection 
with installing flue gas 
treatment systems, five 
new stacks were built for 
the Eesti power plant that 
allow the Group to utilise 
the generating units that 
meet regulatory requirements more flexibly and efficiently 
and to manage production in a volatile market situation 
more effectively thanks to their enhanced emission mea-
surement systems. 

Since 2010, the Group invested EUR 134 million in 
reducing the Narva power plants’ emissions to air. The 
efforts and investments made allow to continue generating 
electricity in previous volumes and using the existing plant 
and equipment in a situation where the EU environmental 
requirements apply to Eesti Energia in full.

Last year, the subsidiary Eesti Energia Õlitööstus AS that 
deals with oil production was actively engaged in reducing 

Environment

For Eesti Energia, 2015 marked the end of an important 
period of major environmental investments. The transitional 
easing of environmental requirements granted to Estonia on 
its accession to the EU has expired and from 1 January 2016 
Estonia has to be in full compliance with all environmental 
regulations of the EU. In 2015, preparations that had lasted 
for more than ten years were successfully completed and 
today all of Eesti Energia’s production facilities meet the 
environmental requirements that apply in the EU. 

From the perspective of development of the EU environ-
mental policy simply a phase has been completed, which 
will be followed by other, more stringent requirements and 
work on meeting those will continue. Besides activities 
aimed at achieving regulatory compliance, in 2015 a lot 
of work was done to make the Group’s production facilities 
more efficient and environmentally friendly. Eesti Energia’s 
strategic objectives are: to derive maximum energy from oil 
shale, to improve the flexibility and efficiency of its energy 
production operations and to increase the effectiveness of 
resource utilisation by making use of energy production 
by-products and production waste.

Substantial Emissions 
Reductions
In 2015, Eesti Energia completed projects undertaken for 
intensive reduction of greenhouse gas emissions. In the 

in 2015 Eesti  
Energia modernised 
its power plants’ 
electrostatic preci-
pitators, which will 
significantly reduce 
the quantities of fly 
ash emitted into the 
environment.

  Environment
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the Enefit140 oil plant’s emissions that may cause odour 
issues. Eesti Energia Õlitööstus invested EUR 2.1 million in 
modernising and enhancing different production processes. 
As a result, its environmental impacts decreased. Relevant 
activities will continue in 2016.  

New Technologies that 
Reduce Environmental 
Impacts and Save the 
Resource 
In order to keep up with continuously changing and tig-
htening environmental requirements, Eesti Energia not 
only implements technical solutions that reduce emissions 
but also continues to invest in new and cleaner technolo-
gies. New technological solutions help increase production 
efficiency and energy and material utilisation as well as 
diversify the sources of primary energy by using municipal 
waste, biomass and energy production by-products. 

Last year, the Enefit280 oil plant produced a record amount, 
137.1 thousand tonnes of shale oil. Because of the inno-
vative technology of the Enefit280 oil plant, its energy 
efficiency is higher than that of Enefit140 and other oil 
plants operating in Estonia and its environmental impacts 
are times lower. Thanks to its unique technology, the plant 
can not only produce shale oil and oil shale gas but can 
also use its residual heat to produce electricity. Such coge-
neration enables Eesti Energia to derive more energy and 
twice higher value from oil shale while reducing the CO2 

emissions of residual heat recovery and oil shale gas- 
based power generation by up to 40%, compared to direct 
burning of oil shale to generate electricity. 

In 2015, the new Pogi combined heat and power plant 
(located in Paide) in which Eesti Energia has a majority 
interest began operating in normal mode. The plant has 
been supplying heat to the residents and companies of the 
city of Paide since 2013 and the cogenerated electricity to 
the grid since the beginning of 2015. The new Paide Pogi 
combined heat and power plant can produce around 75% 
of the heat required by the city of Paide using local biofuel 
and thus contributing to growth in the output of renewable 
energy. The electricity generated by the cogeneration plant 
covers around a fifth of Paide’s electricity consumption. 

Last year the Iru waste-to-energy unit used around 244.6 
tonnes of mixed municipal waste which otherwise would 
mostly have been deposited in landfill sites. In 2015, Eesti 
Energia used mixed municipal waste at Iru to produce  
269.5 GWh of heat and 128.3 GWh of electricity. Use of 
mixed municipal waste for the production of heat and elect-
ricity replaces the use of around 70 million cubic metres 
of natural gas and substantially reduces the environmental 
impacts of the deposition of waste. 

Thanks to favourable wind conditions, in 2015 Eesti  
Energia achieved record-high wind energy output –  
223.3 GWh. The Group is one of the biggest renewable 
energy producers in Estonia. 

For more efficient oil shale extraction, in 2015 Eesti Ener-
gia continued the analysis and preparations required for 
implementing the harvester mining technology. Previously 
the Group has used in its underground mines the room-
and-pillar method which inevitably leaves a relatively large 
portion of the oil shale resource underground in the form 
of pillars left to support the overlying strata. Since most of 
the Group’s next new mines will be underground, reduction 
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Last year, Eesti Energia integrated all of its recycling imp-
rovement activities into a single project to significantly 
increase its by-product utilisation in the near term already. 
In the framework of the project, the Group researches 
opportunities for increasing the use of oil shale ash in 
mining (as backfill), agriculture and forestry, building mate-
rials production (for producing blocks, silicate products, 
concrete), large-scale mass stabilisation projects, road 
construction, etc.

Future Trend: More Efficient 
and Cleaner Production 
The state as the owner of Eesti Energia expects the com-
pany to add maximum value to oil shale, a resource of 
national importance, and to lower the environmental 
impacts of its activities. So far, Eesti Energia has been able 
to make its operations cleaner and more efficient every 
year. To meet the owner’s expectations also in the future, 
the Group is planning to further reduce its environmental 
impacts by maintaining focus on controlling emissions to 
air, implementing new large- and small-scale smart solu-
tions for increasing production efficiency, and finding new 
uses for its production by-products and waste. The target 
is to continue improving the current production efficiency 
by increasing the utilisation of both energy derived from 
primary sources and materials.

of oil shale losses is becoming a priority. Eesti Energia is 
planning to implement the harvester technology as one 
of the options in its new underground mines. By this met-
hod, the surface above the mined-out area is allowed to 
collapse, which makes it possible to extract the oil shale 
which otherwise would be left behind in the form of pillars 
and to reduce losses from the current 22–35% to 5–10%.

More Energy  
from By-products
Use of energy production by-products, which increases 
utilisation of the oil shale resource, is among Eesti Energia’s 
development priorities. The oil shale industry generates 
various by-products such as waste rock (oil shale extraction 
by-product), burnt oil shale or oil shale ash (electricity and 
oil production by-product), waste heat, oil shale gas, etc., 
which can be used as raw materials. 

In 2015, Eesti Energia recycled 2% of the 6.3 million tonnes 
of oil shale ash generated on energy production and 31% 
of the 6.6 million tonnes of waste rock generated on oil 
shale extraction. In 2014, 2% of the 7.9 million tonnes of 
oil shale ash generated on energy production and 28% 
of the 6.4 million tonnes of waste rock generated on oil 
shale extraction was recycled.

  Environment
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  2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Production

Electricity GWh 10,428 9,378 10,560 9,687 7,689

Renewable electricity GWh 408 534 263 297 361

Heat GWh 1,263 1,137 1,242 1,309 1,288

Produced using biofuels and waste GWh 107 155 223 337 357

Liquid fuels thousand t 184 209 214 265 337

Retort gas million m3 58 65 61 72 95

Resources Used

Commercial oil shale million t 15.8 14.8 17.2 17.0 13.7

Natural gas million m3 97.7 61.1 47.3 43.7 47.1

Biofuels million t 0.4 0.5 0.1 0.1 0.1

Municipal waste thousand t 0.0 0.0 183.6 221.4 244.6

Cooling water million m3 1,522.9 1,302.2 1,475.0 1,454.5 1,365.1

Pumped mining water million m3 224.8 203.0 138.2 117.3 103.6

water from open cast mines million m3 131.8 112.2 61.6 57.0 49.0

water from underground mines million m3 93.0 90.8 76.5 60.3 54.7

Emissions

SO2 thousand t 56.8 23.2 20.9 24.2 17.5

incl. Narva Power Plants thousand t 56.6 23.1 20.8 24.1 17.2

NOx thousand t 12.8 9.7 8.8 8.5 5.9

Fly ash thousand t 28.1 5.7 9.1 6.2 3.5

CO2 million t 12.3 11.0 13.4 12.8 10.0

Solid Waste

Oil shale ash million t 7.1 6.9 8.1 7.9 6.3

incl. recycled million t 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1

Waste rock million t 9.0 8.1 6.3 6.4 6.6

incl. recycled million t 8.1 7.6 4.4 1.8 2.0

Water Pollutants

Suspended matter thousand t 1.7 1.1 0.8 0.8 0.6

Sulphates thousand t 131.5 76.0 64.8 51.7 60.1

Environmental Fees Paid

Resource fees m€ 28.7 30.4 28.3 28.5 28.1

Pollution fees m€ 19.8 17.8 24.5 31.8 30.4

Key Environment Figures
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Corporate Governance and Risk Management

Eesti Energia’s corporate governance policies are aimed at 
ensuring that the Group is consistently and transparently 
managed.  

Eesti Energia’s sole shareholder is the Republic of Estonia 
that maintains an ownership interest in Eesti Energia in 
order to: 

• add maximum value to Estonia’s primary natural resource, 
oil shale, and related expertise;  

• grow the company’s value and ensure stable dividend 
income; 

• ensure the security of power supply in Estonia; 
• provide employment for regional labour resources; and
• reduce adverse environmental impacts.

Eesti Energia’s Supervisory Board and Management Board 
share the ambition to develop and manage Eesti Energia 
so that it would be a positive example for all other Estonian 
companies in terms of clarity of strategy, good corporate 
governance practices, operating efficiency and financial per-
formance as well as collaboration with all relevant stakeholders.  

Designing and implementing the company’s strategic 
directions is the responsibility of the Chairman of the 
Management Board who composes his or her own team 
and agrees it with the Supervisory Board.  

Key determinants of Eesti Energia’s management are the 
owner’s expectations, the Group’s vision, agreed strategic 

objectives and values, and the laws, regulations and other 
documents that regulate the operation of the Group and 
all its entities.

Organisational Structure
Eesti Energia strives to keep the organisational structure 
of simple and, in managing the company, give priority to 
the Group’s goals and needs. To make sure that mana-
gement is as effective and efficient as possible, we make 
a distinction between the management structure and the 
legal one. The governing bodies of Eesti Energia are the 
General Meeting, the Supervisory Board, the Management 
Board and the Audit Committee.

General Meeting
The General Meeting is Eesti Energia’s highest governing 
body, which decides, among other things, the establish-
ment and acquisition of new and the liquidation of existing 
companies, the appointment and removal of the members 
of the Supervisory Board, major investments, the appoint-
ment of the auditor, the approval of the results for the 
financial year. 

Eesti Energia’s sole shareholder is the Republic of Estonia 
that is represented at the General Meeting by the Minister 
of Finance.

  Corporate Governance and Risk Management
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Legal Structure

  Corporate Governance and Risk Management

Energy trading

EESTI ENERGIA AS

 Enefit SIA
(Latvia)

Enefit UAB
(Lithuania)

Eesti Energia Aulepa
Tuuleelektrijaam OÜ

Central
functions

Eesti Energia 
Õlitööstus AS

Elektrilevi OÜ

Eesti Energia 
Kaevandused AS

Eesti Energia 
Narva Elektrijaamad AS

Eesti Energia 
Tehnoloogiatööstus AS

Enefit US LLC

Attarat Power
Company

Enefit Jordan B.V

Jordan Oil Shale
Energy Company

Attarat Mining 
Company BV

Enefit Outotec
Technology OÜ

Pogi OÜ 

Eesti Energia Tabasalu 
Koostootmisjaam OÜ 

Enefit Power and Heat
Valka SIA

Energy sales

Iru 
power plantOrica Eesti OÜ

Narva Soojusvõrk AS

Enefit American Oil Co.

EAO Real Estate Corp

EAO Federal Lease LLC

EAO State Leases LLC

EAO Technology LLC

EAO Orion LLC

Eesti Energia 
Testimiskeskus OÜ

Eesti Energia 
Hoolduskeskus OÜ

Attarat Operation 
and Maintenance 

Company BV

Attarat Holding OÜ

  Owned 100% by Eesti Energia AS

  Eesti Energia departments

  Owned 100% by Eesti Energia AS subsidiary

  Eesti Energia with controlling interest 

  Minority interests

Attarat Power
Holding Company BV

Renewable energy 
and CHP
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The Annual General Meeting is convened once a year, within 
six months after the end of the Group’s financial year, at the 
time and in the place determined by the Management Board.  

Supervisory Board
Eesti Energia’s Supervisory Board is a governing body that plans 
the Group’s activities, organises the Group’s management and 
supervises the activities of the Management Board. 

Eesti Energia’s Supervisory Board has eight members who are 
appointed by the resolution of the Minister of Finance who 
represents the sole shareholder. Half of the members of the 
Supervisory Board are appointed by the Minister of Finance 
based on the proposal of the Minister of Economic Affairs 
and Infrastructure. 

The members of Eesti Energia’s Supervisory Board have to 
meet the requirements and expectations set forth in the Com-
mercial Code and the special requirements set forth in the 
State Assets Act. In addition, in conducting its activities, the 
Supervisory Board is guided by the Articles of Association of 
Eesti Energia AS and the rules of procedure approved by the 
sole shareholder. The primary functions of the Supervisory 
Board include:
•	 respresenting,	and	supervising	the	implementation	of,	the	

strategy approved by the sole shareholder,
•	 planning	the	activities	of	Eesti	Energia,	adopting	the	Group’s	

major strategic decisions, organising the company’s mana-
gement, supervising the activities of the Management Board 
and communicating the results of the supervision to the 
sole shareholder. 

The Supervisory Board is headed by the Chairman of the 

Supervisory Board. In 2015, legal assistance to the Super-
visory Board was arranged by Attorney at Law Sven Papp 
from law firm Raidla Ellex.  

In 2015, the composition of Eesti Energia’s Supervisory 
Board changed. In September, the shareholder removed 
Kalle Palling and Toomas Luman from the Supervisory 
Board and appointed Väino Kaldoja as a new member of 
the Supervisory Board. In October, Ants Pauls and Veiko 
Tali were appointed as new members of the Supervisory 
Board and Randel Länts was removed from the Supervisory 
Board. In December, Peep Siitam was removed from the 
Supervisory Board and Rannar Vassiljev was appointed as 
a new member of the Supervisory Board.  

At the end of 2015, the Supervisory Board of Eesti Ener-
gia comprised Chairman of the Supervisory Board Erkki 
Raasuke and members of the Supervisory Board Meelis 
Virkebau, Danel Tuusis, Märt Vooglaid, Rannar Vassiljev, 
Väino Kaldoja, Ants Pauls and Veiko Tali.

The principles of remunerating the members of Eesti Ener-
gia’s Supervisory Board are regulated by the State Assets 
Act, according to which the amount of the remuneration 
and its payment procedure are at the discretion of the sole 
shareholder. The limits for the remuneration are set forth 
in a regulation issued by the Minister of Finance. Additional 
remuneration may be provided for participation in the work 
of a body set up by the Supervisory Board (e.g. the Audit 
Committee). The members of the Supervisory Board are not 
entitled to termination benefits or other additional remune-
ration (except that provided for participation in the work of 
a body set up the Supervisory Board). As a rule, the Super-
visory Board meets once a month, except during the summer 
season. In 2015, the Supervisory Board held 12 meetings. 
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 Participation
in meetings 2015

Total remuneration  
in 2015 (€)

Total remuneration
in 2014 (€)

Participation
in meetings 2015

Total remuneration  
in 2015 (€)

Total remuneration
in 2014 (€)

Erkki Raasuke 12 5,675 2,244 Toomas Luman* 4 1,516 1,419

Väino Kaldoja 3 1,064 0 Randel Länts* 5 1,838 774

Ants Pauls 3 1,016 0 Kalle Palling* 8 2,870 4,257

Veiko Tali 3 1,016 0 Peep Siitam* 10 3,775 1,113

Danel Tuusis 12 4,257 2,129 * removed from the Supervisory Board in 2015

Rannar Vassiljev 1 145 0

Meelis Virkebau 12 4,257 1,774

Märt Vooglaid 11 3,902 3,902

ERKKI RAASUKE / 44
Chairman

Beginning of term of office: 01.08.2014  
End of term of office: 31.07.2017
(Chairman of the Supervisory Board since 01.09.2014)

VÄINO KALDOJA / 59
Member

Beginning of term of office: 09.09.2015
End of term of office: 09.09.2018

DANEL TUUSIS / 45
Member

Beginning of term of office: 12.06.2014
End of term of office: 11.06.2017

ANTS PAULS / 75
Member

Beginning of term of office: 06.10.2015
End of term of office: 06.10 2018

RANNAR VASSILJEV / 34
Member

Beginning of term of office: 17.12.2015
End of term of office: 17.12.2018

VEIKO TALI / 55
Member

Beginning of term of office: 06.10.2015
End of term of office: 06.10.2018

MEELIS VIRKEBAU / 58
Member

Beginning of term of office: 28.08.2014
End of term of office: 27.08.2017

MÄRT VOOGLAID / 47
Member

Beginning of term of office: 21.09.2011
End of term of office: 20.09.2017

Members of the Supervisory Board

Supervisory Board Members’ Participation in Meetings and Total Remuneration Paid
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Supervisory Boards  
of Subsidiaries and Associates
The powers and responsibilities of the members of the 
Supervisory Boards of Eesti Energia’s subsidiaries and 
associates are determined by their Articles of Association. 
Their Supervisory Boards are generally comprised of the 
members of Eesti Energia’s Management Board.

The meetings of the Supervisory Boards of subsidiaries and 
associates take place according to need and are called in 
accordance with the Group’s internal rules, the subsidiary’s 
or associate’s Articles of Association, the law and agree-
ments with co-shareholders.

Management Board
Executive management is the responsibility of Eesti Ener-
gia’s Management Board. In managing the company, the 
Management Board has to follow the lawful instructions 
of the Supervisory Board. The members of the Manage-
ment Board are appointed by the Supervisory Board. The 
Chairman of the Management Board, who also performs 
the functions of the Chief Executive Officer, is separately 
appointed by the Supervisory Board.

In 2015, the composition of Eesti Energia’s Management 
Board changed. In February, Margus Rink was removed 
from the Management Board and the company’s Chief 
Financial Officer Andri Avila was appointed as a new mem-
ber of the Management Board. At the end of 2015, the 
Management Board of Eesti Energia comprised Chairman 
of the Management Board Hando Sutter and the members 
of the Management Board Andri Avila, Raine Pajo, Margus 
Vals and Andres Vainola. The areas of responsibility of the 
members of the Management Board are outlined in the 
following overview.

  Corporate Governance and Risk Management
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HANDO SUTTER / 45
Chairman
Chief Executive Officer

Beginning of term of office: 
01.12.2014 
End of term of office: 
30.11.2017

WORK EXPERIENCE:
•	 2010-2014	Nord	Pool	Spot	AS,	

Regional Market Manager, Esto-
nia, Latvia, Lithuania and Russia

•	 2006-2009	US	Invest	AS,	Deve-
lopment Adviser

•	 2002-2006	Olympic	Entertain-
ment Group, Chief Operating 
Officer

EDUCATION:
•	 Estonian	Business	School,	MBA	

Course  
•	 Tallinn	University	of	Technology,	

Mechanical Engineer

ANDRI AVILA / 40
Member
Chief Financial Officer

Beginning of term of office: 
01.03.2015 
End of term of office: 
30.11.2017

WORK EXPERIENCE:
•	 2010	Premia	Foods	AS,	Member	

of the Management Board/Chief 
Financial Officer

•	 2008-2009	Olympic	Entertain-
ment Group, Chairman of the 
Management Board

•	 2001-2008	Olympic	Enter-
tainment Group, Member of 
the Management Board/Chief 
Financial Officer/ Chief Operating 
Officer

•	 2007	-	...	Geoplast	OÜ,	Member	
of Management Board

EDUCATION:
•	 Concordia	International	University	

Estonia, International Business 
Administration (cum laude)

RAINE PAJO / 39
Member 
Area of Responsibility:  
Energy Production

Beginning of term of office:  
01.12.2006
End of term of office: 
30.11.2017

WORK EXPERIENCE:
•	 2000–2006	OÜ	Põhivõrk	 

(current name Elering), Member of 
the Management Board responsible 
for Development and Operations, 
Head of Development Department, 
Director of Electrical Grid Planning 
Division, Client Account Manager 

•	 1999–2000	Fingrid	Oy	(Finnish	
Transmission System Operator)

EDUCATION:
•	 Tallinn	University	of	Technology,	 

MA in Business Admi-nistration
•	 Tallinn	University	of	Technology,	 

MSc and Doctor of Engineering
•	 Tallinn	University	of	Technology,	

Electrical Engineer

MARGUS VALS / 36
Member 
Area of Responsibility: Projects, 
Technology and New Business

Beginning of term of office:
01.12.2014
End of term of office:
30.11.2017

WORK EXPERIENCE:
•	 2013–2014	Eesti	Energia	AS,	

Director of Strategy
•	 2008–2013	Eesti	Energia	AS,	

Director of Energy Trading
•	 2002–2008	Eesti	Energia	AS,	

Financial Analyst, from 2006 
Head of Department

EDUCATION:
•	 London	Business	School,	Master	

of Research
•	 Tallinn	University	of	Technology,	

BA in Economics

ANDRES VAINOLA / 49
Member 
Area of Responsibility:  
Mining and Maintenance 

Beginning of term of office:
01.12.2014
End of term of office:
30.11.2017

WORK EXPERIENCE:
•	 2008–2014	Empower	Group	Oy,	

Member of Management, CEO of Baltic 
Division

•	 2000–2007	Empower	EEE	AS,	 
Chairman of the Management Board

•	 1997-2000	Eesti	Elektrivõrkude	 
Ehituse AS, Chairman of the Manage-
ment Board

•	 2004-2014	Eesti	Liinirongid	AS	
(ELRON), Member of the Supervisory 
Board and Chairman of the Audit  
Committee

EDUCATION:
•	 Leadership	Academy	Helsinki	
•	 Tallinn	University	of	Technology,	 

Business Administration

MARGUS RINK / 43
Member until 28 February 2015 
Left Eesti Energia as from 8 May 2015

WORK EXPERIENCE:
•	 1996–2008	Hansapank	AS	(current	name	Swedbank),	various	positions	including	Head	of	Personal	and	Retail	Banking

EDUCATION:
•	 University	of	Tartu,	MA	in	Business	Administration
•	 University	of	Tartu,	Financial	Accounting	and	Analysis

Members of the Management Board in 2015
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The principles of remunerating the members of the Mana-
gement Board of Eesti Energia are regulated by the State 
Assets Act, according to which the amount of their remu-
neration is at the discretion of the Supervisory Board. 
The members of the Management Board are remune-
rated for fulfilling their responsibilities as members of 
the Management Board. The remuneration is set out in 
the contracts signed with the members of the Manage-
ment Board and it can only be altered subject to mutual 
agreement. Management Board members are also paid 
additional remuneration within the limits specified in the 
State Assets Act and based on the results of the Group. 
The total amount of the additional remuneration may not 
exceed four-fold average monthly remuneration received 
by the member of the Management Board in the previous 
financial year. Assignment of additional remuneration must 
be justified and consistent with the Group’s performance, 
value added and market position. Termination benefits may 
only be paid if the Supervisory Board removes a member 
of the Management Board on its initiative before the term 
of office of the member of the Management Board expi-
res and the amount may not exceed three-fold monthly 
remuneration of the member of the Management Board.

As a rule, the Management Board meets once a week. Where 
necessary, electronic voting is applied. In 2015, 53 meetings 
were held, three of which were conducted electronically. 

Management Principles
The Group’s management principles and policies were 
reviewed and approved in November 2015. Eesti Energia’s 
management is determined by the owner’s expectations, 
the Group’s vision, agreed strategic objectives and values, 
and the documents that regulate the activities of the Group 
and all its entities.

Owner’s Expectations
The owner’s expectations are the set of principles that the 
Supervisory Board and the Management Board have to 
observe in designing the company’s strategy and action 
plan and the company’s strategic objectives and financial 
targets. The owner’s expectations were rewieved by the 
minister of Finance in December 2015.

The owner’s strategic expectations of the company are 
as follows:
•	 to	maintain	a	significant	market	share	in	the	regional	

electricity market,
•	 to	reduce	CO2 emissions in power production,
•	 to	develop	oil	production	and	other	ways	of	adding	value	

to oil shale,
•	 to	reinforce	international	recognition	of	Estonia’s	compe-

tence in matters pertaining to the oil shale energy industry,
•	 to	improve	the	quality	of	the	distribution	network	service,
•	 to	minimise	the	environmental	impacts	of	the	company’s	

operations.

Total Remuneration Paid  
to the Management Board

 Total remuneration
in 2015 (€)

Total remuneration
in 2014 (€)

Hando Sutter 135,600 11,300

Andri Avila 73,000 0

Raine Pajo 116,460 124,493

Andres Vainola 105,600 7,300

Margus Vals 87,600 7,300

Margus Rink* 42,955 124,805

* removed from the Management Board in 2015
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In line with the owner’s expectations, achievement of the 
strategic objectives must be supported by the following 
financial targets:
•	 organising	the	Group’s	operations	so	that	sufficient	

return on equity is earned,
•	 striving	to	improve	operating	efficiency,
•	 ensuring	stable	and	consistently	increasing	dividend	

income for the owner,
•	 designing	business	operations	based	on	an	optimal	

capital structure and the industry’s average risk level,
•	 financing	investments,	as	a	rule,	with	the	Group’s	ope-

rating cash flow and debt capital,
•	 making	sure	that	each	of	the	Group’s	businesses	generates	

return on invested capital and that the return is measurable.

Differences Applying 
to Management of the 
Distribution Network Operator
Under the Electricity Market Act, Elektrilevi as the distribution 
network operator has to ensure, among other things, that 
all market participants are treated equitably and that the 
information obtained by the network operator is protected.

The Group has adopted rules for handling confidential 
information in order to ensure that all market participants 
are treated equitably. 

In accordance with legislation and best practices, Eesti 
Energia has also put in place differences applying to the 
management of Elektrilevi, which ensure the network ope-
rator’s independence in adopting investment decisions, 

conducting procurements and maintaining the confiden-
tiality of information pertaining to market participants and 
customer contracts. The Supervisory Board of Elektrilevi is 
entitled to approve the company’s annual financing plan 
and debt ceiling. 

Agreed Reporting Principles
Quality management decisions are underpinned by accurate 
and timely information. It is essential that reporting should 
be both factual and forward-looking. This allows using the 
best knowledge to prevent risks from realising and turn 
them into competitive advantages. 

Financial reporting focuses mainly on reporting the consolida-
ted financial results of Group entities. We release information 
on the company’s operations and information that may affect 
the price of the Eurobond in accordance with the rules of the 
London Stock Exchange and, in the first place, via its informa-
tion system. We release information that is not expected to 
affect the price of the Eurobond via domestic media channels. 
In both cases, we disseminate the information in line with the 
Group’s rules for handling inside information. 

Handling of inside information is regulated by Eesti Ener-
gia’s inside information handling rules because the Group 
has issued Eurobonds listed on the London Stock Exchange. 
Proper handling of inside information is essential for pro-
tecting the interests of bondholders and ensuring fair and 
orderly trade of the bonds. All relevant information on 
Eesti Energia and its subsidiaries must be available to all 
bondholders and potential investors in a timely, consistent 
and equitable manner (to the same extent, at the same 
time and in the same manner). 
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Management reporting is mainly designed for intra-Group 
use. It encompasses reporting on a variety of performance 
indicators, which reflect the performance of the Group and 
Group entities, and project reporting, which focuses on 
analysing the realisation of investment and development 
projects. Improving reporting is a constant process in which 
we review the factors which influence the achievement of 
the agreed targets.

Effective Supervision
Eesti Energia Group has implemented a multi-level and 
balanced chain of supervision, which is focused on the most 
critical risks. The risks determine what needs to be done to 
be able to adjust one’s activities and help the Group best 
achieve its objectives. 

Audit Committee and External 
Auditor
Eesti Energia’s Supervisory Board has set up an Audit Com-
mittee and has assigned the Audit Committee rights and 
responsibilities in accordance with the approved rules of 
procedure. In its work, the Audit Committee is mainly guided 
by the statute of the Audit Committee and the Auditors 
Activities Act. The primary function of the Committee is to 
advise the Supervisory Board in supervision-related matters. 

The Audit Committee has four members. The composition 
and the Chairman of the Committee are determined by the 
Supervisory Board of Eesti Energia. In 2015, the compo-
sition of Eesti Energia’s Audit Committee changed. Kalle 
Palling was removed from the Committee in connection 

with his removal from Eesti Energia’s Supervisory Board. 
In October, Eesti Energia’s Supervisory Board appointed 
Danel Tuusis as a new member of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee meets as per the agreed schedule 
at least once a quarter. In 2015, the Committee had 11 
ordinary meetings. The Audit Committee submits its report 
to the Supervisory Board once a year, before the Super-
visory Board approves the annual report of Eesti Energia. In 
2015, the Audit Committee fulfilled all the responsibilities 
set forth in the rules of procedure. 

The Audit Committee Statement is on page 53.

Eesti Energia’s financial statements are audited in accor-
dance with International Standards on Auditing. Under Eesti 
Energia’s Articles of Association, appointment of the audi-
tor of the financial statements is the responsibility of the 
General Meeting. Based on the tender results, the General 
Meeting has appointed audit firm PricewaterhouseCoopers 
(PwC) as the auditor of the financial statements for financial 
years 2014–2016. Based on the countries of incorporation 
of Group entities, different persons may be authorised to 
sign their auditor’s reports. The auditor responsible for the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements is Certified 
Public Accountant Tiit Raimla. Eesti Energia does not disc-
lose the fee paid to the external auditor because the Group 
believes that this could undermine the outcomes of future 
tenders and thus cause a financial loss for Eesti Energia. 

PwC presented the results of its work in two stages:
1) the results of the interim audit were presented at the 

meeting of the Audit Committee held on 17 December 
2015; and 
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2) the results of the year-end audit were presented at the 
meeting of the Audit Committee held on 18 February 
2016.

The auditor’s report is on page 128.

Eesti Energia considers it important to help ensure the 
independence of the external auditor and avoid conflicts 
of interest. For this, the Audit Committee has established 
a set of principles to be followed when the auditor wishes 
to provide additional services to Group entities. In 2015, 
PwC did not provide any services to Eesti Energia that could 
have compromised the auditor’s independence. 

 Participation
in meetings 2015

Total remuneration  
in 2015 (€)

Total remuneration
in 2014 (€)

Kaie Karniol 11 2,200 2,000

Danel Tuusis 2 177 0

Meelis Virkebau 11 976 1,355

Märt Vooglaid 8 710 355

Kalle Palling* 7 931 976

* removed from the Audit Commitee in 2015

KAIE KARNIOL / 45
Chairwoman

Beginning of term of office: 23.05.2013 
End of term of office: 18.06.2016

DANEL TUUSIS / 45
Member

Beginning of term of office: 01.11.2015 
End of term of office: 14.10.2018

Members of the Audit Committee

MÄRT VOOGLAID / 47
Member

Beginning of term of office: 01.09.2014 
End of term of office: 31.08.2017

MEELIS VIRKEBAU / 58
Member

Beginning of term of office: 17.12.2009 
End of term of office: 16.12.2018

Audit Committee Members’ Participation  
in Meetings and Total Remuneration Paid
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Internal Audit
The Group’s internal audit function has been organised 
and carries out its responsibilities in accordance with the 
International Professional Practices Framework that sets 
out international standards for internal auditing. The work 
of the internal audit function covers the activities of the 
whole Group.

Ensuring effective operation of the internal audit function 
is the responsibility of the Internal Audit Department. The 
Department is accountable to the Audit Committee and 
the Supervisory Board and its plans and reports are also 
evaluated and approved by the Audit Committee. The role of 
the Internal Audit Department is to contribute to improving 

  Corporate Governance and Risk Management

the internal control environment, risk management, and 
business management culture. The internal audit report 
for 2015 was submitted to the Audit Committee on 18 
February 2016.  

The Group has established a system for disclosing economic 
interests by which employees who may have conflicts of 
interest in fulfilling their responsibilities disclose their eco-
nomic interests and confirm their independence through 
regular self-assessment. To the knowledge of Eesti Energia, 
the members of the Group’s Management Board and the 
Management Boards of the subsidiaries had no conflicts 
of interest in 2015 and no related party transactions were 
conducted on terms that were not at arm’s length. An 
overview of related party transactions conducted in 2015 
is presented on page 122 of the financial statements.
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Risk Management

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK The primary goal of the Group’s risk management is to 
ensure that the Group does not take on or assume more 
unhedged risks than it can carry in the process of meeting 
its objectives.

Governance of Risk 
Management
The Group’s risk management is coordinated by the Risk 
Management Department, which is responsible for develo-
ping, implementing and maintaining the process required 
for managing all significant risks influencing the operation 
and performance of Eesti Energia.

Each Group company and business unit has to ensure, 
in consideration of its goals and targets, that its risks are 
managed. Moreover, it must be certain that when a risk 
realises the company or business unit can continue carrying 
out its designated operations in a sustainable manner. 

  Corporate Governance and Risk Management
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Risk Assessment and 
Management
In each category, the Group has developed risk manage-
ment strategies, implemented a risk quantification and 
reporting system, and determined the parties responsible 
for managing the risks within the Group.

The risks and risk appetite of Eesti Energia Group can be 
divided into four broad categories.

Strategic Risks
The Group’s strategic risks mostly arise from changes in 
the political and legal environment. The Group’s current 
operations and development projects in different markets 
depend on the activity of the regulators and political deci-
sions. The main risk management tools include monitoring 
the changes and developments taking place in the political 
and legal environment, participating in the development of 
new legislation, implementing changes within the Group, 
ongoing monitoring of compliance and identifying and 
resolving any instances of non-compliance. 

Market Risks
Price risk arises on the sale of goods produced and ser-
vices provided by the Group and the purchase of resources 
required for production. The most important price risks 
relate to the sale of electricity and shale oil and the purc-
hase of greenhouse gas emission allowances. The Group 
uses different derivative financial instruments to cover its 
price risk exposures. 

Currency risk is mostly related to those shale oil sales 
transactions that are denominated in US dollars and have 
not been hedged with derivative transactions. The main 
measure for managing currency risk is risk avoidance. 

Interest rate risk arises from floating rate borrowings 
and constitutes the threat that a rise in interest rates will 
increase finance costs. To mitigate its interest rate risks, 
the Group determines a threshold, which the share of fixed 
rate borrowings has to exceed.

  Corporate Governance and Risk Management

STRATEGIC 
RISKS The Group takes well-considered risks  

to increase revenue

MARKET  
RISKS

The Group controls the risks and keeps them 
as low as possible because they are an inherent 
part of its business operations. However, taking 
the risks does not result in additional revenue  
or is not the Group’s core activity

FINANCIAL 
RISKS

OPERATIONAL 
RISKS

ENVIRONMENTAL 
RISKS

The Group is not prepared 
to take these risks because 
doing so would jeopardise 
the environment, the 
health of the public and 
its employees, and its 
reputation 

HEALTH AND 
SAFETY RISKS

The Group controls the risks and keeps them 
as low as possible because they are an inherent 
part of its business operations
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Financial Risks
Credit risk arises from cash placed in bank deposits, availab-
le-for-sale financial assets, derivative financial instruments 
with a positive value, and trade and other receivables.

The Group has a uniform approach for mitigating coun-
terparty credit risk from depositing unrestricted cash and 
conducting hedging transactions. There are requirements 
in place, which outline counterparties’ acceptable credit risk 
characteristics, permitted transaction terms and maximum 
positions of concentration risk based on the credit risk 
level of the counterparty. 

Overdue trade receivables are handled by relevant 
departments. 

Liquidity risk has two dimensions. Short-term liquidity risk 
is the risk that the Group’s bank accounts do not include 
sufficient cash to meet the Group’s financial commitments. 
Long-term liquidity risk is the risk that the Group does not 
have a sufficient amount of unrestricted cash and other 
sources of liquidity to meet its next 12 months’ liquidity 
needs in order to carry out its business plan and meet its 
commitments, or that, for the above reason, the Group 
needs to raise cash on terms, which are not optimal. Liqui-
dity risk is mitigated by keeping sufficient liquidity buffer 
using various financial instruments like unrestricted cash 
and loans to be taken out.

Operational Risks
Operational risks result from insufficient or ineffective 
processes, people, equipment, systems or external events. 

Considering the Group’s business, it is essential for opera-
tional risk management to consistently improve and apply 
safety standards and regulations and increase control over 
compliance with environmental requirements. One of the 
tools of managing operational risks is implementation of 
quality and environment management systems.

The key tools for managing the risks related to plant and 
equipment and systems include maintenance planning, 
continuous supervision and preparation of business conti-
nuity plans that ensure continuation of operations. The risks 
connected with production, work safety and the environ-
ment are assessed and managed at all Group entities and 
in all process phases. The Group also uses insurance to 
cover its operational risks.

Risk Analysis Methodology   
Risk analysis is based on simulation methods, which analyse 
how the uncertainty of different factors affects the achie-
vement of the Group’s profit targets, generation of cash 
flows projected to be needed for investment, the ability to 
meet the required debt ratios and maintain the optimum 
level of debt ratios. 

Risk Reporting
Significant risks that may affect the achievement of the 
Group’s goals and targets are regularly reported to the 
Group’s Management Board and Audit Committee. The 
Group makes sure that the Management Board is promptly 
notified of all significant risks and that such risks are inclu-
ded in the Group’s risk profile. 
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Audit Commitee Statement

The work of the Audit Committee in the financial year 2015 was based on the statutes of the Committee and its plan 
of activity. No restrictions have been imposed on our actions, and the Group’s representatives have made all necessary 
information available to us. Well-defined reporting lines have ensured a fluent flow of necessary information to us. We 
have informed the members of the Management Board of our opinions formed and related suggestions made based on 
our work.

During the financial year 2015, we assessed the following points that have an impact on the operations of the Group:
•	 adherence	to	accounting	principles,
•	 the	preparation	and	approval	of	the	financial	budget	and	statements,
•	 the	sufficiency	and	effectiveness	of	the	external	audit	and	assurance	of	its	independence,
•	 the	development	and	functioning	of	the	internal	audit	system,
•	 the	legality	of	the	company’s	activities,	and
•	 the	organisation	of	the	internal	audit.

The Audit Committee finds that the activities of the Eesti Energia Group do not show any flaws of which the management 
is unaware or which could have a material impact on the annual report for the financial year 2015.

We submitted our assessments with the activity report to the Supervisory Board of Eesti Energia on 18 February 2016.

Kaie Karniol
Chairwoman of the Audit Committee
18 February 2016
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Consolidated Income Statement  

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December Note

2015 2014

Revenue 776.7 880.0 5, 26

Other operating income 16.7 23.4 27

Change in inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress 28.0 (0.9)

Raw materials and consumables used (326.7) (375.5) 28

Payroll expenses (139.6) (142.2) 29

Depreciation and amortisation (143.1) (126.2) 5, 6, 8,3 3

Impairment (65.5) - 5, 6, 8, 33

Other operating expenses  (89.3) (72.5) 30

OPERATING PROFIT   57.2 186.1

Financial income 6.3 4.3 31

Financial expenses (10.6) (5.0) 31

Net financial income (expense) (4.3) (0.7) 5, 31

Profit (loss) from associates using equity method 2.5 (2.4) 5, 9, 33

PROFIT BEFORE TAX   55.4 183.0 5

Corporate income tax expense (14.9) (23.7) 32

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  40.5 159.3

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO:  
        Equity holder of the Parent Company 40.5 159.5

 Non-controlling interest - (0.2)

Basic earnings per share (euros) 0.07 0.26 37

Diluted earnings per share (euros) 0.07 0.26 37

The notes on pages 60-127 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income     

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December Note

2015 2014

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  40.5 159.3

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Revaluation of hedging instruments  (30.2) - 21

Currency translation differences attributable to

foreign subsidiaries 5.3 4.9

Other comprehensive income for the year  (24.9) 4.9

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 15.6 164.2

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:  

Equity holder of the Parent Company 15.6 164.4

Non-controlling interest - (0.2)

The notes on pages 60-127 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

in million EUR 31 December Note

2015 2014

ASSETS  

Non-current assets  

    Property, plant and equipment 2,473.9 2,408.5 6

    Intangible assets 41.1 65.6 8

    Investments in associates 4.6 2.0 5, 9

    Derivative financial instruments - 1.7 12, 14, 15

    Long-term receivables 32.9 31.9 13

    Total non-current assets 2,552.5 2,509.7

Current assets  

    Inventories 71.9 40.8 11

    Greenhouse gas allowances 33.5 144.8 16

    Trade and other receivables 99.8 124.3 13

    Derivative financial instruments 40.3 75.7 12, 14, 15

    Deposits not recognised  
    as cash equivalents - 40.0 12, 15, 17

    Cash and cash equivalents 159.8 60.2 12, 15, 18

    Total current assets 405.3 485.8

Total assets  2,957.8 2,995.5 5

in million EUR 31 December Note

2015 2014

EQUITY  

Capital and reserves attributable to 
equity holder of the Parent Company

    Share capital 621.6 621.6 19

    Share premium 259.8 259.8

    Statutory reserve capital 62.1 59.0 19

    Hedge reserve  16.8 47.0 21

    Unrealised exchange rate differences 11.0 5.7

    Retained earnings  599.5 624.0 19

Total equity and reserves attributable 
to equity holder of the Parent Company 1,570.8 1,617.1

Non-controlling interest 1.1 2.3

Total equity 1,571.9 1,619.4

LIABILITIES  

Non-current liabilities 

    Borrowings 932.5 928.0 12, 22

    Other payables 1.2 3.8 23

    Derivate financial instruments - 1.7 12, 14

    Deferred income 171.4 161.7 24

    Provisions 31.0 31.7 25

Total non-current liabilities 1,136.1 1,126.9

Current liabilities  

    Borrowings 19.3 6.9 12, 22

    Trade and other payables 179.0 167.0 23

    Derivative financial instruments 11.8 0.8 12, 14

    Provisions 39.7 74.5 25

    Total current liabilities 249.8 249.2

  

Total liabilities  1,385.9 1,376.1

Total liabilities and equity 2,957.8 2,995.5

The notes on pages 60-127 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The notes on pages 60-127 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows   

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December Note

2015 2014

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 351.1 294.0 33

Interest and loan fees paid (43.9) (37.6)

Interest received 0.5 0.8

Corporate income tax paid - (29.0)

Net cash generated from operating activities 307.7 228.2

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (224.9) (260.2)

Proceeds from connection and other fees 14.0 12.3 24

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 3.0 1.7

Dividends received from associates 1.9 5.6

Net change in deposits not recognised as cash equivalents 40.0 (19.0) 12, 15, 17

Net change in restricted cash 0.6 3.2 13

Loans granted (2.9) (6.1) 38

Proceeds from repurchase of shares and liquidation of associate - 11.6 9

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary - 4.7 35

Net cash used in investing activities (168.3) (246.2)

Cash flows from financing activities

Loans received 30.4 0.4 22

Proceeds from bonds issued - 110.3 22

Repayments of bank loans (6.9) (1.4)

Repayments of other loans (0.2) (0.1)

Dividends paid (61.9) (93.6) 20, 32

Acquisition of non-controlling interest in a subsidiary (1.2) -

Net cash used in financing activities (39.8) 15.6

Net cash flows 99.6 (2.4)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 60.2 62.6 12, 15, 18

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 159.8 60.2 12, 15,18

Net increase/(-)decrease in cash and cash equivalents 99.6 (2.4)

  Consolidated Financial Statements
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in million EUR   Attributable to equity holder of the Company  Non-
controlling

interest

Total
equity

Note

Share capital
(Note 19)

Share
premium

Statutory
reserve
capital

(Note 19)

Other
reserves

Retained 
earnings

(Note 19)

Total

Equity as at 31 December 2013 621.6 259.8 51.0 47.8 566.1 1,546.3 1.4 1,547.7

Profit for the year - - - - 159.5 159.5 (0.2) 159.3

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 4.9 - 4.9 - 4.9

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 4.9 159.5 164.4 (0.2) 164.2

Dividends paid - - - - (93.6) (93.6) - (93.6) 20, 32

Transfer of retained earnings 

to statutory reserve capital - - 8.0 - (8.0) - - -

Increase of non-controlling interest due to

the conversion of subsidiary's debt

into equity - - - - - - 1.1 1.1

Total contributions by and distributions to

owners of the company, recognised directly

in equity - - 8.0 - (101.6) (93.6) 1.1 (92.5)

Equity as at 31 December 2014 621.6 259.8 59.0 52.7 624.0 1,617.1 2.3 1,619.4

Profit for the year - - - - 40.5 40.5 - 40.5

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - (24.9) - (24.9) - (24.9)

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (24.9) 40.5 15.6 - 15.6

Acquisition of non-controlling interest  
of subsidiary - - - - - - (1.2) (1.2) 36

Dividends paid - - - - (61.9) (61.9) - (61.9) 20, 32

Transfer of retained earnings 

to statutory reserve capital - - 3.1 - (3.1) - - -

Total contributions by and distributions to

owners of the company, recognised directly

in equity - - 3.1 - (65.0) (61.9) (1.2) (63.1)

Equity as at 31 December 2015 621.6 259.8 62.1 27.8 599.5 1,570.8 1.1 1,571.9

The notes on pages 60-127 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. General Information

The consolidated financial statements of Eesti Energia Group 
for the year ended 31 December 2015 include the financial 
information concerning Eesti Energia AS (parent company, 
legal form: public limited company) and its subsidiaries (the 
Group) and the Group’s participation in associated entities.

Eesti Energia is an international energy company operating 
in the Baltic Sea region’s energy market and the global oil 
market. Eesti Energia is engaged in mining oil shale, pro-
duction of power, heat and oil, development of oil shale 
refining know-how and technologies as well as provision of 
services and products to customers. The company’s objec-
tive is to enhance Estonia’s primary natural resource in the 
most efficient manner possible and to reduce the ecological 
footprint of the oil shale-based energy sector. Besides oil 
shale, electricity is also generated from wind, water, mixed 
household waste and biomass. Outside Estonia, Eesti Energia 
operates under the Enefit trademark. The Group has invest-
ments in associates which operate in Jordan.

The registered address of the Parent Company is Lelle 22, 
Tallinn 11318, Republic of Estonia.
The sole shareholder of Eesti Energia AS is the Republic  
of Estonia. 
The bonds of Eesti Energia AS are listed on London Stock 
Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements of the Group  
were authorised for issue by the Management Board  

on 22 February 2016. Under the Commercial Code of the 
Republic of Estonia, the annual report must additionally be 
approved by the Supervisory Board of the Parent Com-
pany and authorised for issue by the General Meeting of 
Shareholders.
 

2. Summary of significant accounting  
 policies

The principal accounting policies used in the preparation of 
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. 
These accounting policies have been consistently used for 
all reporting periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have 
been prepared in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRIC Interpretations, as 
adopted by the European Union. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention, except financial assets 
and liabilities (including derivative financial instruments) at 
fair value through profit and loss. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in 
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgement and where 
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assumptions and estimates are significant to the consoli-
dated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
 

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a) Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations
The following new or revised standards and interpretations 
became effective for the Group from 1 January 2015:
- Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012. IFRS 8 was amen-

ded to require (1) disclosure of the judgements made 
by management in aggregating operating segments, 
including a description of the segments which have been 
aggregated and the economic indicators which have 
been assessed in determining that the aggregated seg-
ments share similar economic characteristics, and (2) a 
reconciliation of segment assets to the entity’s assets 
when segment assets are reported.

According to the requirements of the standard additional 
information in the financial statements is disclosed.

There were no other new or revised standards or interpre-
tations that were effective for the first time for the financial 
year beginning on or after 1 January 2015 that had a mate-
rial impact to the Group.

(b) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Certain new or revised standards and interpretations have 
been issued that are mandatory for the Group’s annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, and which 
the Group has not early adopted:
- IFRS 9, Financial Instruments: Classification and Measu-

rement. The standard will be mandatory for the Group 
from 1 January 2018, not yet adopted by the European 
Union. Key features of the new standard are:

1. Financial assets are required to be classified into three 
measurement categories: those to be measured sub-
sequently at amortised cost, those to be measured 
subsequently at fair value through other compre-
hensive income (FVOCI) and those to be measured 
subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). 

2. Classification for debt instruments is driven by the 
entity’s business model for managing the financial 
assets and whether the contractual cash flows repre-
sent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI).  
If a debt instrument is held to collect, it may be carried 
at amortised cost if it also meets the SPPI requirement. 
Debt instruments that meet the SPPI requirement 
that are held in a portfolio where an entity both holds 
to collect assets’ cash flows and sells assets may be 
classified as FVOCI. Financial assets that do not contain 
cash flows that are SPPI must be measured at FVPL 
(for example, derivatives). Embedded derivatives are 
no longer separated from financial assets but will be 
included in assessing the SPPI condition.

3. Investments in equity instruments are always measu-
red at fair value. However, management can make an 
irrevocable election to present changes in fair value 
in other comprehensive income, provided the instru-
ment is not held for trading. If the equity instrument is 
held for trading, changes in fair value are presented 
in profit or loss.

4. Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for classification 
and measurement of financial liabilities were car-
ried forward unchanged to IFRS 9. The key change is 
that an entity will be required to present the effects 
of changes in own credit risk of financial liabilities 
designated at fair value through profit or loss in other 
comprehensive income. 
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5. IFRS 9 introduces a new model for the recognition of 
impairment losses – the expected credit losses (ECL) 
model. There is a ‘three stage’ approach which is based 
on the change in credit quality of financial assets since 
initial recognition. In practice, the new rules mean that 
entities will have to record an immediate loss equal to 
the 12-month ECL on initial recognition of financial 
assets that are not credit impaired (or lifetime ECL for 
trade receivables). Where there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk, impairment is measured using 
lifetime ECL rather than 12-month ECL. The model 
includes operational simplifications for lease and trade 
receivables.

6. Hedge accounting requirements were amended to 
align accounting more closely with risk management. 
The standard provides entities with an accounting 
policy choice between applying the hedge accounting 
requirements of IFRS 9 and continuing to apply IAS 
39 to all hedges because the standard currently does 
not address accounting for macro hedging.

The standard may have an effect on the classification of 
Group’s financial instruments and value measurement. 

- Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements - Amend-
ments to IAS 27. The amendments will be mandatory for 
the Group from 1 January 2016. The amendments will 
allow entities to use the equity method to account for 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 
in their separate financial statements. The application of 
the amendments enables in the parent company’s sepa-
rate financial statements to transfer from the use of the 
cost method to the use of the equity method to account 
for investments in subsidiaries and associates. The Group 
has not decided whether to apply the amendments yet.

- Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 
its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments to IFRS 10 
and IAS 28. The effective date will be determined by the 
IASB, the amendments are not yet adopted by the EU. 
These amendments address an inconsistency between 
the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28 in 
dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between 
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The main 
consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or 
loss is recognised when a transaction involves a business. 
A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction 
involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if 
these assets are held by a subsidiary and the shares of 
the subsidiary are transferred during the transaction. The 
amendments may have an effect on the recognition of 
the Group’s transactions with the associates.

- Disclosure Initiative – Amendments to IAS 1. The amend-
ments will be mandatory for the Group from 1 January 
2016. The Standard was amended to clarify the concept 
of materiality, aggregation of information, presentation 
of subtotals, the structure of financial statements and 
disclosure of accounting policies. The amendments may 
have an effect on disclosing information in the financial 
statements.

- IFRS 16, Leases. The standard will be effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, not yet 
adopted by the EU. The new standard sets out the 
principles for the recognition, measurement, presen-
tation and disclosure of leases. All leases result in the 
lessee obtaining the right to use an asset at the start of 
the lease and, if lease payments are made over time, 
also obtaining financing. Accordingly, IFRS 16 eliminates 
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the classification of leases as either operating leases 
or finance leases as is required by IAS 17 and, instead, 
introduces a single lessee accounting model. Lessees will 
be required to recognise: (a) assets and liabilities for all 
leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the 
underlying asset is of low value; and (b) depreciation of 
lease assets separately from interest on lease liabilities 
in the income statement. IFRS 16 substantially carries 
forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17. 
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as 
operating leases or finance leases, and to account for 
those two types of leases differently. The standard will 
have an effect on recognising the expenses, assets and 
liabilities arising from operating lease contracts in the 
financial statements.

There are no other new or revised standards or interpre-
tations that are not yet effective that would be expected to 
have a material impact on the Group.

2.3 Consolidation

(a) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. 
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, 
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with 
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group 
and are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for 
business combinations. The consideration transferred for 
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of 

the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. 
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any 
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination 
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree on an acquisition-by acquisition basis, either at 
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate 
share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable 
net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acqui-
sition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at 
the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such 
re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group 
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent 
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that 
is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accor-
dance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to 
other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that 
is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggre-
gate of the consideration transferred and the fair value of 
non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the consideration is lower 
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acqui-
red, the difference is recognized in profit or loss.
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In preparation of consolidated financial statements, the 
financial statements of the Parent Company and its subsidia-
ries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis. In preparation 
of consolidated financial statements, inter-company trans-
actions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions 
between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses 
are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by 
subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s 
accounting policies. 

In the Parent Company’s separate financial statements the 
investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less 
impairment. 

(b) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without 
change of control
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result 
in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions – 
that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as 
owners. The difference between fair value of any conside-
ration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying 
value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. 
Gains and losses on disposals to non-controlling interests 
are also recorded in equity. 

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries
When the Group ceases to have control any retained inte-
rest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date 
when the control is lost, with the change in carrying amount 
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying 
amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the 
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial 
asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are 
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the 

related assets and liabilities. This may mean that amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss.

(d) Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has signi-
ficant influence but not control, generally accompanying a 
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. 
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost, and 
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise 
the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after 
the date of acquisition. The Group’s investment in associates 
includes goodwill identified on acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but sig-
nificant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of 
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits 
or losses is recognised in the income statement and its 
share of post-acquisition movements in the associates’ 
other comprehensive income is recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to 
the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s 
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest 
in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, 
the Group does not recognise any further losses, unless 
it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there 
is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate 
is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the 
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amount of impairment as the difference between the reco-
verable amount of the associate and is carrying value and 
recognises the amount adjacent to “Share of other profit/
loss of the associates” in the income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downst-
ream transactions between the Group and its associate are 
recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the 
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transfer-
red. Accounting policies of associates have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group.

2.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who 
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing per-
formance of the operating segments, is the Management 
Board of the Parent Company. 

2.5 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the 
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity ope-
rates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in euros, which is the functional 
currency of the parent company and presentation currency 
of the Group. The financial statements have been rounded 
to the nearest million, unless stated otherwise. 

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functio-
nal currency using the official exchange rates of the European 
Central Bank prevailing at the dates of the transactions or 
valuation where items are re-measured. When the European 
Central Bank does not quote a particular currency, the official 
exchange rate against the Euro of the central bank issuing 
the currency is used as the basis. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transac-
tions are recognised in the income statement. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated using the official exchange rate of the European 
Central Bank prevailing at the balance sheet date or on the 
basis of the official exchange rate of the central bank of the 
country issuing the foreign currency when the European 
Central Bank does not quote the particular currency. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses from translation are recognised 
in the income statement, except for gains and losses from 
the revaluation of cash flow hedging instruments recog-
nised as effective hedges, which are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents 
are presented as finance income and costs; other foreign 
exchange gains and losses are presented as other operating 
income or other operating expenses. 

(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of the subsidiaries that 
have a functional currency different from the presentation 
currency are translated into the presentation currency as 
follows:
- assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate of 

the European Central Bank at the date of that balance 
sheet;
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- income and expenses are translated at average exc-
hange rates of the period (unless this average is not a 
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the 
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case 
income and expenses are translated at the rate on the 
dates of the transactions); and

- all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition 
of a foreign subsidiary are treated as assets and liabilities 
of the foreign subsidiary and translated at the closing rate. 
Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comp-
rehensive income.

None of the subsidiaries in the Group operates in a hyper-inf-
lationary economy.

2.6 Classification of assets and liabilities as current 
or non-current

Assets and liabilities are classified in the statement of 
financial position as current or non-current. Assets expected 
to be disposed of during the next financial year or during 
the normal operating cycle of the Group are considered 
as current. Liabilities whose due date is during the next 
financial year or that are expected to be settled during the 
next financial year or during the normal operating cycle of 
the Group are considered as current. All other assets and 
liabilities are classified as non-current.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (PPE) are tangible items 
that are used in the operating activities of the Group with 

an expected useful life of over one year. Property, plant and 
equipment are presented in the statement of financial posi-
tion at historical cost less any accumulated depreciation and 
any impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
The cost of purchased non-current assets comprises the 
purchase price, transportation costs, installation, and other 
direct expenses related to the acquisition or implementation 
of the asset. The cost of the self-constructed items of pro-
perty, plant and equipment includes the cost of materials, 
services and payroll expenses. 

If an item of property, plant and equipment consists of 
components with significantly different useful lives, these 
components are depreciated as separate items of property, 
plant and equipment. 

When the construction of an item of property, plant and 
equipment lasts for a substantial period of time and is funded 
with a loan or other debt instrument, the related borrowing 
costs (interest) are capitalised in the cost of the item being 
constructed. Borrowing costs are capitalised if the borrowing 
costs and expenditures for the asset have been incurred and 
the construction of the asset has commenced. Capitalisa-
tion of borrowing costs is ceased when the construction of 
the asset is completed or when the construction has been 
suspended for an extended period of time. 

Subsequent expenditures incurred for items of property, 
plant and equipment are included in the carrying amount of 
the item of property, plant and equipment or are recogni-
sed as a separate asset only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the assets will flow to the 
Group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 
The replaced component or proportion of the replaced item 
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of PPE is de-recognised. Costs related to ongoing main-
tenance and repairs are charged to the income statement.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is 
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their 
cost to their residual values over their estimated useful 
lives, as follows: 
 
Buildings   30–40 years

Facilities, including

    electricity lines 12.5–50 years

    other facilities    10–60 years

Machinery and equipment, including

    transmission equipment   5–45 years

    power plant equipment   7–32 years

    other machinery and equipment   3–30 years

Other property, plant and equipment   3–10 years

The expected useful lives of items of property, plant and 
equipment are reviewed during the annual stocktaking, 
when subsequent expenditures are recognised and in the 
case of significant changes in development plans. When the 
estimated useful life of an asset differs significantly from the 
previous estimate, it is treated as a change in the accoun-
ting estimate, and the remaining useful life of the asset is 
changed, as a result of which the depreciation charge of 
the following periods also changes. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down to its recoverable 
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

To determine the gains and losses from the sale of pro-
perty, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the 
assets sold is subtracted from the proceeds. The resulting 

gains and losses are recognised in the income statement 
items under “Other operating income” or “Other operating 
expenses” respectively.

2.8 Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognised in the statement of financial 
position only if the following conditions are met:
- the asset is controlled by the Group;
- it is probable that the future economic benefits that are 

attributable to the asset will flow to the Group;
- the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 
Intangible assets (except for goodwill) are amortised using 
the straight-line method over the useful life of the asset.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment if there are any 
impairment indicators, similarly to the testing of impair-
ment for items of property, plant and equipment (except 
for goodwill). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives 
and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment annually by comparing their carrying amount 
with their recoverable amount.

(a) Goodwill
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is not subject to 
amortisation. Instead, for the purpose of impairment testing, 
goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and an impair-
ment test is performed at the end of each reporting period 
(or more frequently if an event or change in circumstances 
demands it). The allocation is made to those cash-genera-
ting units that are expected to benefit from the synergies 
of the business combination in which the goodwill arose. 
Goodwill is allocated to a cash generating unit or a group 
of units, not larger than an operating segment. Goodwill is 
written down to its recoverable amount when this is lower 
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than the carrying amount. Impairment losses on goodwill 
are not subsequently reversed. Goodwill is reported in the 
statement of financial position at the carrying amount (cost 
less any impairment losses) (Note 2.9). When determining 
gains and losses on the disposal of a subsidiary, the carrying 
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold is regarded as 
part of the carrying amount of the subsidiary.

(b) Development costs
Development costs are costs that are incurred in applying 
research findings for the development of specific new pro-
ducts or processes. Development costs are capitalised if 
all of the criteria for recognition specified in IAS 38 have 
been met. Capitalised development costs are amortised 
over the period during which the products are expected 
to be used. Expenses related to starting up a new business 
unity, research carried out for collecting new scientific or 
technical information and training costs are not capitalised.

(c) Contractual rights
Contractual rights acquired in a business combination are 
recognised at fair value on acquisition and are subsequently 
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation. Contrac-
tual rights are amortised using the straight-line basis over 
the expected duration of the contractual right. 

(d) Computer software
Costs associated with the ongoing maintenance of computer 
software programs are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Acquired computer software which is not an integral part of 
the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. 
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design 
and testing of identifiable software products controlled by 
the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the 
following criteria are met: 

- it is technically feasible to complete the software product 
so that it will be available for use;

- management intends to complete the software product 
and use it;

- there is an ability to use the software product;
- it can be demonstrated how the software product will 

generate probable future economic benefits;
- adequate technical, financial and other resources for 

completing the development and using the software 
product are available;

- the expenditure attributable to the software product 
during its development can be reliably measured.

Capitalised software development costs include payroll 
expenses and an appropriate portion of related overheads. 
Other development expenditures that do not meet these 
criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. Deve-
lopment costs previously recognised as an expense are 
not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. Com-
puter software development costs are amortised over their 
estimated useful lives (not exceeding 15 years) using the 
straight-line method.

(e) Right of use of land
Payments made for rights of superficies and servitudes 
meeting the criteria for recognition as intangible assets are 
recognised as intangible assets. The costs related to rights 
of use of land are depreciated according to the contract 
period, not exceeding 99 years.  

(f) Greenhouse gas emission allowances
Greenhouse gas emission allowances controllable by the 
Group are accounted for as current asset. Greenhouse gas 
emission allowances received from the state free of charge 
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are recognised at zero cost. Any additionally purchased 
allowances are recognised at purchase cost or at the mar-
ket price, if the Group has acquired the greenhouse gas 
emission allowances more than presumably needed and 
the Group has a plan to sell the allowances. The provision 
for greenhouse gas emissions is set up in the average price 
of the greenhouse gas emission allowances that are owned 
by the Group or that will be allocated to the Group free of 
charge (Note 2.24).

(g) Exploration and evaluation assets of mineral resources
Expenditures that are included in the initial measurement 
of exploration and evaluation assets include the acquisition 
of rights to explore; topographical, geological, geochemical 
and geophysical studies; exploratory drilling; sampling and 
activities related to evaluation of the technical feasibility and 
economic viability of extracting a mineral resource. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are initially recognised at 
cost. Depending on the nature of the asset, the exploration 
and evaluation assets are classified as intangible assets or 
items of property, plant and equipment. Expenditure on the 
construction, installation and completion of infrastructure 
facilities is capitalised within items of property, plant and 
equipment, other exploration and evaluation assets are recog-
nised as intangible assets. After initial recognition, exploration 
and evaluation assets are measured using the cost model.

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment 
(Note 2.9) when one or more of the following circumstances 
are present:
- the period for which the Group has the right to explore 

in the specific area has expired during the period or 
will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be 
renewed;

- substantive expenditure on future exploration for and 
evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is 
neither budgeted nor planned;

- exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the 
specific area have not led to the discovery of commercially 
viable quantities of mineral resources and the Group has 
decided to discontinue such activities in the specific area;

-  sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a develop-
ment in the specific area is likely to proceed, the carrying 
amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely 
to be recovered in full from successful development or 
by sale.

(h) Mining rights
Mining rights controllable by the Group are accounted for 
as current or non-current intangible assets depending on 
the expected realisation period. Mining rights received from 
the state free of charge are recognised at zero cost. The 
fee for extracted natural resources that is paid according 
to the volume of natural resources extracted is recognised 
in expenses as incurred (Note 2.22).

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have indefinite useful lives (for example goodwill or 
intangible assets not ready to use) are not subject to amorti-
sation but are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are 
subject to amortisation/depreciation and land are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s:
- fair value less costs of disposal; and
- value in use.
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If the fair value of the asset less costs to sell cannot be 
determined reliably, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
its value in use. The value in use is calculated by discounting 
the expected future cash flows generated by the asset to 
their present value. 
An impairment test is carried out if any of the following 
indicators of impairment exist: 
- the market value of similar assets has decreased;
- the general economic environment and the market situa-

tion have worsened, and therefore it is likely that the 
future cash flows generated by assets will decrease;

- market interest rates have increased;
- the physical condition of the assets has considerably 

deteriorated;
- revenue generated by assets is lower than expected;
- results of some operating areas are worse than expected;
- the activities of a certain cash generating unit are planned 

to be terminated.
If the Group identifies any other evidence of impairment, 
an impairment test is performed. 

Impairment tests are performed either for an individual 
asset or group of assets (cash-generating unit). A cash-ge-
nerating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets 
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are 
largely independent of the cash inflows generated by other 
assets or groups of assets. An impairment loss is recognised 
immediately as an expense in the income statement.

At the end of each reporting period, it is assessed whether 
there is any indication that the impairment loss recognised 
in the prior periods for an asset other than goodwill may no 
longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. According to 
the results of the estimate, the impairment loss can be 

partially or wholly reversed. An impairment loss recognised 
for goodwill shall not be reversed in a subsequent period. 
 

2.10 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) 
held-for-sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as 
assets held for sale when their carrying amount is to be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than 
through continuing use, and a sale is considered highly 
probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying amount 
and fair value less costs to sell.

2.11 Financial assets

2.11.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following 
categories: at fair value through profit or loss and loans 
and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose 
for which the financial assets were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
financial assets held for trading, acquired for the purpose 
of selling in the short term. Derivatives are also recognised 
at fair value through profit or loss unless they are designated 
and effective hedging instruments. Assets in this category 
are classified as current assets.

(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. Loans and receivables are included in 

  Consolidated Financial Statements



71

Ee
st

i E
n
e
rg

ia
 A

n
n
u
al

 R
e
p
o

rt
  
2

0
1

5

Contents

current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as 
non-current assets. The Group’s loans and receivables are 
included in the statement of financial position lines “Cash 
and cash equivalents”, “Deposits at banks with maturities 
of more than three months”, “Trade and other receivables”.  

2.11.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recog-
nised or de-recognised using the trade-date accounting 
method. Investments which are not carried at fair value 
through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value 
plus transaction costs. Financial assets carried at fair value 
through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, 
and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. 
Financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive 
cash flows from the investments have expired or have been 
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried 
at fair value. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of 
the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
presented in the income statement line “Net financial income 
(-expense)” in the period in which they arise or are incurred 
(Note 31). Interest income on available-for-sale financial 
assets and on loans and receivables is reported in the income 
statement line “Financial income” (Note 31). The Group has 
not received any interest income or dividend income on 
financial assets recognised at fair value through profit or 
loss in the current and comparative reporting period. 

The fair values of quoted investments are based on the bid 
prices prevailing at the end of the reporting period. To find 
the fair value of unquoted financial assets, various valuation 
techniques are used. Depending on the type of financial 
asset, these include the listed market prices of instruments 
that are substantially the same, quotes by intermediaries and 
estimated cash flow analysis. The Group uses several different 
measures and makes assumptions which are based on the 
market conditions at the end of each reporting period. The 
fair value of derivatives is based on the quotes of exchange 
as far as possible

2.12 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there 
is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable 
right must not be contingent on future events and must be 
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the 
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company 
or the counterparty.

2.13 Impairment of financial assets

Assets carried at amortised cost
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment 
losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset (a loss event) and 
that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated 
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future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial 
assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the 
debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant 
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or princi-
pal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy 
or other financial reorganisation, and where observable data 
indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic 
conditions that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables category the amount of the loss 
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest 
rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the 
amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement. If a loan or held-to-maturity investment has a 
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any 
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determi-
ned under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group 
may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s 
fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised 
(such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the 
reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is 
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

2.14 Derivative financial instruments and hedging 
activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date 
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
re-measured at their fair value. The method for recognising 
the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the deriva-
tive is designated as a hedging instrument, and if it is, the 
nature of the item being hedged. The Group uses cash flow 
hedging instruments in order to hedge the risk of changes 
of the prices of shale oil and electricity. 

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction 
the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged 
items, and also its risk management objectives and strategy 
for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also 
documents its assessment and tests, both at hedge inception 
and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are 
used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting 
changes in the cash flows of the hedged items. 

The fair values of derivative financial instruments used for 
hedging purposes are disclosed in Note 14. Movements 
on the hedge reserve in other comprehensive income are 
disclosed in Note 21. The full fair value of hedging deri-
vatives is classified as a non-current asset or liability when 
the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 
months and as a current asset or liability when the remai-
ning maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. 
Derivatives held for trading are classified as current assets 
or liabilities.

(a) Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivati-
ves (for options only the intrinsic value) that are designated 
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and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comp-
rehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective 
portion is recognised immediately in the income statement 
as a net amount within other operating income or operating 
expenses.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit 
or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit 
or loss (for instance, when the forecast sale that is hedged 
takes place).  
 
When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a 
hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, 
any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time 
remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast trans-
action is ultimately recognised in the income statement. 
When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is 
immediately recognised as other operating income or ope-
rating expenses in the income statement.

Hedging instruments, which are combined from various 
components of derivative instruments, are recognised at fair 
value with changes through profit or loss until the acquisition 
of all components.
    
(b) Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss
Derivatives which are not designated as hedging instruments 
are carried at fair value through profit or loss. The gains 
and losses arising from changes in the fair value of such 
derivatives are included within other operating income or 
operating expenses in the income statement. 

(c) Derivatives at own use
Derivative contracts that are entered into use and continue 
to be held for the purpose of the receipt of the underlying 
commodity in accordance with the Group’s expected purc-
hase requirements are accounted for as regular purchases of 
underlying commodities. For example, any future contracts 
for buying greenhouse gas emissions allowances that are 
necessary for the Group’s electricity production purposes 
are not recognised as derivatives on the balance sheet; the 
emissions allowances purchased are recognised as intan-
gible assets when settlement of future contract occurs and 
emissions allowances are transferred to the Group. Any 
payments made to the counterparty before the settlement 
date are recognised as prepayments for intangible assets. 
 
If the terms of the contracts permit either party to settle it 
net in cash or another financial instrument or the commodity 
that is the subject of the contracts is readily convertible to 
cash, the contracts are evaluated to see if they qualify for 
own use treatment. Contracts that do not qualify for own 
use treatment, are accounted for as derivatives as descri-
bed above

2.15 Inventories

Inventories are stated in the statement of financial position 
at the lower of cost or net realisable value. The weighted 
average method is used to expense inventories. The cost of 
finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, 
direct labour, other direct costs and related production over-
heads (based on normal operating capacity), but it excludes 
borrowing costs. The cost of raw and other materials consists 
of the purchase price, expenditure on transportation and 
other costs directly related to the purchase. 
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Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling 
expenses.

2.16 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for 
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary 
course of business.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effec-
tive interest rate method, less provision for impairment. A 
provision for the impairment of trade receivables is estab-
lished when there is objective evidence that the Group 
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to 
the original terms of receivables. Significant financial dif-
ficulties of the debtor, the probability that the debtor will 
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or 
delinquency in payments (more than 90 days overdue) are 
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. 
Material receivables are assessed individually. The rest of 
the receivables are collectively assessed for impairment, 
using previous years’ experience of impairment which is 
adjusted to take account of current conditions. The amount 
of the provision is the difference between the asset’s car-
rying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is 
recognised in the income statement within other operating 
expenses. When a receivable is classified as uncollectible, 
it is written off against the allowance account for trade 
receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 

written off are credited in the income statement against 
other operating expenses.

If collection is expected within one year or less, the receivab-
les are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented 
as non-current assets. Long-term receivables from custo-
mers are recognised at the present value of the collectible 
amount. The difference between the nominal value and the 
present value of the collectible receivable is recognised 
as interest income during the period remaining until the 
maturity date using the effective interest rate.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include bank account balances 
and cash in transit as well as short-term highly liquid invest-
ments in banks.

2.18 Share capital and statutory reserve capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. No preference 
shares have been issued. Unavoidable incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares are 
shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds. Shares 
approved at the General Meeting but not yet registered in 
the Commercial Registry are recognised in the equity line 
“Unregistered share capital”.

The Commercial Code requires the Parent Company to set 
up statutory reserve capital from annual net profit allocations, 
the minimum amount of which is 1/10 of share capital. The 
amount of allocation to annual statutory reserve capital is 
1/20 of the net profit of the financial year until the reserve 
reaches the limit set for reserve capital. Reserve capital 
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may be used to cover a loss that cannot be covered from 
distributable equity, or to increase share capital.
 

2.19 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services 
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business 
from suppliers. Accounts payables are classified as current 
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they 
are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are 
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

2.20 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of 
transaction costs incurred, and are subsequently carried at 
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net 
of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised 
in the income statement over the period of the borrowing 
using the effective interest method. 

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recog-
nised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is 
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. 
In this case, the fee is deferred and treated as a transaction 
cost when the draw-down occurs. 

Borrowings are recognised as current liabilities unless the 
Group has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of reporting 
period.

2.21 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial 
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, 
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the 
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment 
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qua-
lifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible 
for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in 
the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalised borrowing costs are recognised in the state-
ment of cash flows under item “Interest and loan fees paid”.

2.22 Taxation

(a) Corporate income tax on dividends in Estonia
Under the Income Tax Act, the annual profit earned by enti-
ties is not taxed in Estonia. Corporate income tax is paid on 
dividends, fringe benefits, gifts, donations, costs of enter-
taining guests, non-business related disbursements and 
adjustments of the transfer price. From 1 January 2008 
until 31 December 2014, the tax rate on the net dividends 
paid out of retained earnings was 21/79. From 1 January 
2015, the tax rate on the net dividends paid out of retained 
earnings is 20/80. In certain circumstances, it is possible 
to distribute dividends without any additional income tax 
expense. The corporate income tax arising from the payment 
of dividends is accounted for as a liability and expense in 
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the period in which dividends are declared, regardless of the 
actual payment date or the period for which the dividends 
are paid. The income tax liability is due on the 10th day of 
the month following the payment of dividends.

Due to the nature of the taxation system, the entities regis-
tered in Estonia do not have any differences between the 

(b) Other taxes in Estonia

The following taxes had an effect on the Group’s expenses:

tax bases of assets and their carrying amounts and hence,  
no deferred income tax assets and liabilities arise. A contin-
gent income tax liability which would arise upon the payment 
of dividends is not recognised in the statement of financial 
position. The maximum income tax liability which would 
accompany the distribution of retained earnings is disclosed 
in the notes to the financial statement.

Tax Tax rate

Social security tax 33% of the payroll paid to employees and of fringe benefits

Unemployment insurance tax 0.8% of the payroll paid to employees (in 2014 1.0%)

Fringe benefit income tax 20/80 of fringe benefits paid to employees (in 2014 21/79 of fringe benefits paid to employees)

Pollution charges Paid for contamination of the air, water, ground water, soil and waste storage, and based on tonnage  
and type of waste

Fee for extraction right for oil shale 1.53 euros per tonne of oil shale extracted (in 2014 1.46 euros per tonne of oil shale extracted) 

Water utilisation charges 1.59-168.40 euros per 1000 m3 of pond or ground water used (in 2014 1.59-160.35 euros per 1000 m3  
of pond or ground water used).

Land tax 0.1–2.5% on taxable value of land per annum

Tax on heavy trucks 3.50 – 232.60 euros per truck per quarter 

Excise tax on electricity 4.47 euros per MWh of electricity 

Excise tax on natural gas 28.14 euros per 1000 m3 of natural gas (in 2014 23.45 euros per 1000 m3 of natural gas)

Excise tax on shale oil 15.01 euros per 1000 kg of shale oil

Excise tax on oil shale 0.30 euros per giga-joule 

Corporate income tax on non-business related  
expenses

20/80 on non-business related expenses (in 2014 21/79 on non-business related expenses)

  Consolidated Financial Statements

(c) Income tax rates in foreign countries in which the Group operates

Latvia Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate of 15%

Lithuania Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate of 15%

Germany Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate of 28.425% (corporate and trade tax combined)

USA Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate of 35%

Jordan Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate of 24%. Jordan Oil Shale Energy is fully and Attarat Power company  
in the 75% extent exempted from income tax according to the contracts concluded with the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.

Netherlands Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate of 25%



77

Ee
st

i E
n
e
rg

ia
 A

n
n
u
al

 R
e
p
o

rt
  
2

0
1

5

Contents

(d) Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is recognised in foreign subsidiaries 
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the con-
solidated financial statements. Deferred income tax assets 
and liabilities are recognised under the liability method. 
Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from 
the initial recognition of goodwill; deferred income tax is 
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an 
asset and liability in a transaction other than a business 
combination  that at the time of the transaction affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred 
income tax is determined using tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet 
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred 
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax 
liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible 
temporary differences arising from investments in subsi-
diaries and associates only to the extent that it is probable 
the temporary difference will reverse in the future and 
there is sufficient taxable profit available against which the 
temporary difference can be utilised.

As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, the 
Group had neither any deferred income tax assets nor 
deferred income tax liabilities

2.23 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits include wages and salaries 
as well as social security taxes, benefits related to the tem-
porary halting of the employment contract (holiday pay or 

other similar pay) when it is assumed that the temporary 
halting of the employment contract will occur within 12 
months from the end of the period in which the employee 
worked, and other benefits payable after the end of the 
period during which the employee worked.

If during the reporting period the employee has provided 
services in return for which benefits are expected to be 
paid, the Group will set up a liability (accrued expense) for 
the amount of the forecast benefit, from which all paid 
amounts are deducted.

Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are payable when employment is ter-
minated by the Group before the normal retirement date, 
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy 
in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises ter-
mination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: 
(a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of 
those benefits; and (b) when the Group recognises costs 
for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and 
involves the payment of termination benefits. In the case 
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the 
termination benefits are measured based on the number 
of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling 
due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period are discounted to their present value. Redundancy 
provisions are set up for redundancies occurring in the 
course of restructuring (Note 2.24).

Other employee benefits
Provisions have been set up to cover the benefits arising 
from collective agreements and other agreements and the 
compensation for work-related injuries (Note 2.24). 
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2.24 Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required 
to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably 
estimated. Provisions are measured at the present value 
of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using an interest rate that reflects current mar-
ket assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due 
to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense. 

Provisions are recognised based on management’s esti-
mates. If required, independent experts may be involved. 
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the like-
lihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is 
determined by considering the class of obligations as a 
whole. Although the likelihood of an outflow of resources 
may be small for any individual item, it may be probable 
that some outflow of resources will be needed to settle 
the class of obligations as a whole. If that is the case, the 
provision is recognised (if the other recognition criteria 
are met).

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and adjusted to reflect current best estimates. The costs 
related to setting up provisions are charged to operating 
expenses or are included within the acquisition cost of an 
item of property, plant and equipment when the provision is 
related to the dismantlement, removal or restoration or other 
obligation, incurred either when the item is acquired or as a 
consequence of use of the item during a particular period.

Provisions are used only to cover the expenses for which 
they were set up.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the 
reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, 
it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if 
the Group settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall 
be treated as a separate asset. The amount of the reim-
bursement may not exceed the amount of the provision.

(a) Provisions for post-employment benefits and work- 
related injury compensation
If the Group has the obligation to pay post-employment 
benefits to their former employees, a provision is set up 
to cover these costs. The provision is based on the terms 
of the obligation and the estimated number of people 
eligible for the compensation.

Provisions for work-related injuries are recognised to  
cover expenditure related to future payments to former 
employees according to court orders over the estimated 
period of such an obligation.

(b) Environmental protection provisions
Environmental protection provisions are recognised to 
cover environmental damages that have occurred before 
the end of the reporting period when this is required by 
law or when the Group’s past environmental policies have 
demonstrated that the Group has a constructive present 
obligation to liquidate this environmental damage. Experts’ 
opinions and prior experience in performing environmental 
work are used to set up the provisions.
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(c) Provisions for the termination of mining operations
Provisions for the termination of mining operations are 
set up to cover the costs related to the closing of mines 
and quarries, if it is required by law. Experts’ opinion and 
prior experience gained from the termination of mining 
operations is used to set up the provisions.

(d) Provision for termination benefits
Provisions for termination benefits have been recognised 
to cover the costs related to employee redundancy if the 
Group has announced a restructuring plan, identifying the 
expenditure, the business or part of a business concerned, 
the principal locations affected, the location, function and 
approximate number of employees who will be compen-
sated for termination of their services, the timing of the 
implementation of the plan; and if the Group has raised 
a valid expectation among those affected that it will carry 
out the restructuring by starting to implement that plan 
or announcing its main features to those affected by it.
 
(e) Provision for the dismantling cost of assets
The provisions for the dismantling of assets are set up to 
cover the estimated costs relating to the future dismantling 
of assets if the dismantling of assets is required by law or if 
the Group’s past practice has demonstrated that the Group 
has a present constructive obligation to incur these costs. 
The present value of the dismantling costs of assets is 
included within the cost of property, plant and equipment.

(f) Provisions for greenhouse gas emissions
A provision for greenhouse gas emissions is set up in the 
average price of the greenhouse gas emission allowances 
that are owned by the Group or that will be allocated to 
the Group free of charge to meet the obligations arising 
from legislation relating to greenhouse gas emissions. 

When the Group surrenders the greenhouse gas emission 
allowances to the state for the greenhouse gases emitted, 
both the provision and the intangible assets are reduced 
by equal quantities and amounts (Note 2.8). 

(g) Provisions for onerous contracts
A provision for onerous contract is set up if the Group 
has concluded a contract in which the unavoidable costs 
of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the 
economic benefits expected to be received under it. The 
provision is set up in the amount which is the lower of 
the cost of fulfilling it (revenues received less expenses 
occurred of fulfilling the contract) and any compensation 
or penalties arising from failure to fulfill it.

(h) Provision for obligations arising from treaties
Provision for obligations arising from treaties is set up to 
meet the obligations arising from treaties, in which reali-
sation of timing or amount is uncertain.

2.25 Contingent liabilities 

Possible obligations where it is not probable that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle the obligation, or 
where the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
with sufficient reliability, but which may become in certain 
circumstances liabilities, are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements as contingent liabilities. 

2.26 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable for the sale of goods and provision 
of services in the ordinary course of business. Revenue 
is shown net of value-added tax and discounts after the 
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elimination of intra-group transactions. Revenue is recog-
nised only when the amount of revenue can be reliably 
measured and it is probable that future economic bene-
fits will flow to the Group, all significant risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership have been transferred from the 
seller to the buyer, and the additional criteria presented 
below have been met. The amount of revenue can be 
measured reliably only when all the conditions related to 
the transaction are evident.

(a) Sale of electricity and grid services
Revenue is recognised on the basis of meter readings of 
customers. Meter readings are reported by customers, read 
by remote counter reading systems based on actual con-
sumption, or estimated based on past consumption patterns. 
Additionally, estimates are made of the potential impact of 
readings either not reported or incorrectly reported by the 
end of the reporting period, resulting in a more precise 
estimation of the actual consumption and sale of electricity. 

(b) Recognition of connection fees 
When connecting to the electricity network, the clients 
must pay a connection fee based on the actual costs of 
infrastructure to be built in order to connect them to the 
network. The revenue from connection fees is deferred 
and recognised as income over the estimated average 
useful lives of assets acquired for the connections. The 
average amortisation period of connection fees is 32 years. 
Deferred connection fees are carried in the statement of 
financial position as long-term deferred income. 

(c) Revenue recognition under the stage of completion 
method
Revenue from unfinished and finished but undelivered ser-
vices is recognised using the stage of completion method. 

Under this method, contract revenue and profit is recog-
nised in the proportion and in the accounting periods in 
which the contract costs associated with the service contract 
were incurred. Unbilled but recognised revenue is recorded 
as accrued income in the statement of financial position. 
Where progress billings at the end of the reporting period 
exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits, the balance 
is shown as due to customers on construction contracts, 
under accrued expenses.

(d) Interest income
Interest income is recognised when it is probable that 
the economic benefits associated with the transaction 
will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be 
measured reliably. Interest income is recognised using 
the effective interest rate, unless the receipt of interest is 
uncertain. In such cases the interest income is accounted 
for on a cash basis. 

(e) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the Group has estab-
lished the right to receive payment.

2.27 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at fair value, when there 
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and 
the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Grants 
are recognised as income over the periods necessary to 
match them with the costs which they are intended to 
compensate.

Assets acquired through government grants are initially 
recognised in the statement of financial position at cost. The 
amount received as a government grant is recognised as 
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deferred income related to the government grant. Related 
assets are depreciated and the grant is recognised as income 
over the estimated useful life of the depreciable asset.

2.28 Leases

A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the 
lessee the right to use an asset for an agreed period of 
time in return for a payment or series of payments. Leases 
which transfer all significant risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership to the lessee are classified as finance leases. 
Other leases are classified as operating leases.

(a) The Group as the lessee
Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives 
received from the lessor) are charged to the income state-
ment on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(b) The Group as the lessor
The accounting policies for items of property, plant and 
equipment are applied to assets leased out under operating 
lease terms. Rental income is recognised in the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

2.29 Dividend distribution

Dividends are recognised as a reduction of retained ear-
nings and a payable to shareholders at the moment the 
dividends are announced. 

2.30 Related party transactions

For the purposes of preparing the consolidated financial 
statements, the related parties include the associates of 
the Group, the members of the Supervisory and Mana-
gement Boards of Eesti Energia AS and other individuals 
and entities who can control or significantly influence the 

Group’s financial and operating decisions. As the shares of 
Eesti Energia AS belong 100% to the Republic of Estonia, 
the related parties also include entities under the control 
or significant influence of the state.

3. Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risks

The Group’s activities are accompanied by a variety of 
financial risks: market risk (which includes currency risk, 
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk and price risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk mana-
gement programme focuses on the unpredictability of 
financial markets and seeks to minimise adverse effects on 
the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses deriva-
tive financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures. 

The purpose of financial risk management is to mitigate 
financial risks and minimise the volatility of financial results. 
The risk and internal audit department under the Chair-
man of the Management Board  and auditing committee 
is engaged in risk management and is responsible for the 
development, implementation and maintenance of the 
Group’s risk management system. The Group’s financial 
risks are managed in accordance with the principles estab-
lished by the Management Board at the Group level. The 
Group’s liquidity, interest rate and currency risks are mana-
ged in the finance department of the Parent Company.

3.1.1 Market risks

3.1.1.1 Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of financial inst-
ruments or cash flows will fluctuate in the future due to 
exchange rate changes. The financial assets and liabilities 
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denominated in euros are considered to be free of cur-
rency risk. All long-term borrowings and electricity export 
contracts are also concluded in euros to avoid currency risk. 

The Group’s main currency risk arises in connection with 
the part of the sales transactions of shale oil denominated 
in US dollars that is not hedged with future transactions 
(Note 14). In addition, a few other procurement and other 
contracts have been concluded in a currency other than the 
functional currency of the Group companies. The majority 
of these transactions included the transactions concluded 
in US dollars. 

At the end of reporting period, the Group had the following 
balances of financial assets and liabilities denominated in 
US dollars. 

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 18) 0.1 0.2

Trade and other receivables 36.3 37.4

Trade and other payables 0.1 0.5

Had the US dollar’s exchange rate at 31 December 2015 
been 12% (31 December 2014: 13%) higher or lower 
(with other factors remaining constant), the Group’s profit 
for the financial year would have been EUR  4.5 million 
higher/lower (2014: EUR 6.2 million higher/lower) as a 
result of the revaluation of the balances of cash and cash 
equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and 
other payables.

The cash and cash equivalents by currencies is disclosed 
in Note 18.

3.1.1.2 Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the fair value and cash flows of 
financial instruments will fluctuate in the future for rea-
sons other than changes in the market prices resulting 
from interest rate risk or foreign exchange risk. The sale 
of goods produced and services provided by the Group 
under free market conditions, the purchase of resources 
used in production, and financial assets recognised at fair 
value through profit or loss are impacted by price risk. 

3.1.1.2.1 The price risk of commodities
The most significant price risks of goods and services 
are the price risks related to the sale of electricity and 
shale oil, and to the purchase of greenhouse gas emis-
sion allowances. The Group uses various derivatives to 
hedge the price risks related to the sale of goods and ser-
vices and purchase and sale of greenhouse gas emission 
allowances. To hedge the risk related to changes in the 
price of electricity, forward contracts are used which are 
entered into for the sale of a specific volume of electricity 
at each trading hour. The volume of derivative transactions 
for sales of electricity through the power exchange Nord 
Pool depends on the price difference between the market 
price of electricity and the price level of greenhouse gas 
emission allowances and the planned production capacity 
of electrical energy. 

Swap and option transactions are used to hedge the risk 
in the price of shale oil. With these transactions, the Group 
or a transaction partner undertakes to pay the difference 
between the fixed price and the market price in the repor-
ting period. According to the risk hedging principles of the 
Group, the goal of hedging transactions is to ensure pre-
defined profits after variable expenses. The volume of the 
underlying assets, the risks of which are being hedged, is 
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determined separately for each period. The minimum price 
level is set for price risk hedge transactions, after which 
transactions can be concluded. The volume of transactions 
depends on the time horizon of the underlying period and 
the contract price offered. 

The need to buy greenhouse gas emission allowances arises 
when CO2 emissions exceed the number of greenhouse 
gas emission allowances allocated free of charge by the 
state. To lower the risk from changes in the price of the 
amount of greenhouse gas emissions allowed, the Group 
uses option and future transactions (Note 14). According 
to the risk management strategy concerning greenhouse 
gas emission allowances, the missing quantity is purchased 
on a dispersed basis throughout the year based on the 
expected price and shortage of greenhouse gas emission 
allowances.

3.1.1.3 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of financial 
instruments or cash flows will fluctuate in the future due 
to changes in market interest rates. Cash flow interest 
rate risk arises to the Group from floating interest rate 
borrowings and lies in the danger that financial expenses 
increase when interest rates increase. 

Sensitivity analysis is used to assess the interest rate risk. 
For managing the Group’s interest rate risks, the principle 
that the share of fixed interest rate borrowings in the 
portfolio should be over 50% is followed. The Group has 
predominantly locked the risk resulting from fluctuations 
in the base interest rate. As at the financial year-end, for 
82% of borrowings the base interest rate is locked until 
maturity, for 13% until July 2016, and 5% of borrowings 
have floating interest rates (31 December 2014: for 80% 

and 15% respectively with base interest rate locked, 5% 
with floating interest rate). Due to that the changes in 
the market interest rate don’t have material effect on the 
Group’s borrowings, however they may affect the fair value 
of the borrowings.

Overnight deposits and term deposits have been entered 
into with fixed interest rates and they do not result in  
an interest rate risk for cash flows to the Group. Any rea-
sonably possible change in the fair value of financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss would not have had 
significant impact on the Group’s net profit.

3.1.2 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a monetary 
loss caused by the other party to a financial instrument 
because of that party’s inability to meet its obligations. Cash 
in bank deposits, derivatives with a positive value and trade 
and other receivables are exposed to credit risk. 

According to the principles of depositing of available mone-
tary funds of the Group, the following principles are followed:
- preserving capital;
- ensuring liquidity at the right moment for the needs  

of business;
- optimal return considering the previous two goals.

Short-term monetary funds can be deposited in the fol-
lowing domestic and foreign financial instruments:
- money market funds and interest rate funds in which 

holdings or shares can be redeemed or sell on a regular 
basis;

- deposits of credit institutions;
- freely negotiable bonds and other freely negotiable 

debt instruments.
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Requirements for the level of credit risk of issuers and part-
ners of financial instruments (including hedge transactions) 
and maximum positions of each partner are approved by 
the Group’s committee of the financial risks.

The available monetary funds can be deposited only in 
financial instruments nominated in euros. In addition there 
are certain requirements for the maturities of the financial 
instruments and diversification.

The unpaid invoices of clients are handled on a daily basis 
in the department specifically set up for this purpose. The 
automated reminder and warning system sends messages 
to customers about overdue invoices with the warning that 
if they are not paid, the clients will be cut off from the 
electricity network. After that, a collection petition is filed 
at the court or a collection agency. Special agreements 
are in the jurisdiction of special credit committees. 

The maximum amount exposed to credit risk was as follows 
as at the end of the reporting period:

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

Deposits not recognised as cash equivalents 
(Notes 12, 15 and 17) - 40.0

Trade and other receivables (Notes 12 and 13)* 131.1 150.9

Bank accounts and deposits recognised as cash 
equivalents in banks (Notes 12, 15  and 18) 159.8 60.2

Derivatives with positive value 
(Notes 3.3, 12, 14 and 15) 40.3 77.4

Total amount exposed to credit risk 331.2 328.5

* Total trade and other receivables less prepayments

Trade receivables are shown net of impairment losses. 
Although the collection of receivables can be impacted 
by economic factors, management believes that there is 

  Consolidated Financial Statements

no significant risk of loss beyond the provisions already 
recorded. The types of other receivables do not contain 
any impaired assets. 

More detailed information on credit risk is disclosed in 
Notes 13 and 15. 

3.1.3 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its 
financial obligations due to insufficient cash inflows. Liqui-
dity risk is managed through the use of various financial 
instruments such as loans, bonds and commercial papers. 

The Group’s liquidity risk has two dimensions. Short-term 
liquidity risk is the risk that the Group’s bank accounts do 
not include sufficient cash to meet the Group’s financial 
commitments. Long-term liquidity risk is the risk that the 
Group does not have sufficient amount of unrestricted 
cash or other sources of liquidity to meet its future liquidity 
needs in order to carry out its business plan and meet its 
commitments, or that for the above reason the Group needs 
to raise additional cash in a hurry and on terms, which are 
less than optimal. Short-term liquidity risk is mitigated so 
that the Group keeps certain amount of cash buffer in its 
bank accounts in order to have sufficient amount of cash 
available also in case there are deviations from the cash 
flow forecast. Long-term liquidity risk is mitigated by regular 
forecasts of liquidity needs for the next 12 months (inclu-
ding cash requirement for investments, loan repayments 
and dividends, and positive cash flow from operations) 
and by keeping sufficient liquidity buffer in the form of 
unrestricted cash, undrawn investment loans, and limits of 
liquidity loans. The Group’s liquidity risk is managed at the 
Group level by the parent company’s Financial Department.
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As at 31 December 2015, the Group had spare monetary 
balances (including cash and cash equivalents and deposits 
at banks with maturities of more than three months) of 
EUR 159.8 million (31 December 2014: EUR 100.2 mil-
lion). Additionally, as at the end of the financial year, the 
Group had undrawn loan facilities of EUR 220.0 million 
(31 December 2014: EUR 250.0 million) (Note 22). This 
included EUR 150.0 million of liquidity loan agreements 
with SEB and Pohjola bank contracted in July 2015 (can 
be taken into use until July 2020) and investment loan 
agreement contracted in October 2013 with EIB of EUR 

  Consolidated Financial Statements

Division of liabilities by maturity date as at 31 December 2015
in million EUR

Less than 1 year
Between  

1 and 5 years Later than 5 years
Total undiscounted 

cash flows Carrying amount

Borrowings (Notes 3.2, 12 and 22)* 41.3 478.3 666.7 1,186.3 951.8

Derivatives (Notes 3.3, 12 and 14) 11.8 - - 11.8 11.8

Trade and other payables (Notes 12 and 23) 104.3 1.2 - 105.5 105.5

Tax liabilities and payables to employees (Note 23) 68.0 - - 68.0 68.0

Total 225.4 479.5 666.7 1,371.6 1,137.1

* Interest expenses have been estimated on the basis of the interest rates prevailing as at 31 December 2015.

Division of liabilities by maturity date as at 31 December 2014
in million EUR

Less than 1 year
Between  

1 and 5 years Later than 5 years
Total undiscounted 

cash flows Carrying amount

Borrowings (Notes 3.2, 12 and 22)* 35.6 647.2 434.8 1,117.6 934.9

Derivatives (Notes 3.3, 12 and 14) 0.8 1.7 - 2.5 2.5

Trade and other payables (Notes 12 and 23) 109.6 2.1 - 111.7 111.7

Tax liabilities and payables to employees (Note 23) 51.3 - - 51.3 51.3

Total 197.3 651.0 434.8 1,283.1 1,100.4

* Interest expenses have been estimated on the basis of the interest rates prevailing as at 31 December 2014.

100.0 million of which EUR 70.0 million can be withdrawn 
until October 2016 (as of 31 December 2015 EUR 30.0 
million was withdrawn). 

The following liquidity analysis includes the division between 
the Group’s current and non-current liabilities (including 
derivatives with net payments) by the maturity date of 
liabilities. All amounts shown in the table are contrac-
tual undiscounted cash flows. The payables due within 12 
months after the end of the reporting period, except for 
borrowings, are shown at their carrying amount.
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The information about the dividends that will be declared 
and become payable after the end of the reporting period 
is disclosed in Note 20.

3.2 Management of equity 

All shares of Eesti Energia AS belong to the state. Decisions 
concerning dividend distribution and increases or decrea-
ses of share capital are made by the Republic of Estonia 
through the Ministry of Finance. Each financial year, the 
dividends payable by Eesti Energia AS to the state budget 
are defined by order of the Government of the Republic 
of Estonia (Notes 19 and 20).

The Group follows a strategy according to which net debt 
should not exceed EBITDA more than 3.5 times and 
equity should be at least 50% of the total assets. As at  
31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, the net 
debt to EBITDA ratio and the equity to assets ratio were 
as follows:

3.3 Fair value

The Group estimates that the fair values of assets and 
liabilities reported at amortised cost in the statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2015 and 31 Decem-
ber 2014 do not materially differ from the carrying amounts 
reported in the consolidated financial statements, with the 
exception of bonds (Note 22). The carrying amount of 
current accounts receivable and payable and loan recei-
vables less impairments is estimated to be approximately 
equal to their fair value. For disclosure purposes, the fair 
value of financial liabilities is determined by discounting 
the contractual cash flows at the market interest rate which 
is available for similar financial instruments of the Group.

The tables below analyses financial instruments carried at 
fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have 
been defined as follows:
- quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 

assets or liabilities (Level 1);
- inputs other than quoted prices included within level 

1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly (Level 2);

- inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data (Level 3).

  Consolidated Financial Statements

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

Debt (Notes 3.1, 12 and 22) 951.8 934.9

Less: cash and cash equivalents and deposits 
not recognised as cash equivalents  
(Notes 3.1, 12, 17 and 18) (159.8) (100.2)

Net debt 792.0 834.7

Equity 1,571.9 1,619.4

EBITDA 265.8 312.3

Assets 2,957.8 2,995.5

Net debt/EBITDA 2.98 2.67

Equity/assets 53% 54%
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(a) Financial instruments in level 1
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active 
markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance 
sheet date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices 
are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, 
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, 
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring 
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted 
market price used for financial assets held by the group 
is the current bid price.

In level 1 are classified the Group’s electricity derivatives 
that have been cleared in Nasdaq OMX.

(b) Financial instruments in level 2 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded 
in an active market is determined using valuation tech-
niques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of 
observable market data where it is available and rely as 
little as possible on entity specific estimates. An instrument 
is included in level 2 if all the significant inputs required to 
establish the fair value of the instrument are observable. 
If one or more significant inputs are not based on obser-
vable market data, an instrument is included in level 3.  
The value of trading derivatives and cash flow hedges are 
found using notations of Nasdaq OMX, ICE, Platt’s European 
Marcetscani and Nymex.  
- The fair value of forward, swap and future contracts is 

determined using forward prices at the balance sheet 
date, with the resulting value discounted back to present 
value.

  Consolidated Financial Statements

The following tables present the Group’s assets and 
liabilities that are measured at fair value by the level in 
the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2015 and  
31 December 2014:

in million EUR 31 December 2015

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Trading derivatives  
(Notes 12, 14 and 15) - 1.8 - 1.8

Cash flow hedges  
(Notes 12, 14 and 15) 7.5 7.4 23.6 38.5

Total financial assets 
(Notes 3.1, 12, 14 and 15) 7.5 9.2 23.6 40.3

Liabilities

Trading derivatives  
(Notes 12 and 14) 10.0 1.8 - 11.8

Total financial liabilities 
(Notes 3.1, 12 and 14) 10.0 1.8 - 11.8

in million EUR 31 December 2014

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Trading derivatives  
(Notes  14 and 15) (0.7) 22.0 10.8 32.1

Cash flow hedges  
(Notes  14 and 15) 12.1 33.2 - 45.3

Total financial assets 
(Notes 3.1, 12, 14 and 15) 11.4 55.2 10.8 77.4

Liabilities

Trading derivatives  
(Notes 12 and 14) - 0.8 - 0.8

Derivatives used  
for hedging  
(Notes 3.1, 12 and 14) 1.7 - - 1.7

Total financial liabilities 
(Notes 3.1, 12 and 14) 1.7 0.8 - 2.5
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(c) Financial instruments in level 3
All instruments in Level 3 are options. The fair value of 
options is found using analytical solution of Turnbull- 
Wakeman Asian-type option pricing, inputs for which 

include the futures price, the strike price, volatility of the 
underlying, the risk free interest rate, time to maturity, time 
to the beginning of average period, the already realised 
average futures price during the average period.

The following table represents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2015

  Consolidated Financial Statements

in million EUR Trading derivatives at fair value 
through profit or loss

Cash flow hedges Total

Opening balance   10.8 - 10.8

Transfer from trading derivatives to cash flow hedges (10.8) 10.8 -

Option premiums received (3.3) - (3.3)

Gains and losses recognised in profit or loss  3.3 5.5  8.8

Gains and losses recognised in hedge reserve -             7.3            7.3

Closing balance - 23.6 23.6

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end  
of the reporting period under “Other operating income/expenses”  3.3  5.5 8.8

Change in unrealised gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held  
at the end of the reporting period  3.3 5.5 8.8

The following table represents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2014

in million EUR Trading derivatives at fair value  
through profit or loss

Total

Opening balance 0.2 0.2

Option premiums paid 2.1 2.1

Gains and losses recognised in profit or loss                  8.5             8.5

Closing balance 10.8 10.8

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the 
reporting period under “Other operating income/expenses” 8.7 8.7

Change in unrealised gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the 
end of the reporting period 8.5 8.5
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3.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

(a) Financial assets
The following financial assets are subject to offsetting:

(b) Financial liabilities
The following financial liabilities are subject to offsetting:

Agreements between the Group and the counterpar-
ties allows for offsetting in concrete single transaction 
when mutual claims are in the same currency. In some 
agreements offsetting between two or more transactions  
is allowed.

  Consolidated Financial Statements

As at 31 December 2015
in million EUR Gross amounts

of recognised
financial assets

Gross amounts of recognised
financial liabilities set  

off in the balance sheet

Net amounts of financial
assets presented  

in the balance sheet  
(Notes 3.1, 3.3, 12, 14 and 15)

Related amounts not set
off in the  balance sheet

Net amount

Derivative financial instruments 57.8 (17.5) 40.3 (7.7) 32.6

As at 31 December 2014
in million EUR Gross amounts

of recognised
financial assets

Gross amounts of recognised
financial liabilities set  

off in the balance sheet

Net amounts of financial
assets presented  

in the balance sheet  
(Notes 3.1, 3.3, 12, 14 and 15)

Related amounts not set
off in the  balance sheet

Net amount

Derivative financial instruments 89.8 (12.4) 77.4 (1.7) 75.7

As at 31 December 2015
in million EUR Gross amounts

of recognised
financial liabilities

Gross amounts of recognised
financial assets set off  

in the balance sheet

Net amounts of financial
liabilities presented
in the balance sheet  

(Notes 3.1, 3.3, 12, 14 and 15)

Related amounts not set
off in the balance sheet

Net amount

Derivative financial instruments 29.3 (17.5) 11.8 (7.7) 4.1

As at 31 December 2014
in million EUR Gross amounts

of recognised
financial liabilities

Gross amounts of recognised
financial assets set off  

in the balance sheet

Net amounts of financial
liabilities presented
in the balance sheet  

(Notes 3.1, 3.3, 12, 14 and 15)

Related amounts not set
off in the balance sheet

Net amount

Derivative financial instruments 14.9 (12.4) 2.5 (1.7) 0.8
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4. Critical accounting estimates  
 and assumptions

Accounting estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the financial statements requires the 
use of estimates and assumptions that impact the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of off-
balance sheet assets and contingent liabilities in the notes 
to the financial statements. Although these estimates are 
based on management’s best knowledge of current events 
and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from these 
estimates. Changes in management’s estimates are recog-
nised in the income statement of the period of the change.

The estimates presented below have the most significant 
impact on the financial information disclosed in the financial 
statements.

(a) Determination of the useful lives of items of property, 
plant and equipment
The estimated useful lives of items of property, plant 
and equipment are based on management’s estimate 
of the period during which the asset will be used. Pre-
vious experience has shown that the actual useful lives 
have sometimes been longer than the estimates. As at  
31 December 2015, the net book amount of property, 
plant and equipment of the Group totalled EUR 2.5 billion 
(31 December 2014: EUR 2.4 billion), and the deprecia-
tion charge of the reporting period was EUR 137.1 million 
(2014: EUR 120.4 million) (Note 6). If depreciation rates 
were changed by 10%, the annual depreciation charge 
would change by EUR 14.0 million (2014: EUR 12.0 million).

(b) Evaluation of the recoverable amount of property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets
As needed, the Group performs impairment tests to deter-
mine the recoverable amount of items of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets. When carrying out impair-
ment tests, management uses various estimates for the cash 
flows arising from the use of the assets, sales, maintenance, 
and repairs of assets, as well as estimates for inflation and 
growth rates and likelihood of getting grants. The estimates 
are based on forecasts of the general economic environ-
ment, consumption and the sales price of electricity, for 
estimating the fair value also the expert evaluations are 
used. If the situation changes in the future, either additional 
impairment could be recognised, or previously recognised 
impairment could be partially or wholly reversed. The reco-
verable amounts of fixed assets used for network services 
are impacted by the Competition Board which determines 
the reasonable rate of return to be earned on these assets. 
If the income, expenses and investments related to the 
sale of network services remain within the expected limits, 
the revenue derived from the sale of goods and services 
guarantees a reasonable rate of return for these assets. 
Information about impairment losses incurred in the com-
parative period is disclosed in Notes 6 and 8.

(c) Recognition and revaluation of provisions
As at 31 December 2015, the Group had set up provi-
sions for environmental protection, termination of mining 
operations, dismantling of assets, employees and contracts 
related totalling EUR 42.4 million (31 December 2014: 
EUR 38.0 million) (Note 25). The amount and/or timing of 
the settlement of these obligations is uncertain. A number 
of assumptions and estimates have been used to deter-
mine the present value of provisions, including the amount  
of future expenditure, inflation rates, and the timing of 
settlement of the expenditure. The actual expenditure 
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may also differ from the provisions recognised as a result 
of possible changes in legislative norms, technology avai-
lable in the future to restore environmental damages, and 
expenditure covered by third parties. 

(d) Contingent assets and liabilities
When estimating contingent assets and liabilities, the 
management considers historical experience, general 
information about the economic and social environment 
and the assumptions and conditions of possible events in 
the future based on the best knowledge of the situation. 
Further information is disclosed in Note 34.

(e) Effectiveness testing of hedging instruments
The Group has conducted a significant number of future 
transactions to hedge the risk of the changes in the prices 
of electricity and shale oil with regard to which hedge 
accounting is applied, meaning that the gains and losses 
from changes in the fair value of effective hedging instru-
ments are accounted through other comprehensive income. 
The evaluation of the effectiveness of hedging is based 
on management’s estimates for future sales transactions 
concerning electricity and liquid fuels. When hedging inst-
ruments turn out to be ineffective, the total gain/loss from 
the changes in the fair value should be recognised in the 
income statement. As at 31 December 2015, the amount 
of the hedge reserve was EUR 16.8 million (31 December 
2014: EUR 47.0 million) (Note 21).

5. Segment reporting

For the purposes of monitoring the Group’s performance 
and making management decisions, the Management Board 
uses product-based reporting. The Group has determined 
main products and services, i.e. value-creating units that 
generate external revenues and profit, and has built up  

a methodology of allocation of revenues and expenses, 
and assets to the products.

The Group has distinguished three main products and 
services, which are presented as separately reportable 
segments, and a number of minor products and services 
that are presented together as “Other segments”: 
1. Electrical Energy (production and sale of electricity gene-

rated from renewable and non-renewable sources, and 
electricity trading); 

2. Network Services (sale of electricity distribution network 
services on regulated market); 

3. Liquid Fuels (production and sale of liquid fuels, and 
development and sale of related technology); 

4. Other segments (including production and sale of heat, 
sale of oil-shale, construction of electrical network, 
power engineering equipment and services, sale of old 
metal, ash of oil-shale, other products and services).

Other segments include co-products which individual share 
of the Group’s revenue and EBITDA is immaterial. Non of 
these co-products meet the quantitative thresholds that 
would require reporting separate information.

Segment revenues include revenues from external cus-
tomers only, generated by the sale of respective products 
or services. 

All operating expenses of the Group are allocated to the 
products and services to which they relate. If a product (eg 
electricity) is created by several Group entities in a vertically 
integrated chain, then the related expenses include the pro-
duction cost of each entity involved in preparation of the 
product (eg the cost of electricity includes the cost of oil shale 
used for its production). Group overheads are allocated to 
products and services proportionally to the services provided.
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in million EUR 1 January - 31 December
2015

1 January - 31 December
2014

Revenue from
external  customers

Revenue from
external  customers

Electrical Energy 355.6 451.0

Network Services 242.2 240.7

Liquid Fuels 103.8 85.3

Other 75.1 103.0

Total 776.7 880.0

EBITDA 

in million EUR 1 January -  
31 December

2015

1 January -  
31 December

2014

EBITDA EBITDA

Electrical Energy 114.1 141.1

Network Services 105.2 97.3

Liquid Fuels 41.5 40.7

Other 5.1 33.2

Total 265.8 312.3

Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 6 and 8) (143.1) (126.2)

Impairment (65.5) -

Net financial income (-expense) (4.3) (0.7)

Profit (loss) from associates using equity 
method (Note 9) 2.5 (2.4)

Profit before tax 55.4 183.0

* The comparative figures have been adjusted due to a change in cost allocation method  
as a result of which the fuel production costs are allocated between the Liquid Fuels and 
Electrical Energy segments on the basis of the primary energy volumes used.

in million EUR changed before difference

Electrical Energy 141.1 120.4 20.7

Network Services 97.3 97.3 -

Liquid Fuels 40.7 62.2 (21.5)

Other 33.2 32.4 0.8

Total 312.3 312.3 (0.0)

The EBITDA of segment “Other” also contains the revaluation 
of the loan granted to the associate Enefit Jordan B.V in the 
amount of EUR 11.0 million (Notes 13, 30, 33 and 38).

The Management Board assesses the performance of the 
segments primarily based on EBITDA and it also monitors 
operating profit. Finance income and expenses, and income 
tax are not allocated to the segments.

The Group’s assets are allocated to the segments based 
on the same proportion as the related expenses. Liabilities 
are not allocated to the segments as they are managed 
centrally by the Group’s finance department. 

As the segments are based on externally sellable products 
and services (as opposed to legal entities), there are no 
transactions between segments to be eliminated.

For Network Services segment, the sales prices need to be 
approved by the Estonian Competition Authority as stipula-
ted by the Electricity Market Act of Estonia. The Estonian 
Competition Authority has an established methodology for 
approving the prices that considers the costs necessary to 
fulfil the legal obligations and ensures justified profitability 
on invested capital. Generally, the Estonian Competition 
Authority considers the annual average carrying amount 
of non-current assets plus 5% of external sales revenue 
as invested capital. The rate for justified profitability is the 
Company’s weighted average cost of capital (WACC). The sales 
prices for all other segments are not regulated by the law.

Revenue       

The revenue from external customers reported to the 
management board of the parent company is measured 
in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated income 
statement.

5. Segment reporting, continued 
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Other profit and loss disclosures  

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December  
2015

1 January - 31 December  
2014

Depreciation
and amortisation

Impairment Recognition (-)
and reversal (+)

of provisions

Depreciation
and amortisation

Impairment Recognition (-)
and reversal (+)

of provisions

Electrical Energy (64.7) (36.0) 29.1 (59.7) - (58.2)

Network Services (48.0) - 1.2 (45.7) - (1.1)

Liquid Fuels (20.6) (26.8) 3.0 (11.2) - (4.0)

Other (9.7) (2.8) (15.0) (9.7) - (1.6)

Total (143.1) (65.5) 18.3 (126.2) - (64.9)

* The comparative figures have been adjusted due to a change in cost allocation method as a result of which the fuel production costs are allocated between the Liquid Fuels and Electrical Energy 
segments on the basis of the primary energy volumes used.      

Interest income and expenses, corporate income tax expense and profit (loss) from associates using equity method are 
not divided between segments and the information is not provided to the management board of the parent company.

Additional information about the impairment, depreciation and amortisation is disclosed in Notes 6 and 8 and recognition  
and change of provisions in Note 25.      

in million EUR changed before difference

Depreciation and amortisation

Electrical Energy (59.7) (62.0) 2.3

Network Services (45.7) (45.7) 0.1

Liquid Fuels (11.2) (8.7) (2.5)

Other (9.7) (9.8) 0.1

Total (126.2) (126.2) (0.0)
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Entity-wide information 

External  revenue by location of clients  

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December
2015

1 January - 31 December
2014

Estonia 645.5 705.7

Latvia 57.7 69.3

Nordic countries 38.8 55.5

Lithuania 23.9 33.3

Other countries 10.8 16.2

Total external  
revenue (Note 26) 776.7 880.0

Allocation of non-current assets by location*  

in million EUR 31 December
2015

31 December
2014

Estonia 2,475.2 2,412.9

USA 26.6 48.9

Latvia 8.8 9.2

Other countries 4.4 3.1

Total (Notes 6 and 8) 2,515.0 2,474.1

* other than financial instruments and investments in associates  

5. Segment reporting, continued 

The Group did not have in the reporting period nor in 
the comparable period any clients whose revenues from  
transactions amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s 
revenues.      

Assets

The amounts reported to the management board of the parent company with respect to total assets are measured  
in a manner consistent with that of the consolidated financial statements.        
  
in million EUR 1 January - 31 December 

2015
1 January - 31 December 

2 014

Total assets Investments
in associates

(Note 9)

Capital
expenditure

(Notes 6 and 8)

Total assets Investments
in associates

(Note 9)

Capital
expenditure

(Notes 6 and 8)

Electrical Energy 1,236.1 3.7 117.5 1,324.7 1.7 134.4

Network Services 968.8 - 101.3 904.3 - 111.0

Liquid Fuels 360.4 0.6 14.3 394.7 0.2 17.8

Other 392.5 0.2 12.6 371.8 0.1 12.7

Total 2,957.8 4.6 245.6 2,995.5 2.0 275.9

The Group operates mostly in Estonia, but electricity, liquid fuels and some other goods and services are also sold  
in other countries. 
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in million EUR
 
 

Land Buildings Facilities Machinery 
and 

equipment

Other Construction
in progress and

prepayments

Total

Property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2013

Cost 42.1 153.7 859.6 1,643.7 5.5 781.3 3,485.9

Accumulated depreciation - (93.5) (340.1) (789.7) (4.5) - (1,227).8

Net book amount 42.1 60.2 519.6 854.0 1.0 781.3 2,258.1

Total property, plant and equipment  
as at 31 December 2013 42.1 60.2 519.5 854.0 1.0 781.3 2,258.1

Movements, 1 January - 31 December 2014  

Purchases (Note 5) - 0.2 - 11.8 0.2 259.5 271.7

Depreciation charge (Notes 4, 5 and 33) - (5.1) (24.7) (90.1) (0.4) (0.1) (120.4)

Disposals - (0.3) (0.1) (0.2) - - (0.6)

Disposal of subsidiary (Note 35) - - - (0.7) - - (0.7)

Exchange differences 0.4 - - - - - 0.4

Transfers 0.1 102.9 60.6 261.2 0.1 (424.9) -

Total movements, 1 January - 31 December 2014 0.5 97.7 35.8 182.0 (0.1) (165.5) 150.4

Property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2014  

Cost 42.6 254.3 917.2 1,885.7 5.4 615.8 3,721.0

Accumulated depreciation - (96.4) (361.9) (849.7) (4.5) - (1,312).5

Net book amount 42.6 157.9 555.3 1,036.0 0.9 615.8 2,408.5

Total property, plant and equipment  
as at 31 December 2014 (Notes 4) 42.6 157.9 555.3 1,036.0 0.9 615.8 2,408.5
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6. Property, plant and equipment, continued 

In 2015, the Group carried out impairment tests on its Auvere 
power plant and Narva power plants. The two production units 
are treated as separate cash-generating units because the 
Auvere power plant is considerably more efficient than other 
generating units and has a different cost base. In the Group’s 
sales strategy, the Auvere power plant could not be replaced 
with other production units. Therefore, any decisions on the 
Auvere power plant’s maintenance and investment plans are 
made primarily based on market forecasts and separately 
from those of the other production units. 

Based on the results of the impairment test, the assets of 
Auvere power plant were written down by EUR 39.6 million.  
The carrying amount of the assets is EUR 526.3 million as at 31 
December 2015 (31 December 2014: EUR 506.0 million). The 
recoverable amount of the assets was estimated based on their 
value in use. The expected future cash flows were discounted 
using a discount rate of 7.86% (comparable number in 2014: 
10.00%). The impairment loss resulted mostly from the low 
market prices of electricity and possible changes in legislation.

The assets of the Auvere power plant are sensitive to changes 
in the market prices of electricity, changes in fuel price, and 
the implementation of the flexible cooperation mechanism 
as well as its time, price and volume.

In conducting the impairment test, the near-term market price 
of electricity was forecast by relying on both a consultant’s 
estimates and the projections made based on relevant forward 
prices. It was assumed that by 2020 price levels in the Estonian 
and the neighbouring electricity markets would equalise. If this 
assumption would not apply, the total impairment loss would 
amount to up to one fifth of the planned cost of the Auvere 
power plant, which is EUR 638 million. It was assumed that from 
2021 the price would increase at the rate of 2.7% per year 
(based on the Ministry of Finance forecast of the consumer 
price index dated 10 November 2015). Thanks to the Group’s 
sales strategy according to which it strives to sell more electricity 
during peak hours, in 2015 the average sales price achieved 
by the Group on the Nord Pool Spot power exchange was  
3.6 €/MWh higher than the Nord Pool Spot market price. The 

  Consolidated Financial Statements

in million EUR Land Buildings Facilities Machinery 
and 

equipment

Other Construction 
in progress and

prepayments

Total

Movements, 1 January - 31 December 2015  

Purchases (Note 5) 0.7 0.1 0.5 19.0 0.2 222.8 243.3

Depreciation charge and write-downs (Notes 4, 5 and 33) - (7.4) (26.6) (102.0) (0.5) (0.6) (137.1)

Impairment loss (Notes 4, 5 and 33) - - (0.2) (0.1) - (39.6) (39.9)

Disposals (0.3) - - (1.0) - - (1.3)

Exchange differences 0.4 - - - - - 0.4

Transfers 0.2 2.4 39.5 145.2 1.1 (188.4) -

Total movements, 1 January - 31 December 2015 1.0 (4.9) 13.2 61.1 0.8 (5.8) 65.4

Property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2015 

Cost 43.6 256.6 953.5 2,024.9 5.9 610.0 3,894.5

Accumulated depreciation - (103.6) (385.0) (927.8) (4.2) - (1,420.6)

Net book amount 43.6 153.0 568.5 1,097.1 1.7 610.0 2,473.9

Total property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2015 (Note 4) 43.6 153.0 568.5 1,097.1 1.7 610.0 2,473.9
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Group plans to pursue the same strategy also in subsequent 
years. In addition, the test took into account the impacts of the 
following years’ hedging transactions.

The share of renewable energy revenues was forecast assu-
ming that from 2017 it would be possible to export renewable 
energy to other European countries with a view to earning 
additional revenue (Europe-wide auctions of renewable 
energy units for countries whose legislation supports this in 
accordance with Directive 2009/28/EC, heceforth “flexible 
cooperation mechanism”). Accordingly, up to 50% (up to 
1 TWh) of electricity generated at the Auvere power plant 
could be produced from biomass and the Group could earn 
additional revenue through flexible cooperation mechanisms. 
It was assumed that that the rate of additional revenue from 
electricity generated from biomass would fall within the range 
of 20-30 €/MWh. If this assumption would not apply, the total 
impairment loss would amount to up to one fourth of the 
value of the assets of the Auvere power plant.

The market price of CO2 emission allowances was forecast for 
the near term based on relevant forward prices and thereafter 
assuming that from 2021 the price would increase at the rate 
of 1.4% per year (based on 5 years’ average growth rate). 
As regards the oil shale price, it was assumed that it could 
be kept stable in the future by improving the efficiency of 
the production process. If the oil shale price increased on a 
long-term basis at the rate of the consumer price index, the 
impairment loss would amount to up to one seventh of the 
planned cost of the Auvere power plant.

The assets of the Narva power plants (carrying amount at  
31 December 2015: EUR 245.1 million; 31 December 2014: 
EUR 225.9 million) were tested for impairment by estimating their 
recoverable amount. The results of the impairment test did not 
reflect the need for recognising an impairment loss. The recove-
rable amount of the assets was estimated based on their value 
in use. The expected future cash flows were discounted using a 

discount rate of 7.86% (comparable number in 2014: 10.00%).

The assets of the Narva power plants are sensitive to changes 
in the market prices of electricity and CO2 emission allowances, 
changes in fuel prices and the rate of implementation of 
flexible cooperation mechanism.

The impairment test was conducted by applying the above 
market price forecasts. If the assumption of the equalisation 
of price levels in the Estonian and the neighbouring elect-
ricity markets would not apply, the total impairment loss will 
amount to up to three fifths of the value of the assets of the 
Narva power plants. If the assumption of the flexible coope-
ration mechanisms would not apply, the total impairment loss 
would amount to up to one third of the value of the assets 
of the Narva power plants. If the oil shale price increased on 
a long-term basis at the rate of the consumer price index, 
the impairment loss would amount to up to one sixth of the 
value of the assets of the Narva power plants.

In 2015, the assets of the Enefit280 oil plant (carrying amount 
at 31 December 2015: EUR 257.0 million; 31 December 
2014: EUR 264.3 million) were tested for impairment by 
estimating their recoverable amount. The results of the 
impairment test did not reflect the need for recognising an 
impairment loss. The recoverable amount of the assets was 
estimated based on their value in use. The expected future 
cash flows were discounted using a discount rate of 10.81% 
(comparable number in 2014: 11.00%).

The assets of the oil plant are sensitive to changes in the 
market prices of oil shale and CO2 emission allowances and 
the world market price of 1% sulphur content heavy fuel oil.

The market prices of the output of the oil factory were forecast 
based on the forward prices of the reference product, 1% 
sulphur content heavy fuel oil, and the hedged positions of 
2016, assuming that from 2021 the prices would increase at 
the rate of 2.7% per year (based on the Ministry of Finance 
forecast of the consumer price index dated 10 November 

6. Property, plant and equipment, continued 
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6. Property, plant and equipment, continued 

  Consolidated Financial Statements

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

Cost 6.6 6.6

Accumulated depreciation at the beginning  
of the financial year (3.5) (3.3)

Depreciation charge (0.2) (0.2)

Net book amount 2.9 3.1

Leased assets are partly used in the Group’s own operations 
and partly for earning rental income. Cost and depreciation have 
been calculated on the basis of the part of the asset leased 
out. Income from lease assets is disclosed in Note 7.  
  

Future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable 
operating lease contracts by due dates 

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

Rental income 2015 2014

  < 1 year 0.7 0.6

  1 - 5 years 2.6 2.4

  > 5 years 8.0 7.8

Total rental income 11.3 10.8

The oil terminal has been leased out under non-cancellable 
lease agreement. 
Operating lease agreements, where the Group is lessee, are 
mostly cancellable with short-term notice.   

7. Operating lease  
 
in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

Rental and maintenance income 2015 2014

  Buildings 1.5 1.4

    of which contingent rent 0.7 0.6

Total rental and maintenance income (Note 26) 1.5 1.4

Rental expense

  Buildings 2.5 2.3

  Transport vehicles 0.5 0.5

  Other machinery and equipment 2.5 1.4

Total rental expense (Note 30) 5.5 4.2

2015). In other respects, the impairment test was conducted 
by applying the above market price forecasts. If the oil shale 
price would grow at the rate of consumer price index during 
a long term period, the total impairment loss would amount 
to up to one fourth of the value of the assets of oil factory. It 
was assumed that the output of the oil plant would reach full 
capacity in 2017 through improvements to be made in 2016.

In 2015, the assets of the Aulepa wind farm (carrying amount 
at 31 December 2015: EUR 42.8 million; 31 December 2014 
EUR 44.2 million) were tested for impairment by estimating 
their recoverable amount. The results of the impairment test 
did not reflect the need for recognising an impairment loss. The 
recoverable amount of the assets was estimated based on their 
value in use. The expected future cash flows were discounted 
using a discount rate of 6.32% (comparable number in 2014: 
7.00%). The impairment test was conducted by applying the 
above electricity market price forecasts. Above all, the assets of 
the Aulepa wind farm are sensitive to changes in the electricity 
market price. If the assumption of equalisation of price levels 
in Estonian and the neighbouring electricity markets would not 
apply, the total impairment loss amounts to up to a couple of 
percentages of the value of the assets of the Aulepa wind farm.

In 2015 the assets of Enefit American Oil were tested for 
impairment, according to which an impairment loss of EUR 
0.3 million for property, plant and equipment and EUR 25.6 
million for intangible assets was recognised. The additional 
information about the impairment of assets of Enefit American 
Oil is disclosed in Note 8.

In the comparative period the impairment tests did not indicate 
a need for recognising an impairment loss or reversing the 
previously recognised impairment loss.

During the year, the Group has capitalised borrowing costs 
amounting to EUR 24.7 million (2014: EUR 29.8 million) 
on qualifying assets. The capitalisation rate of 4.0% (2014: 
4.0%) was used to determine the amount of borrowing costs  
eligible for capitalisation (Note 31).

Buildings and facilities leased out under operating lease  
terms
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in million EUR Goodwill Computer
software

Right  
of use  

of land

Exploration
and evaluation 

assets
for mineral

resources

Contractual
rights

Development
costs

Total

Intangible assets as at 31 December 2013 

Cost 3.5 29.1 2.5 8.3 29.1 - 72.5

Accumulated amortisation - (14.8) (0.5) - - - (15.3)

Net book amount 3.5 14.3 2.0 8.3 29.1 - 57.2

Intangible assets not yet available for use - 5.0 - - - - 5.0

Total intangible assets as at 31 December 2013 3.5 19.3 2.0 8.3 29.1 - 62.2

Movements, 1 January - 31 December 2014 

Purchases (Note 5) - 3.1 - 1.1 - - 4.2

Amortisation charge (Notes 5 and 33) - (5.7) (0.1) - - - (5.8)

Exchange differences - - - 1.2 3.8 - 5.0

Total movements, 1 January - 31 December 2014 - (2.6) (0.1) 2.3 3.8 - 3.4

Intangible assets as at 31 December 2014 

Cost 3.5 32.8 2.5 10.6 32.9 - 82.3

Accumulated amortisation - (20.3) (0.6) - - - (20.9)

Net book amount 3.5 12.5 1.9 10.6 32.9 - 61.4

Intangible assets not yet available for use - 4.2 - - - - 4.2

Total intangible assets as at 31 December 2014 3.5 16.7 1.9 10.6 32.9 - 65.6

Movements, 1 January - 31 December 2015 

Purchases (Note 5) - 1.3 0.1 0.5 - 0.4 2.3

Amortisation charge and write-downs (Notes 5 and 33) - (5.9) (0.1) - - - (6.0)

Impairment loss (Note 5 and 33) - - - (10.6) (15.0) - (25.6)

Exchange differences - - - 1.1 3.7 - 4.8

Total movements, 1 January - 31 December 2015 - (4.6) - (9.0) (11.3) 0.4 (24.5)

Intangible assets as at 31 December 2015 

Cost 3.5 36.1 2.6 1.6 21.6 0.4 65.8

Accumulated amortisation - (24.5) (0.7) - - - (25.2)

Net book amount 3.5 11.6 1.9 1.6 21.6 0.4 40.6

Intangible assets not yet available for use - 0.5 - - - - 0.5

Total intangible assets as at 31 December 2015 3.5 12.1 1.9 1.6 21.6 0.4 41.1
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8. Intangible assets, continued 

  Consolidated Financial Statements

Goodwill   

Allocation of goodwill by cash-generating units    
   

in million EUR Mining Valka
co-generation

plant

Paide
co-generation

plant

Carrying amount  
at 31 December 2015 2.5 0.6 0.4

Carrying amount  
at 31 December 2014 2.5 0.6 0.4

The recoverable amount of assets is determined on the 
basis of their value in use and using the cash flow forecast 
prepared up to the next 20 years. The selection of the 
periods is based on an investment horizon regularly used in 
the electricity business. The cash flow forecasts are based 
on historical data and the forecasts of the Estonian energy 
balance. The weighted average cost of capital (WACC) is 
used as the discount rate, which is being determined on 
the basis of area of operations of the Company and its risk 
level. No impairment was identified during these tests. 

Key assumptions used in determining value in use  

31 December

2015 2014

Discount rate

Mining 10.0% 10.0%

Valka co-generation plant 8.0% 9.0%

Paide co-generation plant 7.0% 7.0%

Exploration and evaluation assets of mineral resources 

The costs related to the exploration of an oil shale mine 
located in the state of Utah, USA are recognised as exp-
loration  and evaluation assets of mineral resources. 

Contractual rights

The costs related to the mining rights acquired in the state 
of Utah are recognised as contractual rights, the estimated 
useful life of which is 20 years.

Determining the recoverable amount of the assets of Enefit 
American Oil on the basis of fair value less cost of disposal

In 2015 the assets of Enefit American Oil (EUR 54.6 million 
as at 31 December 2015, including exploration and eva-
luation assets  of mineral resources EUR 14.2 million) were 
tested for impairment, according to which an impairment 
loss of EUR 0.3 million for  property, plant and equipment 
(Note 6) and EUR 25.6 million for intangible assets was 
recognised. The recoverable amount was  determined 
based on fair value less cost of disposal. The impairment 
loss was allocated to the individual assets on a pro rata 
basis (except for land), based on the carrying amount of 
each asset. As a basis of revaluation the value analysis of 
Enefit American Oil  performed by Hard Rock Consulting 
LLC in 2015 was used that is a Level 3 input in the fair 
value hierarchy. The assets were revalued  to the value of 
land. The impairment loss resulted mostly from the low 
market prices of oil and fuel oil prices that is the reason 
for suspending the active development of the project.

In the comparative period the value of a company estab-
lished in the same US state and for the same purpose as 
Enefit American Oil for the basis of comparision was used, 
its value was determined by reference to the value of its 
shares. In the comparative period the impairment test did 
not indicate a need for recognising an impairment loss. 
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9. Investments in associates  

Nature of investments in associates 2015 and 2014: 
 

*	The	financial	year	of	Orica	Eesti	OÜ	is	from	1	October	to	30	September

Note	1:	Orica	Eesti	OÜ	manufactures	and	sales	explosives	
and is a strategic partner for Eesti Energia Kaevandused AS 
Note 2: Enefit Jordan B.V. Group is engaged with the oil 
shale development project in Jordan. Enefit Jordan B.V. 
Group is  recognised as associate as according to the  
Shareholders’ Agreement, the Group does not have the 
right to make any  relevant decisions regarding Enefit Jor-
dan B.V. Group without the consent of one or, in cases, 
both of other  shareholders who hold the remainder of the 
35% shares. Based on voting quorom requirements for 
different decisions joint control is not established. 
Note 3: Nordic Energy Link Group was liquidated in the 
reporting period 
Note 4: As at 31 December 2015 Attarat Mining Co BV, 
Attarat Power Holding Co BV and Attarat Operation & Main-
tenance Co BV had not started their business activites.

Reconciliation of summarised financial information  
of associates      

  Consolidated Financial Statements

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

Summarised net assets of associates  
at the beginning of the period (20.1) 25.7

Profit/loss for the period (8.8) (6.9)

Other comprehensive income (3.5) (2.7)

Repurchase of shares - (2.2)

Dividends declared - (13.1)

Liquidation proceeds paid - (20.9)

Summarised net assets of associates  
at the end of the period (32.4) (20.1)

Interest in associates (25.0) (14.8)

Notional goodwill 12.3 12.3

Group's share in negative net assets not 
recognised by the Group using the equity 
method 17.3 4.5

Carrying amount at the end of the period 
(Note 5) 4.6 2.0

Group's share of associates profit/loss  
for the period (Notes 5 and 33) 2.5 (2.4)

Group's share of associates other  
comprehensive income - (0.7)

Name of the 
company

Place
of business

Ownership
(%)

Nature  
of the
relationship

Measurement
method

Orica	Eesti	OÜ* Estonia
Netherlands

35,0 Note 1 Equity

Enefit Jordan 
B.V. Group

Jordan
Estonia

65,0 Note 2 Equity

Nordic Energy 
Link Group

Finland 50,0 Note 3 Equity

Attarat Mining 
Co BV

Netherlands 50,0 Note 4 Equity

Attarat Power 
Holding Co BV

Netherlands 65,0 Note 4 Equity

Attarat 
Operation & 
Maintenance 
Co BV

Netherlands 25,0 Note 4 Equity

According to the opinion of the Management Board none 
of the associates is material to the Group.   
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10. Principal subsidiaries  

The Group had the following subsidiaries at 31 December 2015

On 18 February 2015, the Group acquired an additional 
34%	of	the	share	capital	of	AS	Narva	Soojusvõrk,	after	
which	AS	Narva	Soojusvõrk	is	fully	owned	by	Eesti	Energia	
Narva Elektrijaamad AS.  As at 31. December 2014 the 

parent company held 100% of ordinary shares in Solidus 
Oy, that was liquidated on 24 April 2015. Proportions of 
shares in other subsidiaries have not changed compared 
to the year 2014.

  Consolidated Financial Statements

Name Country  
of incorpo-
ration

Nature of business Proportion of ordinary 
shares held by the Group 

(%) 

Proportion of ordinary 
shares held by noncont-

rolling interests (%)

31 December 31 December

2015 2014 2015 2014

Eesti Energia Õlitööstus AS Estonia Producing liquid fuels and retort gas from oil 
shale

100.0 100.0  -  -

Elektrilevi	OÜ Estonia Network operator 100.0 100.0  -  -

Eesti Energia Kaevandused AS Estonia Oil shale mining 100.0 100.0  -  -

Eesti Energia Narva Elektrijaamad AS Estonia Production of electrical energy 100.0 100.0  -  -

AS	Narva	Soojusvõrk	(Note	36) Estonia Distribution and sale of heat 100.0 66.0 - 34.0

Eesti Energia Tehnoloogiatööstus AS Estonia Manufacture and supply of metal structures, 
energy industry machinery and other industrial 
equipment

100.0 100.0  -  -

Eesti Energia Hoolduskeskus AS Estonia Maintenance and repair of power engineering 
equipment

100.0 100.0  -  -

Eesti	Energia	Testimiskeskus	OÜ Estonia Testing and providing expertise for metals and 
welded joints; certifying welders and welding 
procedures (WPQR) 

100.0 100.0  -  -

Eesti	Energia	Aulepa	Tuuleelektrijaam	OÜ Estonia Establishment and operation of wind parks 100.0 100.0  -  -

Eesti	Energia	Tabasalu	Koostootmisjaam	OÜ Estonia Establishment of heat-and-power cogeneration 
station

55.0 55.0 45.0 45.0

OÜ	Pogi Estonia Production and sale of heat and electrical energy 66.5 66.5 33.5 33.5

Attarat	Holding	OÜ Estonia Holding 100.0 -  -  -

Enefit	Outotec	Technology	OÜ Estonia and 
Germany

Developing and licensing the new generation of 
Enefit shale oil production technology

60.0 60.0 40.0 40.0

Solidus Oy Finland Closed - 100.0

Enefit SIA Latvia Selling electricity to end consumers 100.0 100.0  -  -

Enefit Power & Heat Valka SIA Latvia Production and sale of heat and electrical energy 90.0 90.0 10.0 10.0

Enefit UAB Lithuania Selling electricity to end consumers 100.0 100.0  -  -

Enefit U.S., LLC USA Holding 100.0 100.0  -  -

Enefit American Oil Co. USA Developing of liquid fuels production 100.0 100.0  -  -
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All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolida-
tion. The proportion of the voting rights in the subsidiary 
undertakings  held directly by the parent company do 
not differ from the proportion of ordinary shares held. 
The parent company does not have  any shareholdings in 
the preference shares of subsidiary undertakings inclu-
ded in the Group. None of the carrying amounts of  the 
non-controlling interests as at 31 December 2015 and 
31 December 2014 was material.

Significant restrictions 

Until the investments of the network operator (Elektrilevi 
OÜ)	do	not	exceed	the	limits	of	the	approved	financing	
plan, according to the Electricity Market Act of Estonia the 
parent company may not intervene in the everyday econo-
mic activities of the network operator or in the decisions 
concerning the construction or upgrades of the network 
     

10. Principal subsidiaries, continued   

  Consolidated Financial Statements

11. Inventories  

in million EUR 31. detsember

2015 2014

Raw materials and materials at warehouses 25.9 22.8

Work-in-progress

Stored oil shale 39.8 11.8

Stripping works in quarries 2.3 2.2

Other work-in-progress 1.6 1.8

Total work-in-progress 43.7 15.8

Finished goods

Shale oil 1.9 1.9

Other finished goods 0.3 0.3

Total finished goods 2.2 2.2

Prepayments to suppliers 0.1 -

Total inventories (Notes 4 and 33)  71.9 40.8

In the reporting period, the Group wrote down damaged and 
slow-moving inventories of raw materials and materials  
totalling EUR 0.6 million (2014: EUR 0.8 million).  
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12. Division of financial instruments by category   

  Consolidated Financial Statements

in million EUR Loans and
receivables

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss

Derivatives for which hedge
accounting is applied

Total

As at 31 December 2015   

Financial asset items in the statement of financial position

Trade and other receivables

excluding prepayments (Notes 3.1 and 13) 131.1 - - 131.1

Derivative financial instruments (Notes 3.1, 3.3, 14 and 15) - 1.8 38.5 40.3

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 3.1, 3.2, 15 and 18) 159.8 - - 159.8

Total financial asset items in the statement of financial position 290.9 1.8 38.5 331.2

As at 31 December 2014  

Financial asset items in the statement of financial position 

Trade and other receivables

excluding prepayments (Notes 3.1 and 13) 150.9 - - 150.9

Derivative financial instruments (Notes 3.1, 3.3, 14 and 15) - 32.1 45.3 77.4

Deposits not recognised as cash equivalents -

(Notes 3.1, 3.2, 15 and 17) 40.0 - - 40.0

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 3.1, 3.2, 15 and 18) 60.2 - - 60.2

Total financial asset items in the statement of financial position 251.1 32.1 45.3 328.5

in million EUR  Liabilities at fair value  
 through profit or loss 

 Derivatives for which hedge 
 accounting is applied 

 Other financial 
 liabilities 

Total

As at 31 December 2015  

Financial liability items in the statement of financial position

Borrowings (Notes 3.1, 3.2 and 22) - - 951.8 951.8

Trade and other payables (Notes 3.1 and 23) - - 105.5 105.5

Derivative financial instruments (Notes 3.1, 3.3 and 14) 11.8 - - 11.8

Total financial liability items in the statement of financial position 11.8 - 1,057.3 1,069.1

As at 31 December 2014 

Financial liability items in the statement of financial position

Borrowings (Notes 3.1, 3.2 and 22) - - 934.9 934.9

Trade and other payables (Notes 3.1 and 23) - - 111.7 111.7

Derivative financial instruments (Notes 3.1, 3.3 and 14) 0.8 1.7 - 2.5

Total financial liability items in the statement of financial position 0.8 1.7 1,046.6 1,049.1
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13. Trade and other receivables   

The receivables from associates include the 
termless loan granted to the associate Enefit 
Jordan B.V. with the interest rate 15% (2014: 
15%). In the reporting period the loan granted 
to associate Enefit Jordan B.V was revalued 
by EUR 11.0 million (Notes 5, 30, 33 and 
38). In the revaluation of the loan the value 
of the assets and the future plans were taken 
into consideration as the participation in the 
project is going to be decreased. 

Under cash restricted from being used are 
recognised financial resources that are held 
on SEB Futures account as a guarantee for the 
transactions. The fair values of receivables and 
prepayments do not significantly differ from 
their carrying amounts. Collection of receivab-
les and prepayments for services and goods is 
not covered by securities. Most of the Group’s 
receivables and prepayments are in euros. The 
amount of receivables denominated in US 
dollars is disclosed in Note 3.1. Information 
about the credit quality of the receivables is 
disclosed in Note 15.   

  Consolidated Financial Statements

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

Short-term trade and other receivables

Trade receivables

Accounts receivable 90.6 106.4

Allowance for doubtful receivables (Note 4) (2.1) (2.4)

Total trade receivables 88.5 104.0

Accrued income

Amounts due from customers under the stage of completion method 0.8 2.7

Other accrued income 0.6 0.5

Total accrued income 1.4 3.2

Prepayments 1.6 5.3

Receivables from associates (Note 38) 1.7 3.2

Cash restricted from being used 5.5 6.1

Other receivables 1.1 2.5

Total short-term trade and other receivables 99.8 124.3

Long-term receivables

Loan receivables from associates (Note 38) 42.5 30.5

Allowance for doubtful loan receivables (Notes 5, 30, 33 and 38) (11.0) -

Other long-term receivables 1.4 1.4

Total long-term receivables 32.9 31.9

Total trade and other receivables (Notes 3.1 and 12) 132.7 156.2
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13. Trade and other receivables, continued 

Under the accounting policies of the Group, receivables 
90 days past due are usually written down in full. The 
total amount of allowance for receivables 90 days past 
due is adjusted using prior experience of how many of 
the receivables classified as doubtful are collected in a 
later period and how many of the receivables not more 
than 90 days past due are not collected in a later period. 
Also other individual and extraordinary impacts like the 
global economic recession are taken into account during 
evaluation.    

  Consolidated Financial Statements

Analysis of accounts receivable 

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

Accounts receivable not yet due (Note 15) 80.8 96.9

Accounts receivable due but not classified  
as doubtful

1-30 days past due 6.6 6.6

31-60 days past due 0.6 0.5

61-90 days past due 0.3 0.3

Total accounts receivable due but   
not classified as doubtful 7.5 7.4

Accounts receivable written down

3-6 months past due 0.4 0.3

more than 6 months past due 1.9 1.8

Total accounts receivable that are more  
than 3 months past due 2.3 2.1

Total accounts receivable 90.6 106.4

Changes in allowance for doubtful trade receivables 

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

Allowance for doubtful trade receivables  
at the beginning of the period (2.4) (2.2)

Classified as doubtful and collections 
during the accounting period (0.3) (1.6)

Classified as irrecoverable 0.6 1.4

Allowance for doubtful trade receivables  
at the end of the period (Note 4) (2.1) (2.4)

The other receivables do not contain any impaired assets.  

Revenue under the stage of completion method 

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

Unfinished projects at the end of the period

Revenue of unfinished projects 8.5 11.4

Progress billing submitted (8.6) (9.2)

Amounts due from customers under  
the stage of completion method 0.7 2.7

Amounts due to customers under  
the stage of completion method (0.8) (0.5)

Total expenses on unfinished projects (7.8) (10.0)

Profit/loss calculated on unfinished 
projects 0.7 1.4

Total revenue from construction projects  
in the financial year 6.3 12.8

Total expenses on construction projects  
in the financial year (7.5) (12.1)

Total profit calculated on construction projects (1.2) 0.7

Long-term construction projects are mostly power equip-
ment manufacturing and network equipment design  and 
construction.   
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14. Derivative financial instruments  

Forward contracts for buying and selling electricity 

The goal of the forward contracts for buying and selling 
electricity is to manage the risk of changes in the price 
of  electricity or earn income on changes in the price of 
electricity. All forward contracts have been entered into 
for the sale or  purchase of a fixed volume of electricity at 
each trading hour and their price is denominated in euros. 
The transactions, the goal of which is to hedge the risk in 
the price of electricity, are designated as cash flow hed-
ging instruments, where the underlying instrument being 
hedged is the estimated electricity sales transactions of 
high probability on the power exchange Nord Pool. The 
effective portion of the change in the fair value of tran-
sactions concluded for hedging purposes is recognised  
through other comprehensive income and is recognised 
either as revenue or reduction of revenue at the time the 
sales transactions of electricity occur or other operating 

income/expenses when it is evident that sales transactions 
are unlikely to occur in a given period. 

In the reporting period the Group discontinued applying 
hedge accounting to CFD-s (contract for difference) 
that had been concluded in the amount exceeding the 
forward-contracts as the transactions did not meet the 
hedge accounting criteria. The fair value change of the 
transactions in the amount of EUR 9.7 million is presented 
in the income statement line “Other operating expenses”.

The forward contracts of buying and selling electricity the 
goal of which is to hedge the risk in the price of electricity 
will realise in 2016 (31 December 2014: in 2015-
2016). As at 31 December 2015 1 343 952 MWh had 
been hedged for the year 2016 (31 December 2014:  
3 457 844 MWh had been hedged for the year 2015 and 
1 343 952 MWh for the year 2016).

  Consolidated Financial Statements

in million EUR 31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Forward contracts for buying and selling electricity as cash flow hedges 7.5 - 12.1 1.7

Forward contracts for buying and selling electricity as trading derivatives 1.3 11.0 0.2 -

Future contracts for buying and selling greenhouse gas emissions allowances and contracts  
with funds as trading derivatives 0.1 0.8 15.6 0.8

Swap and option contracts for selling fuel oil as cash flow hedges 31.0 - 33.2 -

Swap and option contracts for selling fuel oil as trading derivatives 0.4 - 16.3 -

Total derivative financial instruments (Notes 3.1, 3.3, 12, 15 and 21) 40.3 11.8 77.4 2.5

including non-current portion:

Forward contracts for buying and selling electricity as cash flow hedges - - - 1.7

Swap contracts for selling fuel oil as cash flow hedges - - 1.7 -

Total non-current portion - - 1.7 1.7

Total current portion 40.3 11.8 75.7 0.8
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The basis for determining the fair value of the instruments 
is the quotes by Nasdaq OMX

Future contracts for buying and selling greenhouse gas 
emissions allowances and contracts with funds 

The future contracts (except for own use contracts) for 
buying and selling greenhouse gas emission allowances 
and the contracts with funds for buying CERs (certified 
emission reductions) are classified as trading derivatives. 
The fair value changes of these transactions are recognised 
as gains or losses in the income statement. The basis for 
determining the fair value of transactions is the quotes of 
ICE EUA and cash flow forecasts. The prices are denomi-
nated in euros.

Swap and option contracts for selling fuel oil 

The goal of the swap and option contracts for buying and 
selling fuel oil classified as hedges is to hedge the risk of 
price changes for shale oil. The transactions have been 
concluded for the sale of a specified volume of shale oil 
in future periods and they are designated as cash flow 
hedging instruments, where the underlying instruments to 
be hedged are highly probable shale oil sales transactions. 
The basis for determining the fair value of transactions is 
the quotes by ICE, Platt’s European Marcetscan and Nymex. 
Hedging instruments, which are combined from various 
components of derivative instruments, are recognised at fair 
value  with changes through profit or loss until the acqui-
sition of all components. In the reporting period the Group 
started applying  hedge accounting principles to the option 
contracts in the amount of 120 000 tonnes that were pre-
viously recognised as  trading derivatives (Note 3.3).

Liquidity swap transactions, that have been concluded in 
order to transfer the value changes of previously concluded 
transactions to partners, where the trading doesn’t require 
daily coverage of market values, are classified as trading 
derivatives. Also the call option contracts have been clas-
sified as trading derivatives. The prices are denominated 
in euros and US dollars. The swap and option contracts for 
selling fuel oil which aim to hedge the risk of price changes 
of shale oil will realise  in 2016 (31 December 2014: in 
2015-2016). As at 31 December 2015 131 316 tonnes 
had been hedged for the year  2016 (31 December 2014: 
591 425 tonnes for the year 2015 and 37 228 tonnes 
for the year 2016).    

  Consolidated Financial Statements

15. Credit quality of financial assets 

The basis for estimating the credit quality of financial assets 
not due yet and not written down is the credit ratings assig-
ned by rating agencies or, in their absence, the earlier credit 
behaviour of clients and other parties to the contract. 
  

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

Trade receivables  

Receivables from new clients  
(client relationship shorter than 6 months) 0.7 1.0

Receivables from existing clients  
(client relationship longer than 6 months), 
who in the last 6 months have not  
exceeded the due date 50.9 55.4

Receivables from existing clients (client 
relationship longer than 6 months), 
who in the last 6 months have exceeded 
the due date 29.2 40.5

Total trade receivables (Note 13) 80.8 96.9

14. Derivative financial instruments, continued 
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15. Credit quality of financial assets, continued Nasdaq OMX constitutes a clearing house that is subject to 
official financial regulation, in relation to whom various risk 
management measures are applied, the most important of 
which is the requirement for the clearing house members to 
issue warrants  for their liabilities. Also the requirements for 
minimum equity amounts are applied on clearing houses 
and based on that  the credit risk is considered 

According to the estimate of the management the other 
receivables and accrued income without a credit rating 
from an independent  party do not involve material credit 
risk, as there is no evidence of circumstances that would 
indicate impairment loss.

As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, the 
Group did not have any major credit risk concentrations. 

16. Greenhouse gas allowances 

The value of greenhouse gas allowances acquired is recog-
nised as intangible current assets. In 2015 10 577 000 
tonnes (2014: 28 708 000 tonnes) of greenhouse gas 
allowances were acquired and 17 015 000  tonnes (2014: 
15 000 000 tonnes) were sold. In 2015 12 605 938 
tonnes (2014: 13 425 952 tonnes) of greenhouse gas 
emission allowances were returned to state.   
 

  Consolidated Financial Statements

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

Bank accounts and short-term deposits in banks

At banks with Moody's credit rating of Aa3 134.0 22.0

At banks with Moody's credit rating of A1 - 17.9

At banks with Moody's credit rating of A2 25.7 0.3

At banks with Moody's credit rating of A3 0.1 20.0

Total bank accounts and short-term deposits in banks 
(Notes 3.1, 3.2, 12 and 18) 159.8 60.2

Deposits not recognised as cash equivalents

At banks with Moody's credit rating of Aa3 - 3.0

At banks with Moody's credit rating of A1 - 37.0

Total deposits not recognised as cash equivalents  
(Notes 3.1, 3.2, 12 and 17) - 40.0

Other receivables and accrued income

Other receivables with Moody's credit rating of A1 - 6.2

Other receivables with Moody's credit rating of Aa3 5.5 -

Receivables without credit rating from an independent 
party 37.1 40.7

Total other receivables (Note 13) 42.6 46.9

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives with positive value with Moody’s credit 
rating of Aa3 3.1 5.2

Derivatives with positive value with Moody’s credit 
rating of A1 17.4 18.9

Derivatives with positive value with Moody’s credit 
rating of A2 10.9 40.7

Derivatives with positive value with Moody’s credit 
rating of Baa1 - 0.3

Derivatives with positive value through Nasdaq OMX 
clearing house 7.5 11.4

Derivatives with positive value without credit rating 
from an independent party 1.4 0.9

Derivatives with positive value  
(Notes 3.1, 3.3, 12 and 14) 40.3 77.4
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16. Greenhouse gas allowances, continued 

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

Bank accounts 66.8 31.2

Short-term deposits 93.0 29.0

Total cash and cash equivalents  
(Notes 3.1, 3.2, 12 and 15) 159.8 60.2

Cash and cash equivalents by currencies

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

Euro 159.7 60.0

US dollar 0.1 0.2

Total cash and cash equivalents  
(Notes 3.1, 3.2, 12 and 15) 159.8 60.2

In the financial year, the effective interest rates of term 
deposits with maturities of up to 3 months were between 
0.1 and 0.5% (2014: 0.1-0.4%). 

19. Share capital, statutory reserve   
 capital and retained earnings

As at 31 December 2015, Eesti Energia AS had  
621 645 750 registered shares (31 December 2014:  
621 645 750 registered shares). The nominal value of 
each share is 1 euro. The sole shareholder is  the Republic 
of Estonia. The administrator of the shares and the exerci-
ser of the rights of shareholders is the Estonian Ministry 
of Finance, represented by the Minister of Finance at the 
General Meeting of Shareholders. According to the articles 
of association of Eesti Energia AS, the minimum share  
capital is EUR 250,0 million and the maximum share capital 
is EUR 1000,0 million.

18. Cash and cash equivalents  
 

  Consolidated Financial Statements

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

Greenhouse gas allowances at the beginning 
of the period 144.8 100.4

Acquired 55.3 191.8

Sold (114.0) (88.0)

Returned to state for the greenhouse  
gas emissions (Note 25) (52.6) (59.8)

Other - 0.4

Greenhouse gas allowances at the end  
of the period 33.5 144.8

17. Deposits not recognised  
 as cash equivalents  

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

Deposits not recognised as cash equivalents - 40.0

Total deposits not recognised as cash  
equivalents (Notes 3.1, 3.2, 12 and 15) - 40.0

    

In the financial year, the effective interest rates of deposits 
not recognised as cash equivalents were between and  
0.3-0.5% (2014: 0.3-0.8%). In the reporting period the due 
dates of deposits were 127 to 260 days (2014: 91-272  
days). 
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As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s statutory reserve 
capital totalled EUR 62.1 million (31 December 2014: EUR 
59.0 million). As at 31 December 2015, Eesti Energia AS 
had an obligation to transfer an additional EUR 0 million 
to statutory reserve capital (31 December 2014: EUR 3.1).

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s distributable equity 
was EUR 599.5 million (31 December 2014: EUR 620.9 
million). Corporate income tax is payable upon the distribu-
tion of dividends to shareholders. Income tax on dividends 
is 20/80 of the amount payable as net dividends (until 
31. December 2014 21/79 of the amount payable as 
net dividends).

If all retained earnings were distributed as dividends, the 
corporate income tax would amount to EUR 119.9 million 
(31 December 2014: EUR 124.2 million). It is possible 
to pay out EUR 479.6 million (31 December 2014: EUR 
496.7 million) as net dividends.

The Management Board proposes to pay EUR 40.0 mil-
lion as dividends after the approval of the 2015 Annual 
Report by the General Meeting of Shareholders. The cor-
responding income tax totals EUR 10.0 million. 

19. Share capital, statutory reserve capital and retained earnings, continued

The following table presents the basis for calculating the 
distributable shareholders’ equity, potential dividends and 
the accompanying corporate income tax.  

20. Dividends per share   
    
In 2015, Eesti Energia paid dividends of EUR 61.9 million 
to the Republic of Estonia or EUR 0,10 per share (2014: 
EUR 93,6 million, dividends per share EUR 0,15) (Note 39).

The Management Board proposed to the Annual Meeting 
to pay dividends of EUR 0.06  per share for the financial 
year  ended 31 December 2015, totalling EUR 40.0 mil-
lion. These financial statements do not reflect this amount 
as a liability as the dividend had not been approved  as at  
31 December 2015.     

  Consolidated Financial Statements

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

Retained earnings (Note 39) 599.5 624.0

Obligation to increase statutory reserve 
capital - (3.1)

Distributable shareholder's equity 599.5 620.9

Corporate income tax on dividends  
if distributed 119.9 124.2

Net dividends available for distribution 479.6 496.7
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21. Hedge reserve 

  Consolidated Financial Statements

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

Hedge reserve at the beginning of the period 47.0 47.0

Change in fair value of cash flow hedges 41.9 58.0

Recognised as an increase of revenue (72.1) (58.0)

of which recognised as an increase  
of revenue of electricity (34.3) (47.2)

of which recognised as an increase 
of revenue of shale oil (37.8) (10.8)

Hedge reserve at the end of the period 16.8 47.0

22. Borrowings 

Borrowings at amortised cost 

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

Short-term borrowings

Current portion of long-term bank loans 19.3 6.9

Total short-term borrowings 19.3 6.9

Long-term borrowings

Bonds issued 691.9 698.0

Bank loans 240.6 230.0

Total long-term borrowings 932.5 928.0

Total borrowings (Notes 3.1, 3.2 and 12) 951.8 934.9

The fair value of bonds and bank loans: 

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

Nominal value of bonds (Note 3.1) 758.3 700.0

Market value of bonds on the basis  
of quoted sales price (Note 3.3) 789.7 788.9

Nominal value of bank loans with  
fixed interest rate (Note 3.1) 210.4 186.0

Fair value of bank loans with fixed interest  
rate (Note 3.3) 223.1 196.4

Nominal value of bank loans with floating 
interest rate (Note 3.1) 49.8 51.1

Fair value of bank loans with floating  
interest rate (Note 3.3) 49.8 51.1

The bonds are denominated in euros and listed on the 
London Stock Exchange. The fair value of the bonds is based 
on the input that is within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Management estimates that the fair value of the loans with 
a floating interest rate at the end of reporting and compa-
rative period does not differ from their carrying amounts 
as the risk margins have not changed. The fair values of 
bank loans with  fixed interest rate are based on cash flows 
discounted using discount rates between 0.839%-1.203% 
(2014: 1.235%-1.318%) that are within level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy.

On 23 January 2014 the Group completed an additional 
issue of Eurobonds due in 2018 and with a coupon rate 
4.25%, with a nominal value of EUR 100 million and yield 
of 2.181%.    
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22. Borrowings, continued

In September 2015 the Group carried out a refinancing of 
bonds due in 2018 and 2020 in the course of which the 
exisisting bonds  in the nominal value of EUR 441.7 million 
were exchanged for the new bonds with the nominal value 
of EUR 500 million and a longer maturity and an amount 
of EUR 6.0 million was paid out in cash to the bondholders. 
The maturity of the new bonds is 8 years  (redemption in 
September 2023) and a coupon rate 2.384%. After the 
transaction, the nominal amounts of the remaining bond 
commitments due in 2018 and 2020 are EUR 152.0 mil-
lion and EUR 106.3 million respectively.

The management estimates that the refinancing of bonds 
was an exchange between an existing borrower and len-
der of  debt instruments, for which the terms were not 
substantially changed (discounted cash flow value of new 
bonds varies from  discounted cash flow value of previously 
issued bonds less than 10%), therefore the transaction is 
reflected as a modification of existing financial liability. For 
that reason the difference (the premium) is not shown as 
a loss in income statement, but will be amortized during 
the remaining maturity of the modified liability.  

  Consolidated Financial Statements

Long-term bank loans at nominal value by due date 

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

< 1 year 19.3 6.9

1 - 5 years 120.1 121.4

> 5 years 120.8 108.8

Total 260.2 237.1

All loans are denominated in euros. As at 31 December 
2015 the interest rates of loans were between 0.5 and 
3.4% (31 December 2014: 0.7-3.2%). 

As at 31 December 2015, the weighted average nominal 
interest rate on loans was 2.5% (31 December 2014: 
2.6%). The loan agreements concluded by Eesti Energia 
AS contain certain financial ratios that the Group needs 
to comply with. The Group has complied with all attached 
conditions.

As at 31 December 2015 the Group had undrawn loan 
facilities of EUR 220.0 million (31 December 2014: EUR 
250.0 million), of which EUR 150.0 million were liquidity 
loan agreements with SEB and Pohjola bank contracted in 
July 2015. Mentioned liquidity loans can be taken into use 
until July 2020 and have a floating interest rate. In October 
2013 the Group contracted investment loan agreement 
with EIB of EUR 100.0 million. The loan can be taken into 
use until October 2016 and as of 31 December 2015 
EUR 30.0 million was withdrawn. The interest rate will be 
agreed when the loan is taken into use.  
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22. Borrowings, continued

  Consolidated Financial Statements

Borrowings by period that interest rates are fixed for 

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

< 1 year 67.6 56.6

1 - 5 years 329.2 476.3

> 5 years 555.0 402.0

Total (Notes 3.1, 3.2 and 12) 951.8 934.9

Period until earlier of next interest rate repricing date and 
maturity date.

Weighted average effective interest rates of borrowings 
 

31 December

2015 2014

Long-term bank loans 2.6% 2.6%

Bonds 4.3% 4.3%

23. Trade and other payables  
 

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

Financial payables within trade and other payables

Trade payables 89.0 96.4

Accrued expenses 8.8 8.9

Payables to associates (Note 38) 4.8 4.1

Other payables 2.9 2.3

Total financial payables within trade and other 
payables (Note 3.1 and 12) 105.5 111.7

Payables to employees (Note 3.1) 17.8 19.6

Tax liabilities (Note 3.1) 50.2 31.7

Prepayments 6.7 7.8

Total trade and other payables 180.2 170.8

    of which short-term trade and other payables 179.0 167.0

   of which long-term trade and other payables 1.2 3.8

24. Deferred income  

Connection and other service fees 

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

Deferred connection and other service fees  
at the beginning of the period 154.9 147.2

Connection and other service fees received 14.0 12.3

The value of assets transferred  
for connection fees 2.5 1.5

Connection and other service fees  
recognised as income (Notes 26 and 33) (6.5) (6.1)

Deferred connection and other service fees  
at the end of the period  164.9 154.9

Government grants 

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

Deferred income from grant at the beginning 
of the period 6.8 7.3

of which short-term deferred income - 3.5

of which long-term deferred income 6.8 3.8

Grants received 0.1 0.2

Transferred grants - (0.2)

Recognised as income (Note 27) (0.4) (0.2)

Reversal - (0.3)

Deferred income from grant at the end 
 of the period 6.5 6.8

   of which long-term deferred income 6.5 6.8

   

The grants have been received from the European Union 
Funds,	Ettevõtluse	Arendamise	SA	(Enterprise	Estonia)		and	
SA Keskkonnainvesteeringute Keskus (Environmental Invest-
ment Center).      
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in million EUR Opening  
balance

31 December
2014

Recognition 
and reversal
of provisions

(Note 5)

Interest
charge

(Note 31)

Use Closing balance 
31 December 2015

Environmental protection provisions (Note 30) 26.5 2.5 0.9 (1.6) 5.8 22.5

Provision for termination of mining operations (Note 30) 0.8 - - (0.1) - 0.7

Employee related provisions (Note 29) 4.7 2.7 0.1 (0.9) 2.1 4.5

Provision for dismantling cost of assets 3.2 - 0.1 - - 3.3

Provision for greenhouse gas emissions (Notes 8 and 28) 68.2 12.6 - (52.5) 28.3 -

Provision for onerous contracts 0.6 (0.6) - - - -

Provision for obligations arising from treaties 2.2 1.2 0.1 - 3.5 -

Total provisions (Note 4) 106.2 18.4 1.2 (55.1) 39.7 31.0

in million EUR Opening
balance

31 December
2013

Recognition 
and reversal
of provisions

(Note 5)

Interest
charge

(Note 31)

Use Closing balance 
31 December 2014

Environmental protection provisions (Note 30) 22.1 5.2 0.8 (1.6) 4.8 21.7

Provision for termination of mining operations  
(Notes 29 and 30) 1.3 (0.5) - - 0.1 0.7

Employee related provisions (Note 29) 4.5 0.6 0.1 (0.5) 0.8 3.9

Provision for dismantling cost of assets 3.2 - 0.2 - - 3.2

Provision for greenhouse gas emissions (Notes 8 and 28) 62.4 65.6 - (59.8) 68.2 -

Provision for onerous contracts 7.8 - - (7.2) 0.6 -

Provision for obligations arising from treaties 1.0 1.2 - - - 2.2

Total provisions (Note 4) 102.3 72.1 1.1 (69.1) 74.5 31.7
       

25. Provisions

Recognition and change in the provisions during financial 
year 2015 in the amount of EUR 0.9 million (2014: EUR 
1.6 million)  resulted from the change in discount rate.

Environmental protection provisions and provisions for the 
termination of mining operations have been set up for:
- restoring land damaged by mining;
- cleaning contaminated land surfaces;
- restoring water supplies contaminated as a result of 

mining activities;

- ascertainment and compensation of damages caused 
by blasting work;

- closing landfills and neutralising excess water;
- maintenance of closed ash fields;
- closing of industrial waste dump;
- eliminating asbestos in power plants;
- for payment of mining rights fee;
- for dismantling and gathering of equipment and facilities.

  Consolidated Financial Statements

Short-term
provision

Long-term 
provision

Short-term
provision

Long-term 
provision
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Long-term environmental protection provisions will be 
settled at the Eesti Energia Kaevandused in 2017-2038,
and at Narva Elektrijaamad in 2017-2058.

Provisions related to the termination of mining operations 
will be settled in 2016-2038.

Employee related provisions have been set up for:
- payment of benefits laid down in collective agreements 

and other acts;
- compensation of work-related injuries;
- payment of termination benefits;
- payments of scholarships.

Long-term employee related provisions will be settled 
during the periods specified in the contracts or during 
the remaining life expectancy of the employees, period 
of which is determined using data from Statistics Estonia 
on life expectancies by age groups. The provisions for 
payments of termination benefits in mines and quarries 
will be set up when the detailed plans for the closure of 
these mines and quarries have been announced.

The provision for the dismantling costs of assets has been 
set up to cover the future dismantling costs of the renovated 
power blocks No. 8 and 11 and industrial waste dump of the 
Narva power plants. The present value of the dismantling 
costs of the assets was included in the cost of property, 
plant and equipment. The provision for the dismantling 
costs is expected to be settled in 2034-2035.

The provision for greenhouse gas emissions has been 
set up in the average price of the greenhouse gas  
emission allowances that are owned by the Group or that 

are allocated to the Group free of charge for heat pro-
duction or for the purpose of modernisation of electricity 
production. In the reporting and comparative period the fol-
lowing amounts of the greenhouse gas emission allowances 
have been allocated to the Group free of charge:
a) for the purpose of modernisation of electricity production 
- 3 570 624 tonnes for the investements made in 2015 
that will be transferred in 2016; 4 284 748 tonnes for the 
investments made in 2014 that was transferred in 2015.
b) for heat production - 275 957 tonnes for heat produc-
tion in 2015, 404 380 tonnes for heat production in 2014. 
The greenhouse gas emission allowances allocated free of 
charge are taken into account for the purpose of calculating 
the provisions in the period for which the allowances are 
allocated irrespective of their actual transfer (Note 34).

In the reporting period the provision for greenhouse gas 
emissions for 2014 was annulled by EUR 15.6 million due to 
the decrease of the weighted average price, which was caused 
by the sale of the partial supply of greenhouse gas allowances 
with the purpose of the Group’s cash flow management.

The provision for obligations arising from treaties has been 
set up for a part of contractual payment for automatic 
meter reading system installation works that will be paid 
after the implementation of the system. The provision will 
presumably be settled in 2017.

The provision for onerous contracts had been set up as 
at 31 December 2014 for the losses that could probably 
occur in Latvia and Lithuania in the future, which was dri-
ven by the fact that the purchase prices of electricity in 
the power exchange were expected to be higher than the 
fixed-prices of sales contracts. The above-mentioned 
situation had occurred due to the deficit of transmission 
capacities on the Estonian-Latvian border. All the losses 

25. Provisions, continued

  Consolidated Financial Statements
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that could have occured until the expiring of the contracts 
had been taken into account when setting up the provision. 
As the market situation has changed, the provision was 
annulled in the reporting period.

The provision are discounted at the rate of 0.74%-4.60% 
(2014: 1.07%-4.72%). The discount curve is used for 
discounting provisions that allows more accurate evaluation 
of the provisions in different time horizons.

  Consolidated Financial Statements

27. Other operating income  
   

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

Gain from revaluation of derivatives 9.3 11.4

Fines, penalties and compensations 2.9 6.2

Gain on disposal of property, plant  
and equipment (Note 33) 2.0 1.0

Government grants (Note 24) 0.4 0.2

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 33 and 35) - 3.4

Other operating income 2.1 1.2

Total other operating income 16.7 23.4
      

28. Raw materials and consumables used 

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

Transmission services 78.7 81.0

Maintenance and repairs 42.0 42.6

Electricity 40.5 35.1

Materials and spare parts for production 32.3 32.0

Resource tax on mineral resources 28.1 28.5

Technological fuel 23.8 27.7

Gas bought for resale 15.1 2.5

Greenhouse gases emissions expense (Note 25) 12.6 65.6

Loss on disposal of greenhouse gas allowances 7.4 -

Other raw materials and consumables used 46.2 60.5

Total raw materials and consumables used 326.7 375.5

29. Payroll expenses 

1 January - 31 December

Number of employees  2015 2014

Number of employees at the beginning  
of the period

6,601 6,960

Number of employees at the end of the period 6,015 6,601

Average number of employees 6,289 6,712

26. Revenue   

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

By activity  

Sale of goods  

Electricity 352.2 448.5

Shale oil 102.7 90.8

Heat 36.9 39.8

Oil shale - 28.7

Power equipment 4.9 5.3

Other goods 22.1 12.4

Total sale of goods 518.8 625.5

Sale of services  

Sales of services related to network 234.4 234.9

Connection fees (Notes 24 and 33) 6.5 6.1

Repair and construction services 5.4 2.7

Rental and maintenance income (Note 7) 1.6 1.4

Other services 10.0 9.4

Total sale of services 257.9 254.5

Total  revenue (Note 5) 776.7 880.0

The Group did not receive any revenue from the sale of oil 
shale in the reporting period, as the sales contract of oil 
shale with a third party ended and new contracts for sale 
of oil shale were not concluded.    
 

25. Provisions, continued
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29. Payroll expenses, continued

  Consolidated Financial Statements

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

  2015 2014

Payroll expenses  

Wages, salaries, bonuses and vacation pay 111.7 117.4

Average monthly pay (in euros) 1,480 1,458

Other payments and benefits to employees 5.0 4.3

Payroll taxes 39.1 41.2

Recognition/reversal of employee related  
provisions (Note 25) 2.7 0.6

Total calculated payroll expenses 158.5 163.5

Of which remuneration to management  
and supervisory boards (Note 38)

Salaries, bonuses, additional remuneration 2.2 2.4

Fringe benefits 0.1 0.1

Total paid to management and supervisory 
boards 2.3 2.5

Capitalised in the cost of self-constructed assets (18.6) (21.4)

Covered from the provisions for the termination 
of mining operations and environmental  
protection (Note 25) (0.3) 0.1

Total payroll expenses 139.6 142.2

The Management Board members are appointed by the 
Supervisory Board. The term of appointment for 5 years. 

30. Other operating expenses 
 

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

Environmental pollution charges 30.3 31.8

Loss from doubtful loan receivables  
(Notes 5, 13, 33 and 38) 11.0 -

Miscellaneous office expenses 6.7 8.3

Rental expense (Note 7) 5.5 4.2

Recognition of environmental and mining 
termination provisions (Note 25) 2.4 4.7

Research and development costs 2.0 3.0

Other operating expenses 31.4 20.5

Total other expenses 89.3 72.5

31. Net financial income (-expense) 

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

Financial income  

Interest income 6.3 4.3

Total interest income 6.3 4.3

Total financial income (Note 33) 6.3 4.3

Financial expenses

Interest expense 

   Interest expenses on bonds and loans (37.6) (36.8)

   Amounts capitalised on qualifying assets
   (Note 6) 24.7 29.8

Total interest expenses on borrowings  
(Note 33) (12.9) (7.0)

Interest expenses on provisions (Note 25) (1.2) (1.1)

Total interest expenses (14.1) (8.1)

Foreign exchange gain/losses 3.8 3.3

Other financial expenses (0.3) (0.2)

Total financial expenses (10.6) (5.0)

Net financial income (-expense) (4.3) (0.7)

32. Corporate income tax    
 
According to the Income Tax Act, the companies are taxed 
in Estonia upon distribution of dividends. From 1 January 
2015, the income tax rate is 20/80 of the net amount of 
dividends. Dividends distributed by Estonian company are 
exempt, if these are paid out of dividends received from 
other companies in which Estonian company has at least 
10% participation.      
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32. Corporate income tax, continued 33. Cash generated from operations  

  Consolidated Financial Statements

Average effective income tax rate  
    

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

Estonia 

Net dividends 61.9 93.6

Income tax applicable for dividends 20/80 21/79

Theoretical income tax at applicable rates 15.5 24.9

Impact of dividends and liquidation 
proceeds paid by associates (0.6) (1.5)

Effective income tax on dividends 14.9 23.4

Average effective income tax rate 19.2% 19.7%

Income tax expense arising from  
the subsidiaries in Finland and Latvia - 0.3

Total income tax expense 14.9 23.7

As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, the 
Group did not have any deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities.       

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

Profit before income tax 55.4 183.0

Adjustments

Depreciation and impairment of property, 
plant and equipment (Notes 5 and 6) 176.9 120.4

Amortisation and impairment of intangible 
assets (Notes 5 and 8) 31.7 5.8

Deferred income from connection and other 
service fees (Notes 4, 24 and 26) (6.5) (6.1)

Gain on disposal of subsidiary  
(Note 27 and 35) - (3.4)

Gain on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment (Note 27) (1.6) (1.0)

Amortisation of government grant received 
to purchase non-current assets (0.3) (0.2)

Profit (loss) from associates using equity 
method (Note 9) (2.5) 2.4

Unpaid/unsettled gain/loss on derivatives 16.3 (31.3)

Loss from doubtful loan receivables  
(Notes 5, 13, 30 and 38) 11.0 -

Currency exchange gain/loss on loans 
granted (3.8) (3.2)

Interest expense on borrowings (Note 31) 12.9 7.0

Interest and other financial income (Note 31) (6.3) (4.3)

Adjusted net profit before tax 283.2 269.1

Net change in current assets relating  
to operating activities

Change in receivables related to operating 
activities (Note 13) 15.5 10.3

Change in inventories (Note 11) (31.1) (1.7)

Net change in other current assets relating 
to operating activities 118.3 2.8

Total net change in current assets relating  
to operating activities 102.8 11.4

Net change in current liabilities relating  
to operating activities

Change in provisions (36.7) 2.9

Change in trade payables 0.3 1.9

Net change in liabilities relating to other 
operating activities 1.6 8.7

Total net change in liabilities relating  
to operating activities (34.8) 13.5

Cash generated from operations 351.1 294.0



120

Ee
st

i E
n
e
rg

ia
 A

n
n
u
al

 R
e
p
o

rt
  
2

0
1

5

Contents

Emission rights

On implementation of article 10c of EU Emissions Trading 
System the Group may receive for the purpose of moder-
nisation  of electricity production up to 17.7 million tonnes 
of greenhouse gas emission allowances free of charge in 
the period 2013 to 2017. In addition it is possible for the 
Group according to the article 10a to receive in the period 
2013 to 2020 up to 2.1 million tonnes of greenhouse gas 
emission allowances free of charge for heat production 
(Notes 16 and 25). 

(b) Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities arising from potential tax audit

Estonia
Tax authorities have neither started nor performed any tax 
audits or single case audits at any Group company. Tax aut-
horities have the right to review the company’s tax records 
within 5 years after the reported tax year and if they find 
any errors they may impose additional taxes, interest and 
fines. The Group’s management considers that there are 
not  any circumstances which may give rise to a potential 
material liability in this respect.
Foreign countries
The Group’s management considers that there are not any 
circumstances which may give rise to a potential material 
liability  in this respect.
Financial covenants 
The loan agreements concluded by the Group set certain 
covenants on the Group’s consolidated financial indicators. 
The covenants have been adhered to.
Other disputes
VKG Oil AS filed an action on 13 January 2015 to Viru 

  Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Off-balance sheet assets, contingent
  liabilities and commitments 
   
(a) Off-balance sheet assets
   
Oil shale Resources

The overview of the resources of oil shale in the posses-
sion of the Group and its associates is presented in the 
table below. The resources of oil shale of Estonian Republic 
represent the resources of oil shale in the official balance 
of natural resources. The resources of oil shale of interna-
tional development projects are recognised based on the 
disclosure requirements of international standards of eva-
luation of resources and reserves. The classification of the 
resource is  performed by the authorized experts and is pro-
ved appropriate according to the standard both by the level 
of exploration and economical perspective. Depending on 
the development phase the known technical, environmental 
and social-economical  restrictions have been adjusted and 
taken into account when recognising the resources. 

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

Estonia

    Measured* 480 509 

Jordan

    Measured* 924 924 

    Inferred** 2,604 2,604 

USA**

    Measured ** 3,500 3,680 

    Indicated** 2,300 2,540 

    Inferred** 230 368 

* Resource represents a part of in place Resource, after it has been modified by desired  
cut-off grade, technical, economical and already defined modifying factors.

** Resource is defined as amount of total in place oil shale, that has high possibility for com-
mercial interest. This definition is  applied for resources before the pre-technical analyses, 
to which possible modifying factors have not been applied.  
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34. Off-balance sheet assets, contingent liabilities  
and commitments, continued  

County Court against Eesti Energia Kaevandused AS with 
the  claim of EUR 12 655 782.47. The action of VKG Oil 
AS relates to the commercial oil shale sold by Eesti Energia 
Kaevandused AS to VKG Oil AS in 2014 and the price of 
the oil shale. 

Eesti Energia Kaevandused AS filed an action on 11 May 
2015 against VKG Oil AS and Viru Keemia Grupp AS with 
the claims  of fulfilment of the contract of EUR 7 988 480, 
damages of EUR 26 076 845 and late fees. The action of 
Eesti Energia Kaevandused AS relates to the infringement 
of the oil shale sales contract by VKG Oil AS. 

VKG Oil AS filed an action on 20 October 2015 to Viru 
County Court against Eesti Energia Kaevandused AS with 
the  claim of EUR 11 870 385.48 EUR. The claim of VKG 
Oil AS relates to the sale of commercial oil shale and its 
price  from Eesti Energia Kaevandused AS to VKG Oil AS 
between 19 October 2012 to 31 December 2013. 

As based on management’s estimates arising of additional 
liabilities is not probable no provison has been  set up in 
the statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2015. 

(c) Commitments

Capital commitments arising from construction contracts 
As at 31 December 2015, the Group had contractual 
liabilities relating to the acquisition of non-current assets 
totalling  EUR 94.4 million (31 December 2014: EUR 102.3 
million).

Contracts for buying greenhouse gas emissions allowances
As at 31 December 2015 the Group had concluded cont-
racts for buying greenhouse gas emissions allowances 
in December 2016 in the amount of EUR 66.4 million  
(31 December 2014: EUR 36.1 million). 

35. Disposal of subsidiaries 

Eesti Energia Võrguehitus AS 
 
On 14 August 2014 the transaction of the sale of the 
100%	shareholding	in	Eesti	Energia	Võrguehitus	AS	was	
completed.  

Net assets of the subsidiary disposed 

in million EUR 14 August 2014

Cash and cash equivalents 2.5

Trade and other receivables 3.2

Property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 0.7

Trade and other payables (2.6)

Total net assets of th subsidiary disposed 3.8

Sales price 7.2

Gain on sale (Notes 27 and  33) 3.4

Cash in flows in transaction 

Proceeds from sale 7.2

Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiary in bank accounts (2.5)

Total cash inflows in transaction 4.7

36. Acquisition of Additional Share   
 Capital of Subsidiary 
    
On 18 February 2015, the Group acquired an additional 34%  
of	the	share	capital	of	AS	Narva	Soojusvõrk,	after	which	AS	
Narva	Soojusvõrk	is	fully	owned	by	Eesti	Energia	Narva	Elektri-
jaamad AS. The purchase price of shares was EUR 1.2 million. 
    

  Consolidated Financial Statements



122

Ee
st

i E
n
e
rg

ia
 A

n
n
u
al

 R
e
p
o

rt
  
2

0
1

5

Contents

37. Earnings per share   
    
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit 
attributable to the equity holders of the company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding. 
As there are no potential ordinary shares, diluted earnings 
per share equal basic earnings per share in all the periods. In 
2014 and 2015 there were no changes in the share capital. 

1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

Profit attributable to the equity holders  
of the company (million EUR) 40.5 159.5

Weighted average number of shares (million) 621.6 621.6

Basic earnings per share (EUR) 0.07 0.26

Diluted earnings per share (EUR) 0.07 0.26

38. Related party transactions 

The sole shareholder of Eesti Energia AS is the Republic of 
Estonia. In preparing the Group’s financial statements, the 
related parties include associates, members of the mana-
gement and supervisory boards of the parent company, and 
other companies over which these persons have control or 
significant influence. Related parties also include entities 
under the control or significant influence of the state.

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

Transactions with associates 2015 2014

Purchase of goods and services 22.0 21.3

Sale of goods and services 1.2 1.6

Financial expenses 5.8 3.5

Loans granted 2.9 6.1

  Consolidated Financial Statements

In the reporting period the loan granted to associate Enefit 
Jordan B.V was revalued by EUR 11.0 million (Notes 5, 13, 
30 and 33).

in million EUR

Transactions with entities over which  
the members of Management and Supervisory 
Board have significant influence 

1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

Purchases of goods and services 2.6 5.4

The sales of electricity, network services and heat to the enti-
ties over which the state has control or significant influence 
have been taken place under normal business activity. The 
Group has performed in the reporting and comparative period 
purchase and sales transactions in the material amounts  
with Elering AS, which is fully state-owned enterprise. 
   

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

Transactions with Elering AS 2015 2014

Purchases of goods and services 83.8 88.9

Purchase of property, pland and equpiment 
and prepayments 2.4 0.7

Sale of goods and services 
(incl. renewable energy grant) 22.8 22.2

Sale of property, plant and equipment 0.7 -

in million EUR 31 December

Receivables from Elering AS and payables  
to Elering AS 

2015 2014

Receivables (Note 13) 3.4 5.4

incl off-balance sheet receivable  
for damages - 1.8

Payables (Note 23) 18.4 18.1

The remuneration paid to the members of the Management 
and Supervisory Boards is disclosed in Note 29. Receivables 
from associates are disclosed in Note 13 and payables to 
associates in Note 23. No impairment loss from receivables 
was recognised in the comparative period.

Upon premature termination of the service contract with 
a member of the Management Board, the service cont-
racts stipulate the payment of 3 months’ remuneration as 
termination benefits.
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39. Financial information on the parent  
 company  

Financial information disclosed on the parent company 
includes the primary separate financial statements of the 
parent company, the disclosure of which is required by the 
Accounting Act of Estonia. 

The primary financial statements of the parent company 
have been prepared using the same accounting policies  
that have been used in the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements.  

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are reported 
at cost in the separate financial statements of the parent 
company.  

Income Statement 

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

Revenue 343.5 349.4

Other operating income 13.1 103.1

Raw materials and consumables used (223.9) (315.1)

Other operating expenses (27.5) (20.4)

Payroll expenses (28.9) (29.8)

Depreciation, amortisation  
and impairment (13.1) (12.8)

Other expenses (12.0) (4.7)

OPERATING PROFIT 51.2 69.7

Financial income 88.2 82.7

Financial expenses (30.2) (30.1)

Total financial income and expenses 58.0 52.6

Profit (loss) from associates - 3.4

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 109.2 125.7

Corporate income tax expense - (8.4)

NET PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 109.2 117.3

Statement of comprehensive income  

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 109.2 117.3

Other comprehensive income

Revaluation of risk hedge instruments (2.9) (32.1)

Other comprehensive income for the year (2.9) (32.1)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR 106.3 85.2

38. Related party transactions, continued

In purchasing and selling network services, the prices set 
by the Estonian Competition Authority are used.
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39. Financial information on the parent company, continued  

Statement of financial position   

in million EUR 31 December

2015 2014

ASSETS 

Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 205.9 210.8

Intangible assets 5.8 7.7

Investments in subsidiaries 519.8 521.2

Investments in associates 13.2 13.2

Receivables from subsidiaries 263.7 253.7

Total non-current assets 1,008.4 1,006.6

Current assets 

Greenhouse gas allowances 12.0 104.8

Trade and other receivables 1,145.0 1,020.8

Derivative financial instruments 16.3 35.8

Deposits not recognised as cash equivalents - 40.0

Cash and cash equivalents 149.6 52.1

Total current assets 1,322.9 1,253.5

Total assets 2,331.3 2,260.1

in million EUR 331 December

2015 2014

EQUITY 

Share capital 621.6 621.6

Share premium 259.8 259.8

Statutory reserve capital 62.1 59.0

Hedge reserve 7.4 10.3

Retained earnings 317.6 273.4

Total equity 1,268.5 1,224.1

LIABILITIES 

Non-current liabilities 

Borrowings 932.6 928.0

Other payables - 1.7

Deferred income 0.1 0.1

Provisions 1.0 1.0

Derivative financial instruments - 1.7

Total non-current liabilities 933.7 932.5

Current liabilities 

Borrowings 19.3 6.9

Trade and other payables 97.8 95.4

Derivative financial instruments 11.8 0.9

Provisions 0.2 0.3

Total current liabilities 129.1 103.5

Total liabilities 1,062.8 1,036.0

Total liabilities and equity 2,331.3 2,260.1
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39. Financial information on the parent company, continued  

Cash Flow Statement  

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

Cash flows from operating activities 

Profit before tax 109.2 125.7

Adjustments

Depreciation of property, plant  
and equipment 10.7 10.4

Amortisation of intangible assets 2.4 2.4

Profit/loss from sale of property,  
plant and equipment (0.2) -

Profit from sale of a subsidiary - (5.6)

Loss from doubtful loan receivables 11.0 -

Other gains/losses on investments (60.0) (61.5)

Gain/loss on unpaid/unsettled derivatives 26.0 (18.9)

Currency exchange gain/loss on loans 
granted (9.1) (8.5)

Interest expense on borrowings 37.5 37.0

Interest income (26.9) (24.9)

Adjusted net profit 100.6 56.1

Net change in current assets relating  
to operating activities 

Loss from doubtful receivables 0.3 1.1

Change in receivables relating  
to operating activities 1.1 6.3

Net change in current assets relating  
to other operating activities 92.9 28.2

Total net change in current assets  
relating to operating activities 94.3 35.6

Net change in liabilities relating to operating 
activities 

Change in provisions - 0.2

Change in trade payables 0.9 (0.8)

Net change in liabilities related to other 
operating activities 1.5 12.7

Total net change in liabilities relating  
to operating activities 2.4 12.1

Interest paid and borrowing costs (43.8) (37.8)

Interest received 17.2 18.8

Corporate income tax paid - (13.8)

Net cash flows from operating activities 170.7 71.0

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December

2015 2014

Cash flows from investing activities 

Purchase of property, plant and  
equipment and intangible assets (8.1) (4.3)

Proceeds from sale of property,  
plant and equipment 0.3 0.4

Net change in cash restricted from  
being used 0.6 3.2

Dividends received from financial  
investments 61.4 61.9

Net change in term deposits with maturities  
of more than 3 months 40.0 (19.0)

Contribution to the share capital  
of subsidiaries - (15.6)

Proceeds from sale and redemption  
of short-term financial investments - 11.6

Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries - 7.2

Loans granted to subsidiaries (0.8) (0.8)

Repayments of loans granted to subsidiaries 0.3 0.2

Change in overdraft granted to subsidiaries (125.1) (124.9)

Other loans granted (2.9) (6.1)

Net cash used in investing activities (34.3) (86.2)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from bonds issued - 110.3

Bank loans received 29.9 -

Repayments of bank loans (6.9) (1.4)

Change in overnight deposit received  
from subsidiaries - (1.7)

Dividends paid (61.9) (93.6)

Total cash generated from financing activities (38.9) 13.6

Net cash flows  97.5 (1.6)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  
of the period 52.1 53.7

Cash and cash equivalents at the end  
of the period 149.6 52.1

Net increase/decrease in cash  
and cash equivalents  97.5 (1.6)
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39. Financial information on the parent company, continued 
 

Statement of Changes in Equity 

in million EUR Share  
capital

Share  
premium

Statutory
reserve capital

Hedge
reserve

Currency
translation
differences

Retained
earnings

Total

Equity as at 31 December 2013 621.6 259.8 51.0 42.4 - 257.7 1,232.5

Carrying amount of holdings under controlling  
and significant influence (505.5) (505.5)

Carrying amount of holdings under controlling  
and significant influence using equity method 4.6 0.8 813.9 819.3

Adjusted unconsolidated equity as at 31 December 2013 47.0 0.8 566.2 1,546.3

Profit for the year - - - - - 117.3 117.3

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - (32.1) - - (32.1)

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (32.1) - 117.3 85.2

Dividends paid (Note 19) - - - - - (93.6) (93.6)

Transfer of retained earnings to statutory reserve capital - - 8.0 - - (8.0) -

Total contributions by and distributions to owners  
of the company, recognised directly in equity - - 8.0 - - (101.6) (93.6)

Total transactions with owners of the company,  
recognised directly in equity - - 8.0 - - (101.6) (93.6)

Equity as at 31 December 2014 621.6 259.8 59.0 10.3 - 273.4 1,224.1

Carrying amount of holdings under controlling  
and significant influence (534.4) (534.4)

Carrying amount of holdings under controlling  
and significant influence using equity method 36.7 5.7 885.0 927.4

Adjusted unconsolidated equity  
as at 31 December 2014 (Note 19) 47.0 5.7 624.0 1,617.1



127

Ee
st

i E
n
e
rg

ia
 A

n
n
u
al

 R
e
p
o

rt
  
2

0
1

5

Contents  Consolidated Financial Statements

39. Financial information on the parent company, continued 
 

Statement of Changes in Equity 

in million EUR Share  
capital

Share  
premium

Statutory
reserve capital

Hedge
reserve

Currency
translation
differences

Retained
earnings

Total

Equity as at 31 December 2014 621.6 259.8 59.0 10.3 - 273.4 1,224.1

Carrying amount of holdings under 
controlling and significant influence (534.4) (534.4)

Carrying amount of holdings under controlling  
and significant influence using equity method 36.7 5.7 885.0 927.4

Adjusted unconsolidated equity  
as at 31 December 2014 (Note 19) 47.0 5.7 624.0 1,617.1

Profit for the year - - - - - 109.2 109.2

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - (2.9) - - (2.9)

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (2.9) - 109.2 106.3

Dividends paid (Note 19) - - - - - (61.9) (61.9)

Transfer of retained earnings to statutory reserve capital - - 3.1 - - (3.1) -

Total contributions by and distributions to owners  
of the company, recognised directly in equity - - 3.1 - - (65.0) (61.9)

Total transactions with owners of the company,  
recognised directly in equity - - 3.1 - - (65.0) (61.9)

Equity as at 31 December 2015 621.6 259.8 62.1 7.4 - 317.6 1,268.5

Carrying amount of holdings under controlling  
and significant influence (533.0) (533.0)

Carrying amount of holdings under controlling  
and significant influence using equity method 9.4 11.0 814.9 835.3

Adjusted unconsolidated equity 
as at 31 December 2015 (Note 19) 16.8 11.0 599.5 1,570.8

Under the Accounting Act of Estonia, adjusted unconsolidated 
retained earnings are the amount from which a public limited 
company can make payments to its shareholders.

40. Events after the reporting period

In connection to significant drop of electricity and oil prices 
in the beginning of 2016, the sensitivity of the recoverable 
amount of the assets to price changes was analysed. If the 
forecast of the market price of electricity were updated as at 
15 February 2016, the write-down would amount to up to one 
fifth of the planned cost of the Auvere power plant, up to one 

third of the value of the assets of the Narva power plants and 
to a couple of percentages of the value of the assets of the 
Aulepa wind farm (Note 6).

If the sales price of the output of the oil plant were forecast 
based on relevant forward prices if 1% sulphur content heavy 
fuel oil as at 15 February 2016, the impairment loss that 
would have to be recognised would amount to up to two 
fifths of the value of the assets of the oil plant (Note 6).  
 
Action plans are reviewed and asset values are reassessed 
on a regular basis.     
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Independent Auditor’s Report
 

AS PricewaterhouseCoopers, Pärnu mnt 15, 10141 Tallinn, Estonia; License No. 6; Registry code: 10142876 
T: +372 614 1800, F: +372 614 1900, www.pwc.ee  

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

(Translation of the Estonian original) 
 
 

To the Shareholder of Eesti Energia AS 
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Eesti Energia AS and its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 2015 and 
the consolidated income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 

Management Board’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

Management Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
European Union, and for such internal control as the Management Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.  
 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.  
 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  
 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  
 

Opinion 
 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Eesti Energia AS and its subsidiaries as of 31 December 2015, and their financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. 
 
 

AS PricewaterhouseCoopers 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Tiit Raimla         Jüri Koltsov 
Auditor’s Certificate No. 287        Auditor’s Certificate No. 623 
 
 

22 February 2016 
 
 

                                                             
 This version of our report is a translation from the original, which was prepared in Estonian. All possible care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of 
interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original language version of our report takes precedence over this translation. 
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Profit Allocation Proposal

The retained earnings of Eesti Energia Group as at 31 December 2015 were EUR 599,436,184.36, of which the net 
profit for the year 2015 amounted to EUR 40,470,992.21.  
  
The Management Board proposes under section 332 of the Commercial Code of Estonia to allocate the retained earnings 
of Eesti Energia Group as at 31 December 2015 as follows:
  
 1. to pay EUR 40,000,000.00 as dividends to the shareholder;
 2. not to distribute the remaining retained earnings of EUR 559,436,184.36, due to the continuing financing needs  

 of the Eesti Energia Group.
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Signatures of the Management Board  
to the Annual Report for Financial Year 2015
In the 2015 financial year, the Eesti Energia Management Board complied as required with the duties of members of 
the Management Board, and led the Eesti Energia Group to achieve its targets. The Management Board has regularly 
reported to the Supervisory Board, has acted within its powers and has submitted all of the information necessary for 
decision-making to the Supervisory Board. The Management Board is aware of and hereby confirms its responsibility for 
the preparation of the annual report and for the data therein.

The Annual Report of the Eesti Energia Group for the financial year ended on 31 December 2015 consists of the manage-
ment report, the consolidated financial statements, the auditor’s report and the profit allocation proposal. The Management 
Board has prepared the management report, the consolidated financial statements and the profit allocation proposal.

MANAGEMENT BOARD
22 February 2015

Chairman of the Management Board Members of the Management Board

Hando Sutter Andri Avila 

Raine Pajo  

Andres Vainola 

Margus Vals
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Glossary

1 MWh – 1 megawatt hour. The unit of energy generated (or consumed) in 
one hour by a device operating at a constant power of 1 MW (megawatt).

1,000,000 MWh = 1,000 GWh = 1 TWh.

Circulating fluidised bed (CFB) technology – Circulating fluidised bed com-
bustion technology whereby larger (unburnt) particles are returned to the 
furnace.

Clean Dark Spread (CDS) – Eesti Energia’s margin between the price of 
electricity (in NPS Estonia) and the sum of total oil shale costs and CO2 costs 
(taking into account the price of CO2 allowance futures maturing in December 
and the amount of CO2 emitted in the generation of a MWh of electricity). 

CO2 emission allowance – According to the European Union Emissions 
Trading System (ETS), one emission allowance gives the holder the right to 
emit one tonne of carbon dioxide (CO2). The limit on the total number of 
emission allowances available gives them a monetary value.

EBITDA margin – Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amorti-
sation divided by revenues.

FFO – Funds from operations. Cash flow from operations, excluding changes 
in working capital.

Financial leverage – Net debt divided by the sum of net debt and equity.

Level of water reservoirs – The largest part of the Nordic countries’ electricity 
generation is based on hydro power whose output depends on the level of 
water reservoirs. 

Liquidity – Amount of liquid assets. Sum of cash and cash equivalents, short 
term financial investments and deposits with a maturity of more than 3 months

Net debt – Debt obligations (amortised) less cash and cash equivalents (incl. 
bank deposits with maturities exceeding 3 months), units in money market 
funds and investments in fixed income bonds.

Network losses – The amount of electricity delivered to customers is somew-
hat smaller than the amount supplied from power plants to the network 
because during transfer a part of electricity in the power lines and transformers 
converts into heat. To a lesser extent, network losses are caused by power 
theft and incorrect measuring. The network operator has to compensate 

energy losses and for this a corresponding amount of electricity has to be 
purchased every hour.

NPS system price – The price on the Nord Pool power exchange that is 
calculated on the basis of all purchase and sale bids without taking into 
account transmission capacity limitations.

Oil shale resource estimates – Outside Estonia, oil shale resources with high 
economic potential have been estimated based on exploration results, without 
taking into consideration any modifying factors. In Estonia, in conformity 
with the earth’s crust regulation and resource exploration practice, relevant 
technical, environmental and socio-economic modifying factors are taken 
into consideration. Resource records are kept based on the environmental 
register’s list of deposits. Oil shale resources are classified into the following 
categories: measured, indicated and inferred, in the order of decreasing 
geological confidence.

Position hedged with forward transactions – The average price and the cor-
responding amount of electricity and shale oil sold and emission allowances 
purchased in the future is previously fixed.

RAB – Regulated Asset Base, which represents the value of assets used to 
provide regulated services.

Return on Fixed Assets (ROFA) – Operating profit (rolling 12 months) divi-
ded by average fixed assets excluding assets under construction (allocated 
to specific product).

Road way construction – establishing stopes on the purpose of opening 
mining area or preparing new mining district

ROIC – Return on Invested Capital, calculated by dividing operating profit 
by average invested capital.

SAIDI – System Average Interruption Duration Index. The sum of all cus-
tomer interruption durations in minutes divided by the total number of 
customers served.

SAIFI – System Average Interruption Frequency Index. The total number of 
customer interruptions divided by the total number of customers served.

Variable profit – Profit after deducting variable costs from sales revenues.
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Investor Information  

•	 Q1	interim	report	–	29	April	2016.	
•	 Q2	interim	report	–	29	July	2016.
•	 Q3	interim	report	–	28	October	2016.
•	 The	audited	results	for	the	financial	year	2016	–	28	Februar	2017.

Eesti Energia’s financial results and contacts for investor relations are available on the Group’s web page:  
www.energia.ee/en/investor 

The Group’s results concerning the financial year 2016 are released as follows. 



Eesti Energia AS
Lelle 22, 11318 Tallinn, Estonia
tel: +372 715 2222
info@energia.ee
www.energia.ee
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